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The challenges
we’re facing
New Zealand Post Group is a portfolio business,
facing a number of challenges on several fronts.
The fundamental structure of our traditional mail
business needs to change to address the impact of
technology and the continued and rapid evolution
in the way customers communicate, do business
and shop.
We must continue to develop products and services
to ensure that we are competitive in the digital
marketplace.
We must address the ongoing capital requirements
of Kiwibank and continued investment in Express
Couriers Ltd in a very competitive market.

Our strategy
is clear
Two years ago we highlighted four key areas we
would focus on to ensure we remained relevant
to the lives of New Zealanders. We have already
begun to implement these strategies, and
remain strongly focused on following this path.
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Strategies in focus

We’re building
a sustainable
physical network

We’re delivering a
superior customer
experience

Ensuring our customers can communicate,
shop, and do business using a “smart” network
providing postal, courier, and logistics services
across New Zealand, and to the world.

To enhance our customer experience, and meet changing
needs and preferences, we’re constantly reviewing our
service offering, finding new convenient ways for
customers to access our services and products.

Where can I find more information?
p. 08 Postal Services
p. 12 Courier Services
p. 15 Trialling an integrated
postal and courier network

Where can I find more information?
p. 21 Retail Transformation Project
p. 22 Our Store Network
p. 25 Digital services

Our Strategy
in action

We’re growing
Kiwibank

We’re going digital

Kiwibank celebrated its 10th year with total
deposits of $11.6 billion and more than
800,000 customers. We’re now ready to
grow Kiwibank to provide a wider range of
services, via an enhanced banking network.

Helping people to connect has always been a
priority for our business. To support what our
customers need, we’re creating a digital future
with an ever-expanding suite of customerfacing applications and services to bring postal
and financial services to their fingertips.

Where can I find more information?
p. 17 Kiwibank
p. 18 Kiwibank turns 10
p. 21 Store Network

Where can I find more information?
p. 25 Digital services
p. 26 RealMe
p. 27 YouPost
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Annual Report
This is the New Zealand Post Group’s Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2012.
The New Zealand Post Group comprises New Zealand Post Limited and its subsidiaries. The Group
reports annually and half yearly and its previous annual report, for the year ended 30 June 2011,
was tabled in the House of Representatives on 11 October 2011.
New Zealand Post Limited is incorporated under the Companies Act 1993 and has its headquarters
in Wellington, New Zealand. It is a state-owned enterprise, with 100 percent of its ordinary shares
owned by the Ministers of Finance and State-Owned Enterprises on behalf of the Crown.
It operates predominantly in New Zealand and Australia, and serves a range of government,
commercial and personal customers in the postal, banking, payments, courier, logistics and
customer communications management markets.
This report covers all of the New Zealand Post Group’s operations in both New Zealand
and Australia.
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Introduction

The shape of New Zealand Post Group
Financial Services

Postal

Digital

Includes: banking (personal and
business), insurance, KiwiSaver,
investments

Includes: postal, courier, logistics and
business support services

Includes: online services, directory
services

New Zealand Post has a number of
subsidiary brands providing services
such as the design and delivery of
direct mail, supply logistics , market
research and targeted media.

New Zealand Post offers a wide (and
growing) array of digital services –
including business support, cloud
storage and data integration.

Kiwibank is the largest New Zealand
owned bank, and the fifth largest
overall in the New Zealand market.

CourierPost is the Group’s best
known courier brand. It has
sister brands which focus on
urgent delivery, contract logistics
and freighting.

It also offers an array of
consumer-friendly apps and services.
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Board

New Zealand Post Group Board (as at 30 June 2012)

From left: Carol Anne Campbell, Alan Michael Dunn, William Temuera (Tem) Hall, Hon Sir Michael John Cullen, David Stephen Willis,
Jacqueline (Jackie) Marie Lloyd, Philippa (Pip) Jane Dunphy, Murray Ian David Gribben, Richard Ian Leggat.

Carol Anne Campbell

Alan Michael Dunn

William Temuera (Tem) Hall

BCom CA
Auckland
Appointed as director on 1/5/2012

Mapua
Appointed as director on 1/11/2010

BSS
Taupo
Appointed as director on 1/5/2009

Hon Sir Michael John Cullen

David Stephen Willis

Jacqueline (Jackie) Marie Lloyd

KNZM, MA, PhD
Chair
Ohope
Appointed as director on 1/5/2009
Appointed as Chair on 1/11/2010

BCA, CA, ICA (Australia)
Sydney
Appointed as director on 1/5/2010

BA, BCom
Wellington
Appointed as director on 1/11/2010

Philippa (Pip) Jane Dunphy

Murray Ian David Gribben

Richard Ian Leggat

BHortSci, CFA
Auckland
Appointed as director on 1/11/2007

BA (Hons), MBA
Deputy Chair
Wellington
Appointed as director on 1/11/2009
Appointed as Deputy Chair on 1/5/2012

BSc
Auckland
Appointed as director on 1/5/2012

Finance, Risk and Investment Committee:

Human Resources Committee:

Pip Dunphy (Chair)
Carol Campbell
Michael Cullen
Murray Gribben
David Willis

Jackie Lloyd (Chair)
Michael Cullen
Tem Hall
Alan Dunn
Richard Leggat
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Chairman's Letter

Foreword

The New Zealand Post Group is at a crossroads, facing necessary
changes to its postal business which will be the most significant
since its creation as a State Owned Enterprise 25 years ago.
The past year saw decisive steps taken towards making those
changes. It was also a year in which the Group made continued
progress in consolidating and expanding other business streams.
The Group net profit of $169.7 million
(compared to last year’s loss of $35.6
million) reflects widely divergent
performances across the Group.

Global
‘meGa trends’
•

ThE GrOwING ParcEl markET
wIll SOON bE bIGGEr1 ThaN
ThE dEclINING lETTEr maIl
markET by valuE. GlObally,
ThE TIPPING POINT IS fOrEcaST
TO bE arOuNd 2016/17.

•

PhySIcal maIl’S SharE Of
ThE cOmmuNIcaTIONS markET
drOPPEd frOm 13% IN 2000 TO
1% IN 2010.

•

frOm 1989 uNTIl 2002, maIl
vOlumES rOSE IN lINE wITh GdP.
hOwEvEr ThEy dE‑cOuPlEd
frOm 2000 aNd havE dIvErGEd
raPIdly EvEr SINcE.

(INTErNaTIONal POST
cOrPOraTION ‘fOcuS ON ThE
fuTurE’ rEPOrT, aPrIl 2012.)

While challenges for our traditional
letter mail business are clear as outlined
below, there were encouraging results
across other parts of the Group. Express
Couriers Limited (ECL) had a solid year
with revenue growth despite higher
variable fuel charges and ongoing
competitive pressure on margins.
The market for time critical document
and parcel delivery is a growth area, and
that was recognised in the decision to
purchase DHL’s shareholding, making
ECL100 percent New Zealand Post owned.
Kiwibank marked its 10th anniversary
with an excellent result, recovering after
a challenging few years following the
Global Financial Crisis and economic
impacts of the Canterbury earthquakes.
New Zealand Post’s commitment to
widening its financial services included the
acquisition of Gareth Morgan Investments,
bringing on board 57,000 clients and
managed funds of over $1.5 billion.
New Zealand Post also continued to
provide a broad range of business
services including data management and
administrative support, adding value to the
New Zealand economy as well as providing
a solid revenue stream for the Group.

Challenges
1

Tipping point calculated at point
where 70% market share of
enlarged business-to-consumer
courier, express and postal
market (CEP) +10% market share
in business-to-business CEP
market is larger than mail market.
Source: IPC, Boston Consulting
Group analysis.

However, with the continued and
irreversible decline of letter mail,
New Zealand Post has run out of short
term fixes in what has been a traditional
core component of its business for 170
years. Customers are changing the way
they send messages, do business and
shop. These changes are now part of our

daily lives – the only unknown is the rate
at which they will continue. In the past
year mail volumes have fallen at their
fastest rate ever in New Zealand. Within
five years, mail volumes on current trends
will be almost half what they were in 2002.
Since 1840, letter mail has been the
Group’s core service offering. In terms
of profit, it ceased to be that in 2008
when financial services overtook postal
services. New Zealand Post’s future
undeniably rests with financial services,
parcels and digital services. We believe
that there will always be a need for a
physical channel for letter mail. While this
is reflected in our planning, customers
are making it clear they see it as a
significantly smaller part of our business.
Global ‘mega trends’ provide solid
evidence for the need to act to arrest the
decline in profitability of postal services.
While postal organisations in much larger
markets than New Zealand’s are making
significant losses, New Zealand Post still
has the opportunity and time to make
changes that are focused on responding
to the customer’s needs and preferences,
rather than simply stripping out cost.
The challenge is to change the
fundamentals of our business.

Strategies
We have made further progress on
the strategies the Board committed
to two years ago – namely, to build a
sustainable physical network, to deliver
a superior customer experience, to
grow Kiwibank, and to create a digital
future. These strategies have gone from
concepts agreed to in the boardroom to
actions at the front line. These actions/
achievements have included:
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• The acquisition of DHL’s share of
ECL to give New Zealand Post Group
100 percent ownership of a wellperforming courier and logistics
business. Express delivery is a core
element of our current and future
strategy. Given the growth in the
parcel and courier segments, this
strategic purchase supports our
efforts to adapt the overall business to
meet our customers’ changing needs
and expectations.
• The testing of new banking and postal
services and technology, simplified
sending, postal products and store
design across a range of outlets in
Kapiti. Results of this testing are being
applied to the design of the next phase
of development of our retail network.
• Finalisation of the pilot of integrated
courier and postal services, being
rolled out first in Tauranga in 2012/13.
• The continued development of a
digital future with ‘YouPost’ being
readied for a market launch in the
coming year. YouPost is spearheading
New Zealand Post’s digital strategy
to provide a model covering all
businesses and households in
New Zealand.
• The testing of self-service postal
and bill payment kiosks in ten stores
around the country.
• The acquisition of Gareth Morgan
Investments, substantially boosting
the Group’s presence in the Kiwisaver
market, and its fund management
portfolio and expertise.
Kiwibank is a significant component of
both the Group earnings and the need
to modify our retail offering. Kiwibank’s
ongoing market success together with
changes in the regulatory environment for
banks, have given rise to issues relating to
the availability of capital within the Group.
New Zealand Post has begun discussions
with our shareholding Ministers on
identifying the quantum and source of
capital required.

Deed of Understanding
Crucial to maintaining the momentum of
change already underway is regulatory
certainty. The approach to the Universal
Service Obligation (USO) as outlined in
the 1998 Deed of Understanding with the
Crown is outdated and no longer reflects
customer preferences. New Zealand Post
commenced discussions with the
Government during the year to seek
amendments to the obligations under
the Deed – primarily relating to delivery

frequency and the shape of the postal
outlet network.
A failure to achieve the proposed changes
will curtail New Zealand Post’s strategic
plan and financial viability. Not to change
would run counter to dealing with the
globally accepted imperatives facing
postal organisations around the world.

People & Sustainability
Another important component in
achieving fundamental change
and being a successful business is
ensuring New Zealand Post people
have the appropriate skills and ability
to operate in an ever-changing world.
New Zealand Post is investing in a range
of development programmes aimed at
those currently in leadership positions and
potential leaders, together with capability
development across the wider workforce.
An important component of the Group’s
strategy to be ready for the future is
a continued commitment to being
environmentally sustainable. This is a
sound business approach, particularly
given the Group’s current heavy reliance
on physical infrastructure and carbon
fuels. The Group is extremely proud of
surpassing its target of reducing carbon
emissions by 12 percent by 2012. This goal
was established in 2007 and by 2012 a 16.1
percent reduction was achieved through a
sustained approach across the business
to energy reduction and fuel efficiency.
This achievement was recognised at the
2012 Energy Efficiency and Conservation
Authority (EECA) awards.

Financial Result

While the Group result is an
improvement, as noted previously
strategic and economic challenges
remain for the postal and banking
businesses. Postal revenues declined
by $41 million (5 percent) reflecting
ongoing declines in mail volumes
and reinforcing the necessity of
implementing fundamental change.
Kiwibank’s potential growth is dependent
on meeting capital requirements.

Dividend
Dividends declared for the year totalled
$5 million compared with $2.07 million in
2010/11.
The dividend accords with the Dividend
Policy set out in the Company’s Statement
of Corporate Intent. New Zealand Post
Group aims to distribute funds surplus
to its ongoing and forecast operating
and investment requirements, subject to
meeting the solvency requirements of the
Companies Act 1993. The actual level of
distribution is subject to annual review by
the Directors of New Zealand Post.
A minimum dividend return of $5 million
will be targeted each year. Additional
dividend payments may be made from
surplus funds at the end of each year
depending on the circumstances of the
business.

Changes to the Board
Justine Smyth departed after six years’
valuable service on the Board, including
serving as Deputy Chair since November
2010. We welcomed two new Board
members – Carol Campbell and Richard
Leggat who were both appointed in May.

The Group reported a net profit of $169.7
million compared to a loss last year of
$35.6 million. The significant difference is
due to the following:
• An improved operating result of $92.4
million (from 2011’s $41.7 million)
largely driven by an improved Kiwibank
result and continued cost savings
across the core postal business.
• While the 2011 result was affected
negatively by write downs, the 2012
result is boosted by a one-off non-cash
gain of $96.2 million resulting from the
repurchase of DHL’s shares in ECL and
Couriers Please Holding Pty Ltd.

hon Sir michael cullen
Chair – New Zealand Post Group

brian roche
Chief Executive Officer –
New Zealand Post Group
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Group Leadership team

Group Leadership Team (as at 30 June 2012)

From left: Malcolm Shaw, Paul Reid, Ashley Smout, Mark Yeoman, Brian Roche, Gary Woodham, Mark Gibson, Paul Brock, Jacqui Cleland.

Malcolm Shaw

Paul Reid

Ashley Smout

Group Manager – Assurance

Group General Manager
– Innovation & Strategy

Group General Manager – Operations

LLB (Hons)

Malcolm joined New Zealand Post
Group in 2000 and has an extensive
background in Legal Counsel roles
and as a lawyer for a number of firms
both in New Zealand and overseas.

BSc (Hons)

Paul took up the new role of Group
General Manager, Innovation &
Technology in March 2011. Before
joining New Zealand Post Group,
Paul was the Chief Executive Officer
at MetService Limited.

BBS, MBA

Ashley joined New Zealand Post Group
in February 2011 from Airways where
he was Chief Executive Officer. Ashley
has a strong leadership background in
New Zealand, Australia and Singapore.

Mark Yeoman

Brian Roche

Chief Financial Officer
– New Zealand Post Group

Chief Executive Officer
– New Zealand Post Group

Mark Yeoman joined New Zealand Post
Group in 2009. He was previously CFO
at Airways and before that CEO of
Samoa’s telecom and postal company
where he managed its transformation
from a government department to a
State-Owned Enterprise.

Before joining New Zealand Post
Group in 2010, Brian was a partner in
PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Mark Gibson

Paul Brock

Jacqui Cleland

Chief Executive Officer
– Kiwibank Limited

Group Manager – Human Resources

BCA, CA

Chief Executive Officer
– Express Couriers Limited (ECL)
Mark joined New Zealand Post Group
in 2005 as General Manager of ECL’s
CourierPost division, and has been
CEO of ECL since 2009.

BCA, FCA

BBS

Paul has an extensive background in
New Zealand’s banking industry and
joined Kiwibank in 2000 as part of the
team that created the bank.

Gary Woodham
Group General Manager
– Customer Solutions & Services
Gary took up his role in 2010, having
joined New Zealand Post Group
in 2004 as CEO of Datam. He is a
customer champion whose career has
been focused on delivering solutions
to help customers succeed.

M Phil (Psychology), BBS

Jacqui has been with the
New Zealand Post Group since 2007.
She has enjoyed a varied career in
HR management roles, lecturing at
Massey University and consulting both
here and overseas.
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Postal Services
Rapid advances in communications
technology have created a decline in mail
volumes worldwide over recent years –
and that rate of decline is accelerating.
In the past decade New Zealand Post’s
total mail volumes have fallen from 1.1
billion items in 2002, to 834 million items
in the 2012 financial year. In the past year
alone domestic mail volumes – the number
of items being sent from one New Zealand
address to another – have fallen by 6.7
percent. That fall – the highest percentage
decline ever – equates to 53.8 million fewer
items being mailed this year than last.
As the Ministry of Economic Development
noted in its 2010 Review of Postal
Regulation; “Businesses are increasingly
offering online statement and payment
options. Social mail is today predominately
sent via new media technologies such
as email, text messaging and social
networking websites”.
There is no turning back from this decline.
As access to digital communications
increases, including through Government

projects such as the Ultra-Fast Broadband
and Rural Broadband Initiatives, it is
expected that letter volumes will continue
to fall. Government policies such as
the Better Public Services programme
– which encourages government
departments (traditionally very large users
of postal services) to increase their use
of digital channels to provide government
services – are likely to contribute to
further declines in letter volumes.
New Zealand Post’s current forecasts
indicate that annual mail volumes will fall
to 624 million items by 2016/17 – which
would represent a 43 percent drop from
2002 volumes – equating to 470 million
fewer mail items in 2017 than in 2002.
At the same time, the number of delivery
points in New Zealand Post’s postal
network is increasing, from 1.58 million
in 1999 to 1.91 million in 2012.
When you combine the effects of decreasing
letter volumes and increasing delivery
points, the result is a network with higher
operational costs but decreasing revenue.

domestic mail volumes vs delivery points 1999-2012:
Mail volumes (millions)

Delivery Points (millions)
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Getting the job done
New Zealand Post is working to ensure
the sustainability of its postal network.
However while those plans are worked
on, the mail must go through – and
New Zealand Post’s postal teams work
tirelessly to achieve this.
Nationwide we delivered 93.9% of mail
within our service standards of two to
three days and overnight across major
towns and cities.
This fell short of our target (96.5%) and
is also down from our 2011 performance
(95.5%).

Access to the postal network
New Zealand Post provides competing
postal operators with access to our postal
network for the delivery of letters.
In November 2010 New Zealand Post
was involved with the postal industry in
establishing a committee – the Postal
Network Access Committee (PNAC) – to
oversee access to its nationwide mail
network by other postal operators.
PNAC’s main purpose is to determine the
terms and conditions for postal operators
to access New Zealand Post’s postal
network services, as well as considering
and resolving any disputes between
New Zealand Post and its access operators.
It was formed in response to requests for
greater independence and transparency
in the decision-making process around
network access.
The committee has a majority of
independent members, who bring a blend
of commercial, economic, regulatory and
network skills.

Its chair Dr Arthur Grimes is best known
in his role as the chair of the Reserve
Bank. The other three independent
members are Trevor Janes (professional
Director), consultant David Hunt (former
Contact Energy chief executive), and
former High Court Judge Hon Barry
Paterson, who also chairs organisations
such as the New Zealand Press Council
and the Sports Tribunal of New Zealand.
The New Zealand Post representative
on the committee is Mark Yeoman, Chief
Financial Officer.
The first order of business for the
committee was revisiting the framework
around pricing for access. Work has
progressed steadily, with PNAC issuing its
first pricing determination in May 2012.

834
million

PIEcES Of maIl haNdlEd by
NEw ZEalaNd POST IN 2010/11,
dOwN frOm 1.1 bIllION IN 2001/02
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INTErNaTIONal maIl cENTrE
New Zealand Post’s International Mail Centre
worked closely alongside MAF and Customs
in the past year to improve international mail
processing systems.
This collaboration saw the introduction of a
new process to screen bulk mail and inject
it more quickly into the network without
compromising border security. It also resulted
in more effective processing of international
mail destined for New Zealand addresses.
Detector dogs also began screening letter
mail – which had previously been screened by
x-ray only.

%
6.7
dOmESTIc maIl vOlumES dOwN
frOm ThE PrEvIOuS yEar

Domestic mail volumes 2011/12
(all volume figures are millions)

Letters
Packets & Parcels
TOTAL

2011/12
Actual

2010/11
actual

Variance

Year-on-year
variance
%

740.893

795.403

-54.510

-6.9%

10.647

9.936

0.711

7.2%

751.540

805.338

-53.799

-6.7%

18.9mil
64.1mil

ITEmS Of
INTErNaTIONal
(OuTbOuNd) maIl

ITEmS Of
INTErNaTIONal
(INbOuNd) maIl
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Letter from “Research International”

Level 3
435 Khyber Pass Road
Newmarket
PO Box 6621
Wellesley Street, Auckland
New Zealand
T
F

+64 9 524 3999
+64 9 524 3980

To The Directors; New Zealand Post Limited
TNS New Zealand Ltd. conducted a measure of New Zealand Post’s letter delivery
performance measuring performance against the following criteria:
For FastPost:
For Standard Post:

delivery the next working day between major
towns and cities across New Zealand
delivery the next working day for letters whose
destination is within the same urban centre
delivery within three working days for letters to
other destinations within New Zealand

To measure the extent to which New Zealand Post is meeting these publicly stated objectives,
we prepared for posting Standard Post and FastPost letters, which were sent to a
representative sample of New Zealand Post’s total customer base. Based on information
supplied by New Zealand Post, we assess our sample to be representative of over 80% of all
letter traffic within New Zealand.
We measured transit time by counting the number of business days from the day of posting of
the letter to the day the letter was received by the addressee (Sundays and public holidays
were not counted because mail is not delivered on these days).
From October 2009 continuous measurement has been conducted and reported on a monthly
basis. The annual result was calculated using the data collected continuously from July 2011
to June 2012. In our opinion this report fairly represents the service performance achieved by
New Zealand Post Limited during the time of measurement.
The results of this test are summarised in the table below.
Weighted Results*
Total within specification
Total within three days of specification
More than three days later than specified

93.9%
99.9%
0.1%

*Weighted to replicate the proportion of FastPost and Standard Post mail flows in New Zealand
based on unaudited ratios supplied by New Zealand Post

Yours sincerely
TNS New Zealand Ltd

Bindi Norwell
Director

TNS New Zealand Ltd
TNS is a trade mark of Taylor Nelson Sofres plc.
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Courier Services
The 2011/12 year served as the closing chapter in a successful joint
venture between New Zealand Post and dhl – who shared ownership
of Express couriers limited (Ecl) in New Zealand for eight years,
and of couriers Please holdings Pty ltd1 in australia for four years.

%
50
SharES hEld by dhl wErE aGrEEd
TO bE SOld TO NEw ZEalaNd POST.

The year ended with New Zealand Post
buying DHL’s 50 percent share in those two
courier businesses.
The acquisition of ECL was a key step for
New Zealand Post as part of its long-term
strategy to expand in the growing parcel/
express delivery sector and to be
New Zealand’s physical network provider
of choice.
The deal saw ECL – which operates the
market leading CourierPost, Pace, Contract
Logistics and Roadstar brands – and
Couriers Please which operates in Australia
become wholly owned subsidiaries of
New Zealand Post.
As part of the sale process New Zealand Post
and DHL Express put in place strategic
commercial agreements which will see the
two companies support each other’s express
delivery operations at a global level.
New Zealand Post and DHL have both
benefited from the successful joint ventures,
and that relationship will remain strong,
changing from a model based on ownership
to one based on contract.

One key area of focus was Safety and
Wellbeing. Businesses which ensure a
safe working environment have lower staff
turnover, less lost time from injuries, and
more positive working environments.
Each of the businesses within ECL had its
own highlights during the past year.
CourierPost secured and retained some
significant business in the midst of very
strong competition. It also sought to
create further efficiency for its residential
customers and engaged in several trials with
New Zealand Post to determine where a more
effective use of networks could be employed.
Roadstar introduced new scanning and
proof-of-delivery technology. Roadstar’s
focus on improving customer experiences
continues to create some of ECL’s most
loyal customers.
Pace again won ‘Best Call Centre’ in the
courier services category at the CRM
Contact Centre Awards and continued
to play a key role in getting supplies and
equipment to Christchurch to assist in that
city’s recovery.

ECL operating performance
during 2011/12
During its final year as a joint venture
Express Couriers Limited (ECL) continued
to perform well – despite an economy
characterised by lower growth and greater
price sensitivity.
ECL’s solid performance was achieved
through a continual focus on operating costs,
business efficiency and innovation. A ‘backto-basics’ approach ensured ECL stayed
firmly focused on areas that truly add value
for both the customer and the business.

1

Formerly Parcel Direct Group Pty Ltd.

CourierPost secured and
retained some significant
business in the midst of
very strong competition.

ECL’s Transport division was heavily
involved in the Rugby World Cup, shifting
gear for all teams and positioning it for
each match that was played. This was an
incredibly complex and sensitive logistical
exercise which highlighted the expertise
of the Transport team. Transport was also
recognised as part of the wider group in
coming second (to Air New Zealand) in
the Energy Efficiency and Conservation
Authority Awards.
Contract Logistics has continued
to perform well and rationalised its
operation to two key sites, in Auckland
and Christchurch, over the year.

Jerry Hsu (Chief Executive Officer, DHL Express Asia Pacific) and
Sir Michael Cullen (Chairman, New Zealand Post Group) put their
signatures to the ECL deal.

Ensuring our customers can
communicate, shop and do business
using a “smart” network providing
postal, courier and logistics services
across New Zealand, and to the world.
Where can I find more information?
p. 15 Trialling an integrated
postal and courier network
p. 08 Postal Services
p. 12 Courier Services

To build a
sustainable
physical
network
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Trialling an integrated postal and courier network

Trialling an integrated
postal and courier
network
At the end of the 2011/12 financial year
New Zealand Post owned and operated
not only a nationwide postal network, but
also a nationwide courier network.
While letter volumes are declining,
there is solid growth in the time
critical document and parcel business.
Therefore, it makes business sense for
New Zealand Post to investigate how its
postal and courier services can work
effectively and efficiently together.
Over the past two years New Zealand Post
and ECL have been examining efficiencies
in their networks and how to provide
a better and more sustainable
service to customers. That process
identified significant potential to
create greater customer value and
offerings through alignment of the
postal and courier networks.
The combined resources of our postal
and ECL networks give New Zealand Post
unmatched national reach and service
delivery capacity. This clearly presents
significant opportunities to improve the
efficiency of services, while expanding the
choices available to customers.

Extensive testing
has shown the postal
network can meet
the high standards
required for overnight
courier delivery.

TESTING IN TauraNGa
In the latter half of 2012 New Zealand Post is piloting a new
approach to standard and courier delivery in suburban Tauranga.
Posties will be delivering overnight courier items to suburban
areas, while ECL couriers will continue to provide overnight and
same day services to business and high density areas.
The postal network already services all residential addresses so
it makes sense for it to handle these deliveries, while couriers
will focus on high demand areas where they may need to visit the
same area two or three times a day.
Extensive testing has shown the postal network can meet the
high standards required for overnight courier delivery while
enabling ECL to develop its business/same day services.
Previous testing also strongly supports removing duplication
of services in low-density suburban runs without any adverse
impact on service levels.
These changes in Tauranga are aligned with New Zealand Post’s
strategy for a sustainable physical network of the future.

To grow
Kiwibank

Kiwibank celebrated its 10th year
with total deposits of $11.6 billion
and more than 800,000 customers.
We’re now ready to grow Kiwibank
to provide a wider range of services,
via an enhanced banking network.
Where can I find more information?
p. 17 Kiwibank
p. 18 Kiwibank turns 10
p. 21 Store Network
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Kiwibank

Kiwibank
during 2011/12 kiwibank solidified its reputation as a significant
and influential presence on the New Zealand banking scene.
The bank recorded an after-tax profit of
$79.1 million for the year ended 30 June
2012, 276 percent up on the previous
year’s $21.2 million profit. That improved
financial result is a welcome sign given
the financial stresses which have affected
the economy over recent years.
Kiwibank now has more than 800,000
customers, with total deposits of
$11.6 billion – 9% higher than in the
previous financial year. Loans and
advances have also grown – reaching
12.4 billion in 2011/12, which is an
8% increase year-on-year.

Domestic deposits accounted
for 83% of all bank funding.

A growing number of customers have
switched from fixed to floating mortgages
– which increased Kiwibank’s ‘Net Interest
Income’ (NII) for the year. In addition, an
increased focus on cost reduction has led
to an improvement in the cost to income
ratio which, year on year, has improved
from 68.5% to 65.1%. Domestic deposits
accounted for 83% of all bank funding.
In early 2012 Kiwibank’s credit rating
was confirmed at AA– by international
credit rating agency Standard & Poor’s.
This is the same rating as the Australianowned banks operating in New Zealand.
However, the outlook for the rating has
been amended from stable to negative.

kIwIbaNk NOw haS mOrE ThaN

800,000+
cuSTOmErS.
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Kiwibank

Gareth Morgan Investments
In March 2012 the Group purchased
Gareth Morgan Investments (GMI).
GMI manages over $1.5 billion of funds
($650 million of which is KiwiSaver
related) on behalf of more than 57,000
clients. It continues to operate as a standalone entity, while its founder – Gareth
Morgan – remains a major client of the
business and a member of the investment
strategy team.

$1.5billion
Of kIwISavEr fuNdS arE maNaGEd by GmI
ON bEhalf Of mOrE ThaN 57,000 clIENTS.

interact with customers. Details of these
changes are discussed in the Store
Network section of this Annual Report.

Improving our stores
On the retail front, Kiwibank and
New Zealand Post have piloted a new
shop layout in the Kapiti Coast area.
This is part of a phased programme to
transform the Store Network and change
how New Zealand Post and Kiwibank

kIwIbaNk TurNS 10
Kiwibank celebrated a major milestone
in March 2012, turning 10 years old.
The first official Kiwibank branch
opened for business in Albany, on
Auckland’s North Shore, on March 23,
2002. Kiwibank services had been
trialled the month before in selected
Hawkes Bay and Manawatu PostShops
– but the opening of the Albany branch
marked the beginning of the official
rollout of a Kiwibank network across
New Zealand.
In true Kiwibank style the 10th birthday
celebrations focused on giving back to
the people who matter most – Kiwis.
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Kiwibank

Kiwibank Board of Directors (as at 30 June 2012)

From left: Murray Ian David Gribben, Brian Joseph Roche, Grant Andrew Paterson, Robert William Bentley Morrison, David Stephen Willis,
Hon Sir Michael John Cullen, Alison Rosemary Gerry, Catherine Maria Savage.

Murray Ian David Gribben

Brian Joseph Roche

Grant Andrew Paterson

Appointed as director on 21/6/2010

Appointed as director on 3/2/2010

Independent Director

BA (Hons), MBA

BCA, FCA

BMS, CA

Appointed as director on 23/3/2012

Robert William Bentley
Morrison

David Stephen Willis

Chairman
Independent Director

Appointed as director on 21/7/2010

BCom

BCA (Victoria, ACA (NZ, ICA
(Australia)

Appointed to board on 25/2/2011
Appointed as Chairman from 1/7/2011

Alison Rosemary Gerry

Catherine Maria Savage

Deputy Chair
Independent Director

Independent Director

MApp. Fin, BMS (Hons)

Appointed as director on 28/3/2007
and as Deputy Chair from 1/12/2011

BCA CA

Appointed as director on 20/12/2011

Hon Sir Michael John Cullen
KNZM, MA, PhD

Appointed as director on 13/7/2009

To enhance our customer experience,
and meet their changing needs
and preferences, we’re constantly
reviewing our service offering, finding
new convenient ways for them to
access our services and products.
Where can I find more information?
p. 21 Retail Transformation Project
p. 22 Our Store Network
p. 25 Digital services

To deliver
a superior
customer
experience
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Our store network

Store Network
In the past year customers made more than 40.83 million visits
to our Store Network, amongst them completing more than
58.9 million transactions.
This included buying 16 million stamp
products, 8 million purchases of sending
products and 10 million transactions
sending parcels. Our customers have
carried out 25.7 million banking or
payment transactions, and 2.6 million
vehicle licensing transactions
this year.
The costs of providing and maintaining
a large store network are considerable.
Our challenge is to ensure that
New Zealand Post’s services and products
remain accessible across a broad range
of convenient locations, and achieving
this in a financially sustainable manner.
Additionally, there are significant
opportunities to grow Kiwibank via the
Store Network. Customer preferences are
changing and we need to reflect that.

25.7 million
baNkING Or PaymENT TraNSacTIONS
wErE carrIEd OuT ThIS yEar

Retail Transformation Project
During 2011/12 New Zealand Post Group
conducted a pilot programme across
a number of stores on the Kapiti Coast
which included new approaches to store
design, technology (such as self-service
kiosks), staff roles and in-store options for
sending packages.

Important considerations during the pilot
included:
• Improving the customer experience
• Creating convenient new ways for the
public to access New Zealand Post’s
products and services, and
• Growing Kiwibank.
In order to test whether the new
approaches would work in different
environments, the pilot included five
stores: one corporate PostShop, two
franchise PostShops, and two PostCentres.
Feedback from customers and staff
has been sought throughout, and is an
important factor in deciding the viability
of new approaches, and adjusting them to
more fully meet the needs of customers.
During the project customers were
surveyed in-store and also invited to
provide feedback via written comments
and on a dedicated Facebook page.
A comprehensive series of focus groups
were also held.
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PostShops in Kapiti were re-designed to
clearly differentiate dedicated Postal and
banking areas.
In a typical PostShop these areas are
mixed, with customers joining the
same queue and being served at the
same counter.
Through the introduction of technology
(discussed below) we were able to
open up the environment allowing our
staff to spend more time on the ‘shop
floor’ and less time behind the counter.
Dedicated Kiwibank transaction counters
help strengthen the focus of these
branches around banking services for
our customers.
Technology is another area of activity
with considerable potential to improve
the customer experience. We are trialling
self-service kiosks on the Kapiti Coast
and in other selected locations as a way of

providing quick and convenient service to
customers.
Kiosks create additional points of service
within branches so that a customer who
simply wishes, for example, to pay a bill
or buy stamps can do this very quickly
without needing staff assistance. In turn,
this reduces demand for counter services
enabling our staff to provide more indepth assistance for customers with more
complex transactions.
Another approach being trialled in Kapiti
is a simplification of the range of parcel
sending products (the boxes and bags for
sending available in-store).
Our customers have told us the traditional
range of in-store sending solutions, with
up to 120 product options, is confusing.
In Kapiti we tested a range with just
seven options (four bags and three boxes)
each with a set price for sending within

Our STOrE NETwOrk
A key focus for New Zealand Post Group is ensuring that postal, payment and banking services are
accessible in a convenient array of locations across New Zealand. To achieve this we co-ordinate a network
of nearly 900 stores which prominently feature the Group’s products and services in addition to the
hundreds of other retailers including dairies, stationers, supermarkets, and petrol stations which stock
core products such as New Zealand Post packaging and stamps.
As of 30 June 2012 there were 894 locations prominently featuring the Group’s products and services – a
network of locations we collectively refer to as the ‘Store Network’.
Store Type

Number*

PostShop

280

Services and Service Model
Wide range of postal, payment, banking and agency services.
142 operate on a franchise basis – with the franchise partner
housing a dedicated postal and banking area as a sub-set of their
wider retail business.
138 are ‘corporate stores’ which are operated by
New Zealand Post.

PostCentre

614

Range of postal products and services. Most (496, as at 30 June
2012) include mail delivery services, such as a dedicated PO Box
area.
All are independent businesses (such as bookshops, dairies or
petrol stations).

TOTAL:

894
* As at 30 June 2012
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self-service
kIOSkS arE bEING TrIallEd
ON ThE kaPITI cOaST aNd IN
OThEr SElEcTEd lOcaTIONS.

New Zealand. Many customers told us
they like this approach, which lets them
know the total cost of postage plus
packaging from the moment they select
their box or bag.
Approaches such as those tested in
Kapiti support customer satisfaction.
The goal is to create branches in which
it’s clear where you need to go, where
staff can offer more in-depth assistance,
and where you can complete simple
transactions quickly without the need to
wait for counter service.

Store Network developments in
2011/12
Some of the successful approaches we
trialled in Kapiti have already been rolled
out across our wider Store Network.
The removal of non-core merchandise
items from our corporate PostShops
makes it easier for customers to access
the products and services they visit our
stores for. Removing merchandise has
also created more space which allows
queue streaming – this means there are
now dedicated Kiwibank and Post queues
in most of our corporate stores.
Most PostShops now also have drop boxes
for pre-paid packages, which are quick
and convenient to use.
We’ve also added a passport photo
service in 149 locations, supported by
state-of-the-art software which ensures

that photos cannot be taken until a
number of criteria are met – including
having your eyes open – which means
our customers have significantly less
chance of their photo being rejected by
the relevant passport authority. The units
are currently configured to meet the
specific requirements of New Zealand
and UK passports – with plans to expand
this to incorporate other nations’ passport
requirements.
Research indicates that our in-store
experience is already good for most
customers with an overall customer
satisfaction score of 83 across our store
network during 2011/12. The challenge
ahead is to enhance this customer
experience while creating a sustainable
Store Network aligned with the changing
needs and preferences of our customers.

The traditional range of in-store
sending solutions, with up to 120
product options, is confusing.

To create a
digital future

Helping people to connect has always
been a priority for our business.
To support what our customers need
we’re creating a digital future with an
ever-expanding suite of customer-facing
applications and services to bring postal
and financial services to their fingertips.
Where can I find more information?
p. 25 Digital services
p. 26 RealMe
p. 27 YouPost
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Digital services
New Zealand Post may be best known for its physical network
of postal services, but it’s now also creating digital services to
better meet the needs of businesses and householders.
We provide an ever-expanding suite
of customer-facing applications and
activities which complement and build on
our traditional strengths in helping people
to connect.

nzpost.co.nz

1.5

million
Each mONTh ThE addrESS aNd
POSTcOdE fINdEr SErvIcES
bETwEEN 1.5 mIllION aNd
2 mIllION uNIquE SEarchES.

Many of these digital services are
available from our website – nzpost.co.nz
– which receives up to 850,000 unique
visitors each month.
The most heavily-used of these is the
address and Postcode finder – which (as
its name implies) allows people to check
addresses and postcodes. Each month
this web-based service handles between
1.5 million and 2 million unique searches.
The Address and Postcode Finder is
used by both consumers and businesses
– and is designed in such a way that
information can be directly ported into
the data entry and contact centre systems
of businesses – making it a valuable tool
for commercial users.

Each month around 300,000 people use
this site to track packages, so they can
see their progress towards delivery.
Our website also serves as the home base
for our tracking services for domestic and
international parcels. Each month around
300,000 people use this site to track
packages, so they can see their progress
towards delivery.
The tracking service is fully-integrated
with our Pay to Post service – also
available from our website – which
enables individuals or businesses to
input the details of a parcel they are

sending, then pay the appropriate postage
and print out a label to get it to their
destination. This new service, launched in
November 2011, has received extremely
positive feedback from its growing base of
users. It serves as part of an ongoing self–
service strategy – supported by parcel
“drop-boxes” in stores.
The website also hosts a Send-a-card
service, where users can create greetings
cards or postcards online – which are then
printed and delivered by New Zealand Post
to their intended recipient.

Focus on consumers
The launch of Localist (localist.co.nz) in
2010 saw New Zealand Post spearheading
a new approach to directory services –
with a focus on the businesses, services
and events available to people in the
suburbs and neighbourhoods nearest to
where they live.
Localist has its own website and mobile
application – highlighting local news,
events and businesses. This gives people
a way to find out what’s good in their
local area, and a chance to champion
their community by supporting local
businesses and organisations.
Another digital service offered by
New Zealand Post – called iTry (itry.co.nz)
– is available to consumers throughout
New Zealand who like to “try before they
buy”. It’s an on-line sampling application –
hosted and managed by New Zealand Post
– where people apply on-line or text
in to obtain samples of products.
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Work is underway on additional services
which will benefit consumers – with
announcements expected in the coming
year on a sophisticated type of ‘digital
mailbox’ for New Zealanders (see the
YouPost information on the following
page), and on services which will make it
easier to order products from overseas
companies or websites which do not
routinely ship to New Zealand.

We are also assisting businesses to
access the Chinese market, which has
huge potential for New Zealand exporters.
In 2012 New Zealand Post partnered
with China Post to create a New Zealand
themed ‘mall’ on the China Post e-Tail site
Ulé. This allows New Zealand exporters
to market products quickly and effectively
to the site’s 670,000 Chinese-domiciled
users – with New Zealand Post assisting
with delivery and payment services.

Focus on business
We offer a range of data management
and administrative support services for
businesses – including cloud-based
document storage and retrieval, analytical
tools and forms management systems.

RealMe
New Zealand Post and the Department of Internal Affairs are working together on a
new online access and assurance service which will let people more easily interact
with public and private sector organisations online.
When the service – named RealMe – debuts next year it will enable members of
the public to access many services with a single logon. More importantly, it lets
people prove who they are when dealing with participating organisations online –
giving them control over their identity and other important information.
To be able to prove their identity, people will first need to have it verified by
DIA. This will require an online application as well as a visit to a PostShop to
have their photo taken. New Zealand Post won’t hold the photo or any other ID
information, but will pass it on to the Department of Internal Affairs which handles
the verification process.
Once a consumer has a verified RealMe account they can then prove who they are
online for organisations offering services. Possible examples include; the census,
bank accounts, government benefits, passports,
enrolling to vote and obtaining and renewing licences.
The ability to securely verify each user’s identity and
other information, such as their address, opens a
world of possibilities for more services to be provided
online. Participating organisations will be able to
offer more online services using RealMe, safe in the
knowledge that RealMe verified users are who they
say they are.
Protecting people’s confidentiality and privacy is
the top priority, and the Department of Internal
Affairs is working with the Office of the Privacy
Commissioner to ensure appropriate safeguards
will be in place.
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2012/13

wheN the New diGital
seRvice YoUPost will be
laUNched to the MaRket.

YouPost
Significant progress was made in
developing the new digital service YouPost
which will be launched to the market in 2012/13.
In development for the previous twelve months, YouPost will
be an online offering aimed at businesses and consumers.
YouPost is being developed to provide consumers with the
ability to sort, organise and pay bills in a single, secure online
environment. The platform will provide significant functionality
including digital storage and scheduling. Specific functionality
designed for commercial senders from large corporates and
Government organisations through to small and medium
enterprises will also be provided.
YouPost is part of New Zealand Post’s digital strategy to provide
a business model covering all businesses and households in
New Zealand. This approach recognises the expanding digital
sector of the market, which in part is contributing to the decline
in New Zealand Post’s traditional physical business. Strategically
it is important New Zealand Post makes a significant
commitment in terms of scale and utility to take advantage of
the expanding digital market. The past twelve months have seen
good progress towards this goal.
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Stamps and coins

New Zealand Post has
been producing stamps
for 157 years, but is still
finding ways to break new
ground and demonstrate
the relevance of stamps
in the modern world.
That was certainly true in
the 2011/12 year – when
we created New Zealand’s
first ever 3D stamp, and
released a collectable
stamp set celebrating
victory in Rugby World
Cup 2011 which hit
shelves within hours
of the final whistle.

Stamps
Coins
New Zealand’s first 3D stamp celebrated
our country’s historic role in hosting
Rugby World Cup 2011 – an event
which culminated in victory for the
All Blacks. In the hours following the final,
New Zealand Post produced a Rugby
World Cup winners’ sheet prominently
featuring a photo of New Zealand’s team
celebrating their victory – which was
available for sale in most PostShops the
following business day.
These products were highly sought after
by All Blacks supporters and rugby
tourists, and sold strongly among people
who don’t usually collect stamps.
New Zealand Post’s close association
with the All Blacks also saw the
release of a commemorative silver coin
celebrating Te Rauparaha’s world famous
‘Ka Mate’ haka.
2012 is the Queen’s Diamond Jubilee –
a worldwide celebration of Her Majesty’s
60th year as monarch. New Zealand Post
marked this with a set of stamps featuring
official portraits of the Queen and
photos from some of her official visits to
New Zealand.

A pure silver coin was also issued for the
occasion – depicting the young Queen
delivering her 1953 Christmas message
from New Zealand.
The annual Matariki (Maori New Year)
celebrations for 2012 featured a very
special set of stamps designed in close
collaboration with the Ngai Tahu Maori
Rock Art Trust. The stamps pay tribute
to this unique art form, which gives
fascinating insights into the earliest
people of Aotearoa. Maori rock art is
visible throughout the country and the
stamps in this issue depict examples
documented in Te Waipounamu (the
South Island) where more than 500 sites
have been recorded to date.
2012 was a landmark year for the
Royal New Zealand Air Force (RNZAF)
– which celebrated its 75th year.
New Zealand Post played an important
role in marking this milestone – issuing
a 75 Years of the RNZAF stamp set and
solid silver collectors’ coin. Following their
launch at Parliament, these collectables
were featured at the National Airshow,
and proved popular with collectors and
the general public alike.
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NEW ZEALAND’S FIRST

3D STAMP

New Zealand Post set a number of
records with its 2012 Maori Art Coin –
which was the world’s first pure gold
coin to have pounamu (greenstone)
set into its design. With only 250 coins
produced, it also set a record as the most
valuable coin ever issued in New Zealand
– retailing for just shy of $3,500 per
coin. Each gold coin was housed in a
waka huia [an ornamental carved vessel
for treasured objects] (below, right) which
the Mint Directors Conference – a group
representing mints from more than
40 countries – recognised with an award
as one of the most creative, innovative
and unique pieces of packaging for the
year. The gold coin sold out within two
weeks, but a silver version was also
issued (minus the packaging) for budgetconscious collectors.

NEW ZEALAND POST
PRODUCED MANY
OTHER SUCCESSFUL
STAMPS AND COINS IN
2011/12, INCLUDING:
• Year of the Dragon stamps– the
most popular Chinese New Year
stamp issue New Zealand Post has
ever produced, with presentation
packs selling out within months.
• The first in a new set of Kiwi
Treasures coins featured the
Kowhai Flower. This proved popular
both locally and internationally,
with the top coin in the line
selling out within a month.
• Under a newly signed contract,
New Zealand Post began producing
stamps for Tokelau – beginning
with a Christmas stamp issue in
November 2011. Since then we
have issued Definitive stamps
and Diamond Jubilee stamps.
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Community
Involvement
In 2010 New Zealand Post began realigning its community
support portfolio in a bid to better engage with communities,
have a greater impact and make our brand more relevant
to everyday New Zealanders. Our refreshed approach to
sponsorship has already started delivering more across our key
areas of sponsorship – while improving our ability to measure
the results of our investment.
Literacy and education

10,000
PEOPlE wErE drawN TO
ThE NaTIONal waka ama
chamPIONShIPS IN jaNuary 2011

Our continued investment in the
New Zealand Post Book Awards and
the New Zealand Post Children’s Book
Awards positions us as a key supporter
of literary excellence.
In 2011 we published a second book of
stories written by Kiwi school children,
which drew recognition for young writers
from newspapers throughout the country.
And we teamed with Literacy Aotearoa in a
campaign where thousands of books were
freely distributed to 50 communities around
New Zealand – each with a sticker inviting
people to read the book then pass it on.

New Zealand Post is also the principal
sponsor of Waka Ama (outrigger canoe
racing) – which drew 10,000 people to its
national championships in January 2012.
The secondary school champs in March
drew 1,500 students from 83 schools.
Our “Get Set Go” programme, which aims
to teach fundamental movement skills
to school children, has been delivered by
Athletics NZ to more than 150 primary
schools across nine regions, and is on
target to reach 825 schools in two years.
Olympian Valerie Adams is an official
ambassador for this programme.

Health and wellness

ActivePost recently became the
first principal sponsor of Hockey
New Zealand’s national junior programme
for children aged between 4 and 13 years
– Small Sticks Hockey – which aims to
expose 20,000 school children to the sport
by June 2013, growing to a total of 100,000
over the next five years.

New Zealand Post’s ‘ActivePost’
programme aims to reach everyday
New Zealanders in ways which benefit
society and encourage physical activity.

Community &
non-profit

Our Books in Homes programme
continues with a theatre troupe touring the
country during school terms presenting
awards for diligent young readers.

ActivePost launched in July 2011 with
the announcement of a major awareness
campaign on water safety – with
thousands of water-related giveaways to
school children, TV ads provided by TVNZ,
and nearly 50 ‘Water Safety/Have a Go
days’ on beaches and in pools around the
country – many with a special focus on
water safety for Maori.

For 15 years Community Post has provided
postage-included envelopes to thousands
of small groups nationwide. During 2011/12
changes were announced which will also
make packages of data services (in areas
such as strategy, lists, data analytics, etc)
and unaddressed mail available.

Get set Go
aImS TO TEach fuNdamENTal
mOvEmENT SkIllS TO
SchOOl chIldrEN

Alongside our support for the International
(Wellington) Arts Festival we held a
very successful online art competition
for secondary students – with selected
works touring prominent public venues
in Wellington, and we bussed hundreds
of children from low decile schools to
an event at the festival featuring the
New Zealand Symphony Orchestra.

Olympian Valerie Adams (in blue) encouraged school kids to get active at the
launch of Get Set Go.

We launched a partnership with the Heart
Foundation in July 2011 which has so
far included special Christmas cards,
fundraising on-line and in our stores, and
the first ever Heart Foundation stamps.
We again supported Matariki Festivals in
Auckland and Wellington in June 2012.
Our activities in Auckland centred around
the growing Manu Aute Kite Day. In
Wellington, activities centred around the
Kaumatua Kapa Haka weekend at Te Papa.

Our continued investment
in the New Zealand Post
Book Awards and the
New Zealand Post Children’s
Book Awards positions
us as a key supporter of
literacy excellence.

Olympic women’s hockey defender Lucy Talbot joined an enthusiastic
group of young players for the launch of ActivePost Small Sticks Hockey
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Scorecard
Targets
NZ Post Group
2011
Actual

2012
Plan

2012
Actual

$M

[150.5]

5.0

[48.2]

(b) Dividend yield (excl Kiwibank)

%

0.4%

0.7%

0.3%

(c) Return on equity

%

[5.3%]

4.1%

23.2%

(d) Return on equity adjusted

%

[7.8%]

6.0%

23.1%

(e) Return on capital employed

%

[2.6%]

5.2%

16.3%

(f) Operating margin

%

2.4%

10.2%

21.4%

%

89.4%

89.6%

88.3%

times

3.2

9.6

19.4

%

104.3%

104.8%

103.6%

%

73.0%

73.0%

72.9%

per M

6.3

5.8

5.6

%

95.5%

96.5%

93.9%

%

45.0%

56.0%

47.0%

%

10.1%

12.0%

16.1%

Shareholder Returns
(a) Total Shareholder Return

Profitability / Efficiency

Leverage and Solvency
(g) Gearing ratio (net)
(h) Interest cover
(i)

Solvency (current ratio)

Good Employer
(j)

People engagement index
Raw engagement score per the Annual
Employee Engagement Survey

(k) Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate
Lost time injuries per million hours worked
Corporate Responsibility
(l) Standard letter service performance
Letters delivered to standard (Testpo Survey)
(m) Customer favourability
% Who rate NZP as 'excellent' or 'very good'.
(n) Emissions reduction
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5-Year Trend
summary
20082012

2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

Operating Revenue ($m)

1,309.4

1,266.9

1,204.2

1,253.8

1,290.0

Operating expenses ($m)

1,223.5

1,297.2

1,179.8

1,163.4

1,175.6

190.1

[34.6]

34.1

93.5

136.8

Operating Margin before tax (%)

14.5

[2.7]

2.0

7.5

10.6

Earnings per share (cents)

88.0

[18.5 ]

1.4

37.4

57.3

15,851.0

14,682.0

13,075.5

11,304.0

8,036.7

Average shareholders' funds ($m)

730.7

666.8

677.5

667.9

625.9

Return on average shareholders'
funds after tax (%)

23.2

[5.3]

0.39

10.8

17.6

Net asset backing per share ($)

5.0

3.37

3.91

3.48

3.47

Average shareholders' funds to
total assets (%)

4.6

4.5

5.7

5.9

8.3

Interim dividend per share (cents)

1.3

0.9

3.0

3.6

8.8

Final dividend per share (cents)

1.3

0.1

0.004

–

3.4

Profit / (loss) before tax ($m)

Total assets ($m)
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Commentary

169.7

million
NET PrOfIT rEPOrTEd by
ThE GrOuP fOr ThE yEar
ENdING 30 juNE 2012

For the year ended 30 June 2012 the Group
reported a net profit of $169.7m compared
to a loss last year of $35.6m. The headline
result for 2012 contrasts sharply with last
year’s in two ways: significant one-off
items were positive impacts on the result
for 2012 whereas they were negative
impacts in 2011, and the operational
performance of $79.8m is stronger than
2011’s $41.7m. The improvement in the
operational performance is due to a
return to expected levels of profitability in
Kiwibank, continued cost savings across the
core postal business, and other earnings
improvements flowing from actions taken
in 2011 to address underperforming parts
of the Group, and business restructuring.
While both the reported and the operating
results are significantly improved, the
strategic and economic challenges facing
the postal and banking businesses remain.
New Zealand Post’s repurchase of DHL’s 50
percent shareholding in the New Zealand
and Australian express courier businesses
is part of our strategy to support the growth
in the parcels segment of the industry, and
maximise the efficiency, utilisation and
service performance of our networks. As
the transaction did not complete until 29
June 2012, the financial statements reflect
the Group’s share of associate earnings up
to the point when the company became a
100% owned subsidiary. The entities will be
fully consolidated for the half year ending
31 December 2012. The transaction gave
rise to a one-off non-cash gain, which was
in essence recognition of the unrealised
gain that arose when the joint ventures
were created in previous years. This has the
effect of ensuring that the carrying value
of the subsidiaries in the Group’s accounts
reflects the market value applied in the
transactions.

During the year New Zealand Post
issued a wholesale $150m five year debt
instrument (note) to replace its $100m five
year notes that matured on 15 November
2011. This issuance was part of our core
debt programme. The Group invested an
additional $50m into Kiwibank during
the year, bringing its total direct capital
investment in the bank up to $360m
(2010/11 $310m), facilitated the debt
financing of Kiwibank’s acquisition of
Gareth Morgan Investments Ltd (GMI), and
acquired DHL’s shareholding in Express
Couriers Ltd and Couriers Please Holdings
Pty Ltd for a total of $108m (combined
share purchase and investment). As part
of its capital plan, the Group continues
to review and redeploy capital from
non-strategic assets into higher capital
priority areas. To this end the Group is in
the process of exploring options to reduce
the level of capital invested in its property
assets.
In December 2011 Standard and Poor’s
reaffirmed the Group’s AA- credit rating,
but subsequently placed the rating on
negative outlook in January 2012 as a
result of a deteriorating view around the
structural decline of postal businesses
globally. New Zealand Post believes that
it is well advanced in identifying and
executing the strategies required to restore
sustainable earnings performance in the
postal and logistics sector of its business,
but some of our strategies are contingent
on gaining the flexibility we need to tailor
our future services to meet future market
conditions. New Zealand Post remains
committed to maintaining service quality
and availability in our communities as it
adjusts to meet an increasingly parcel and
digital–oriented marketplace.
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In FY2012 the Group spent $17.7m
(FY2011 $3.8m) on several strategic
projects that are central to the Group’s
future strategy. These included the Retail
Transformation Project, which funded a
trial of new retail concepts on the Kapiti
Coast, the project to create the Group’s
digital mail offering due for launch in the
first half of FY 2013, and the Network
of the Future Project, which is planning
the future shape and configuration of
the processing and delivery networks.
Investments in strategic projects will
continue next year with benefits from
these projects expected to accrue in
future years.

Kiwibank continues to
grow market share and
rate highly in customer
satisfaction surveys in a
very competitive market

impaired assets rather than changes in
provisioning policy.
Asset growth remained positive despite
elevated levels of mortgage discharges
and subdued credit demand. Kiwibank
continues to grow market share and rate
highly in customer satisfaction surveys in
a very competitive market with aggressive
discounting practices. Both retail and
wholesale funding was strong for the year,
despite competition for retail deposits.
During the year $75m of subordinated
debt was repaid and not replaced, due
to uncertainty around the qualifying
regulatory capital instruments resulting
from the upcoming Reserve Bank
implementation of Basel III regulations.
The acquisition of GMI by Kiwi Group
Holdings Limited will provide scale
and capability to the Group’s existing
Kiwisaver offering. GMI manages over
$1.5 billion of funds, of which $650 million
is KiwiSaver related, on behalf of more
than 57,000 clients.
Post

Segment Performance
financial Services
In FY2012 Kiwibank returned to expected
levels of profitability with a net profit after
tax of $79.1m, a significant improvement
on the FY2011 $21.2m result that had
been impacted by increased bad debt
provisioning and the Christchurch
earthquakes. Net Interest Income
margins were higher throughout the
year, increasing from 1.47% to 1.79%
year on year, reflecting a high proportion
of variable rate lending. Bad debt
provisioning for the year was on plan with
total impaired assets ratio improving
from 0.92% at the end of FY2011 to 0.67%
at the end of FY2012. This was achieved
through active management and exit of

The core postal business continues to
face the strategic challenge of declining
core mail volumes primarily driven by
the continued trend towards electronic
substitution. Domestic mail volumes
fell by 54 million items from last year,
representing a 6.7 percent decline.
International mail volumes likewise
declined by 10.5 percent, driven by
reduction in both inbound and outbound
mail. The volume trends are similar in the
print mail business.
The impact of this decline has been
mitigated by strategies to improve
product and service offerings, careful
management of costs and continued
improvements to our operations model.
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Product strategies have resulted in a
shift in mix from full rate mail to bulk
mail in some offerings with the overall
impact of volume decline being an overall
letters revenue decline of $17.0 million.
Domestic parcels however continue
to grow and are 7.2 percent up on the
previous year.
The core postal business this year
undertook significant restructuring to
better align itself to execute strategies
required to drive sustainable earnings
performance. This combined with
efficiencies in the operations model
during the year has contributed
significantly to mitigating the impact of
mail volume decline and has allowed
further advancement in a number of key
transformation strategies.

Group results
Operating revenues for FY2012 increased
by $42.5m ($1.31bn compared with $1.27bn
FY 2011), reflecting continued growth and
improved net interest income levels in
Kiwibank, partially offset by continuing
decline of revenue by $78.2m or 9.2% of
revenue in our core postal business.
Group operating expenses reduced by
$73.6m ($1.22bn compared with $1.30bn
in 2010/11) which reflected continuing
cost control, coupled with no repeat
of the previous year’s bad debt and
impairment impacts.
Total Assets increased to 15.8bn ($14.7bn
FY 2011) driven by banking asset growth.

Ecl
At an operating net profit after tax level,
ECL’s result for FY2012 of $17.0m was
good, with a 31.9% increase on FY2011
($12.9m). This result was reduced to
$8.4m (FY2011 $9.4m) mainly by a
write-down of goodwill in the Roadstar
subsidiary due to difficulties in improving
profitability within Roadstar’s existing
scale. Reported gross profit of $94.9m
compared favourably to FY2011 $92.2m
despite higher variable fuel charges (at
zero margin) adding to overall revenue
growth of $16.0m. Overall volumes were
up 1.8% with some strong new business
success, however competitive pressure
on margins continues to see average
prices reduce.

2012

2011

$1.31

billion

$1.27
billion
OPEraTING
rEvENuES

OPEraTING
rEvENuES
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Statement
of Corporate Governance

The Board is responsible for the corporate
governance of the Group. “Corporate
Governance” includes the direction and
control of the Group and the accountability
of the Board to shareholders and other
stakeholders for the organisation’s
performance, and compliance with laws
and standards. The New Zealand Post
Group has in place a comprehensive
system of corporate governance policies,
practices, and procedures designed to
ensure adherence to best practice and
high ethical standards.

Shareholders
As a State-Owned Enterprise,
New Zealand Post Limited has two
shareholding Ministers acting on behalf
of the Crown. The Minister of Finance and
the Minister for State-Owned Enterprises
hold the company’s shares.

Shareholder Communications
An annual business plan and quarterly
reports against the performance set out
in the plan, are provided to shareholding
Ministers. A Statement of Corporate
Intent, unaudited half-year accounts and
audited year-end accounts are tabled
in Parliament annually. Shareholding
Ministers are also kept informed about
developments of significance on an
ongoing basis.

Board Governance
The board
The Board of the New Zealand Post Group
may comprise up to 10 directors. The
directors are not executives of the company.
Shareholding Ministers appoint the
directors. Before appointing new
directors, shareholding Ministers
consider the balance of competencies and
experience on the Board and also consult
with the Chair.

The Chair carries out a leadership role
in the conduct of the Board and its
relationship with shareholding Ministers
and stakeholders. The Chair maintains a
close professional relationship with the
Chief Executive. The Chair has no external
commitments that conflict with the
Chair’s role.
As at 30 June 2012, the Board comprised
nine directors. Each director is considered
to be ‘independent’, in that each is
independent of management and free
of any business or other relationship
that could materially interfere with,
or could reasonably be perceived to
materially interfere with, the exercise of
the directors’ unfettered and independent
judgement.
role of the board
The Board is responsible to shareholding
Ministers for directing and monitoring
the management and affairs of
the New Zealand Post Group. The
New Zealand Post Group is made up
of a number of companies including
New Zealand Post Limited, Kiwibank
Limited and Express Couriers Limited.
Under the State-Owned Enterprises
Act 1986, New Zealand Post’s principal
objective is to operate as a successful
business, including:
• to be as profitable and efficient as
comparable private sector businesses;
• to be a good employer;
• to exhibit a sense of social responsibility
by having regard to the interests of the
community in which it operates and
by endeavouring to accommodate or
encourage these when able to do so.
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The Board establishes objectives and sets
strategies to achieve those objectives.
The Board, in the context of the approved
policy, risk and compliance framework
within which the Group operates,
monitors management’s performance
against those strategies. The Board has
delegated the day-to-day management to
the Group Chief Executive.
The Board requires a three-year plan
(presented annually), which is consistent
with the agreed strategic objectives of the
New Zealand Post Group, to be submitted
to it for approval. The Board closely
monitors financial and non-financial
performance and compares performance
to the annual plan and forecasts at its
regular meetings.
board meetings
During the period, the Board held ten
regular meetings (together with additional
meetings as required). The Board also
holds an annual strategic planning
session that considers strategic issues in
conjunction with the Chief Executive and
the Group Leadership Team.
The Chief Executive, Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary attend all
Board meetings. Other managers attend
Board meetings in relation to matters
regarding their areas of responsibility
and directors have other opportunities,
including site visits, for contact with wider
Group employees.
board committees
A Finance, Risk and Investment Committee
and a Human Resources Committee
assist the Board in the discharge of its
responsibilities. Both Committees have
formal Charters, approved by the Board,
setting out the respective Committees’
duties and responsibilities.
The Board also establishes ad hoc
committees as required, to deal with
specific issues.
All directors are entitled to attend
committee meetings and copies of all
meeting papers and minutes are available
to all directors. The Chief Executive
attends committee meetings.

finance, risk and Investment committee
The Finance, Risk and Investment
Committee comprises five directors and
holds four regular meetings a year. In
addition, there is provision for additional
meetings to be held to deal with other
matters as they arise. The Committee’s
overall function is to assist the Board in
fulfilling its responsibilities relating to
management systems, and accounting
and reporting practices, including:
• advising the Board in relation to the
governance, performance and strategy
of investment and divestment activity;
• assisting the Board to meet
its accounting and reporting
responsibilities under the Companies
Act 1993, the Financial Reporting Act
1993, and related legislation;
• overseeing and reviewing internal
and external audits;
• overseeing the integrity of financial
reporting;
• ensuring that the Group has a
framework and methodologies in place
for the management of all strategic
and business risks.
The Finance, Risk and Investment
Committee holds regular ‘directors only’
sessions, which provide for discussions
with auditors to ensure a robust and
independent audit process.
human resources committee
The Human Resources Committee has
been established by the Board during the
period. This Committee expands on the
responsibilities and functions of the former
Remuneration Committee. The Committee
comprises five directors and schedules
four regular meetings a year. There is
provision for additional meetings to be held
to deal with other matters as they arise.
The Committee’s primary purpose is to
assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight
of ‘good employer’ and human resources
governance responsibilities relating to the
New Zealand Post Group.
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The responsibilities of the Committee
include:

a formal consideration of the relevant risk
and prioritisation issues.

• overseeing, and reviewing performance
of, the human resources strategy for
the New Zealand Post Group;
• overseeing, and reviewing
performance of, the health, safety
and wellbeing strategy for the
New Zealand Post Group;
• reviewing, and recommending to the
Board for approval, the remuneration
policy for the Group, consistent with
the Group’s strategic plan;
• reviewing, and recommending to the
Board for approval, remuneration
arrangements and performance
measures and targets for the Chief
Executive; and
• reviewing the performance of the
CEO against performance measures
and targets.

The Group Risk Team takes a systematic,
disciplined approach to maintaining and
continuously improving the effectiveness
of risk management, internal control,
project management and associated
governance processes.

access to Independent Information
In circumstances that warrant additional
assurance the Board as a whole, and
directors individually, may, in order to
assist in carrying out their responsibilities,
request independent professional advice
at the Company’s expense. Such requests
are to be made in consultation with the
Chair and are facilitated through the
Company Secretariat.

Board Policy
Management of risk is a key focus
of the Board, as it is crucial to the
protection of shareholder value. The
New Zealand Post Group, therefore, has in
place a comprehensive risk management
and internal control framework designed
to identify and treat all significant
business and strategic risks.
The Board approves and monitors policy
and processes in significant risk areas.
The Board has approved a comprehensive
delegated authority structure that clearly
states actions reserved to itself and those
delegated to management. The Board
is also required to approve capital and
operational expenditure that exceeds the
Chief Executive’s delegations. Any such
request for approval is required to reflect

The following specific actions are taken:
• a Group risk profile that considers the
principal risks to the New Zealand Post
Group, and the management actions
to mitigate such risks, is updated
throughout the year;
• the Board’s Finance, Risk and
Investment Committee periodically
reviews the Group’s principal risk
profile; and
• internal controls are assessed in line
with a three-year risk-based internal
audit plan, with the outcomes being
considered by the Board’s Finance,
Risk and Investment Committee.

Integrity Standards
The Board supports the principles set
out in the “Codes of Proper Practice for
Directors”, as issued by the New Zealand
Institute of Directors, under which
directors are expected to:
•
•
•
•

act honestly and with integrity;
comply with the law;
avoid conflicts of interest;
use Company assets responsibly and in
the best interests of the Company;
• be responsible and accountable for
their actions; and
• act in accordance with their fiduciary
duties.
The New Zealand Post Group has a suite
of policies in which it outlines how it seeks
to conduct its business with integrity,
honesty, fairness and in compliance with
all relevant laws, regulations, codes and
standards. These policies clearly set out
the ethical standards that are expected of
Group employees and contractors in their
dealings with customers, the Company,
and each other.

Additionally, the Board has adopted a
set of Directors’ Business Rules and
Guidelines to ensure that the practices
and procedures of the Board are
aligned with the policies applying to
New Zealand Post Group employees.

Conflict of Interest
The Companies Act 1993, the Company’s
Constitution, the Board Charter and the
Directors’ Business Rules and Guidelines
deal with the disclosure of interests
by directors and the participation and
voting at Board meetings where any such
interests are relevant.
Directors are regularly requested to make
general disclosures of interest, which are
recorded in the Register of Interests.

Governance Requirements and
Best Practice
The Board has confirmed that its
corporate governance policies, practices
and procedures accord with the Securities
Commission’s (now the Financial Markets
Authority’s) “Corporate Governance
Principles & Guidelines”, in the material
respects in which they are appropriate for
a State-Owned Enterprise.

Financial
Statements
This section of the Annual Report
(pages 40 to 153) contains audited financial
statements for the New Zealand Post Group
and its subsidiaries in the year ended
30 June 2012. It also contains Statutory
Information for the period, including the
Consolidated Earnings Statement.

where can I find more information?
p. 42 Financial Statements
p. 49 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
p. 64 Notes to the Financial Statements
p. 138 Statutory Information
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statements of Comprehensive Income for the Year ended 30 June 2012
GrOuP

ParENT

Note

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

Revenue from operations

1

1,309,373

1,266,853

701,388

724,089

Expenditure

2

1,223,526

1,297,164

735,074

777,781

(33,686)

(53,692)

85,847

Operating prOFit/(lOss)

–

26,850

–

Other income / (losses)

1

(355)

16,580

2,802

13,667

Finance costs (net)

3

(14,578)

(9,622)

(10,247)

(7,793)

14

16,585

(11,272)

190,107

(34,625)

(14,281)

(47,818)

20,411

1,017

(10,477)

(6,896)

169,696

(35,642)

(3,804)

(40,922)

169,696

(35,642)

(3,804)

(40,922)

–

–

Gain on sale of investment

Share of net profit/(loss) of associates and jointly controlled entities

15

prOFit/(lOss) beFOre incOme tax

Income tax expense/(credit)
PrOfIT/(lOSS) fOr ThE yEar afTEr TaxaTION

4

102,608

(30,311)

–

–

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest

–

–

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(ExPENSE)

Fair value gains/(losses)
– land and building revaluations, net of tax

(8,172)

– available for sale financial assets, net of tax

4,652

2,454

13,488

2,365

– cash flow hedge, net of tax

512

(8,172)
–
(1,817)

512
–
(2,023)

(832)

1,961

–

–

jointly controlled entities, net of tax

(1,415)

1,272

–

–

tOtal Other cOmprehensive incOme/(expense), net OF tax

7,721

8,564

(9,989)

(1,511)

177,417

(27,078)

(13,793)

(42,433)

177,417

(27,078)

(13,793)

(42,433)

–

–

Currency translation differences
Share of other comprehensive income of associates and

TOTal cOmPrEhENSIvE INcOmE(ExPENSE), NET Of Tax

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest

–

–
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new Zealand Post limited and subsidiaries
statements of Changes in equity for the Year ended 30 June 2012
fully Paid
Ordinary
Shares
Note

Property
revaluation
reserve

available
for Sale
reserve

foreign
currency
Translation
reserve

cashflow
hedge
reserve

$'000

$'000

$'000

192,200

76,960

Loss for the year

–

Other Comprehensive
income/(expense)

Noncontrolling
Interest

retained
Earnings

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

448

(48,452)

3,738

460,997

146,639

832,530

–

–

–

–

(35,642)

–

(35,642)

–

1,033

3,514

5,207

1,961

–

–

11,715

Share of other comprehensive
income of associates and
jointly controlled entities

–

–

–

–

1,272

–

–

1,272

Income tax relating to
components of other
comprehensive income

–

(521)

(1,060)

(2,842)

–

–

–

(4,423)

TOTal OThEr cOmPrEhENSIvE
INcOmE/(ExPENSE), NET Of Tax

–

512

2,454

2,365

3,233

–

–

8,564

Transfer between revaluation
reserve and retained earnings

–

(2,078)

–

–

–

2,078

–

–

GrOuP

Balance at 30 June 2010

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS

Dividends paid to
shareholders

5

–

–

–

–

–

(2,526)

–

(2,526)

Dividends paid to
non-controlling interest

5

–

–

–

–

–

(8,557)

–

(8,557)

192,200

75,394

2,902

PrOfIT fOr ThE yEar

–

–

–

–

Other Comprehensive
income/(expense)

–

6,461

18,731

Share of other comprehensive
income of associates and
jointly controlled entities

–

93

–

–

Income tax relating to
components of other
comprehensive income

–

3,019

(1,809)

(5,243)

tOtal Other cOmprehensive
incOme/(expense), net OF tax

–

(8,079)

4,652

13,488

Transfer between revaluation
reserve and retained earnings

–

–

–

–

balance at 30 June 2011

(11,191)

(46,087)

6,971

416,350

146,639

794,369

–

169,696

–

169,696

(832)

–

–

13,169

(1,508)

–

–

(1,415)

–

–

(4,033)

–

–

7,721

–

–

–

–

–

–

(2,340)

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS
5

–

–

–

–

–

Dividends paid to
shareholders

5

–

–

–

–

–

(2,770)

–

(2,770)

Dividends paid to
non-controlling interest

5

–

–

–

–

–

(8,763)

–

(8,763)

192,200

67,315

7,554

balaNcE aT 30 juNE 2012

(32,599)

4,631

574,513

(794)

(794)

Transaction with
non-controlling interest in
Kiwi Asset Finance Ltd

145,845

959,459
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new Zealand Post limited and subsidiaries
statements of Changes in equity for the Year ended 30 June 2012 (continued)
fully Paid
Ordinary
Shares
Note

Property
revaluation
reserve

available
for Sale
reserve

foreign
currency
Translation
reserve

cashflow
hedge
reserve

$'000

$'000

$'000

192,200

76,960

–

Loss for the year

–

–

–

Other Comprehensive
income/(expense)

–

1,033

–

Income tax relating to
components of other
comprehensive income

–

(521)

–

TOTal OThEr cOmPrEhENSIvE
INcOmE/(ExPENSE), NET Of Tax

–

512

–

Transfer between revaluation
reserve and retained earnings

–

(2,078)

–

–

–

–

192,200

75,394

–

lOSS fOr ThE yEar

–

–

–

Other Comprehensive
income/(expense)

–

(11,191)

–

Income tax relating to
components of other
comprehensive income

–

3,019

–

TOTal OThEr cOmPrEhENSIvE
INcOmE/(ExPENSE), NET Of Tax

–

(8,172)

–

Transfer between revaluation
reserve and retained earnings

–

–

–

–

–

–

192,200

67,222

–

$'000

Noncontrolling
Interest

retained
Earnings

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

(2,328)

–

764,013

–

1,030,845

–

–

(40,922)

–

(40,922)

(2,717)

–

–

–

(1,684)

694

–

–

–

173

–

–

–

–

–

2,078

–

–

–

–

(2,526)

–

(2,526)

ParENT

Balance at 30 June 2010

(2,023)

(1,511)

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS

Dividends paid to
shareholders

5

balance at 30 June 2011

(4,351)
–

–
–

722,643
(3,804)

–

985,886

–

(3,804)

–

–

–

(13,715)

–

–

–

3,726

–

–

–

(9,989)

–

–

–

–

–

–

(2,524)
707

(1,817)

–

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS

Dividends paid to
shareholders
balaNcE aT 30 juNE 2012

5

(6,168)

–

(2,770)

716,068

–

–

(2,770)

969,322
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new Zealand Post limited and subsidiaries
statements of Financial Position as at 30 June 2012
GrOuP

ParENT

Note

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

Cash and cash equivalents

6

154,871

174,582

96,663

154,423

Trade and other receivables

7

222,448

138,948

115,523

83,174

Inventories

8

12,582

15,691

7,230

10,043

13

–

–

14,500

–

Assets held for sale

9

685

685

685

685

Taxation receivable

4

–

3,172

8,039

4,161

10,968

12,681

3,017

8,118

aSSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Loans to related parties

Prepayments

10,776

5,597

10,715

5,597

412,330

351,356

256,372

266,201

7

6,234

16,380

6,234

16,380

Investment properties

10

14,445

9,470

14,445

9,470

Property, plant and equipment

11

315,114

341,100

250,138

281,983

Intangible assets

12

441,944

136,770

26,578

27,945

Loans to related parties

13

–

–

970,500

861,572

4

16,796

17,531

–

–

Investments accounted for using the equity method

13/14

69,108

56,200

22,143

70,337

Investments in subsidiaries

13/15

–

–

196,824

42,044

863,641

577,451

1,486,862

1,309,731

Derivative financial assets

22

tOtal current assets
NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Trade and other receivables

Deferred tax asset

tOtal nOn-current assets
SPECIFIC BANKING ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

27

315,061

296,302

–

–

Due from other financial institutions

27

171,380

440,483

–

–

Financial assets held for trading

27

104,239

324,609

–

–

Available for sale assets

27

1,400,966

1,123,452

–

–

Loans and advances

27

12,445,281

11,494,796

–

–

Derivative financial instruments

28

138,144

73,545

–

–

tOtal speciFic banking assets

14,575,071

13,753,187

–

–

TOTal aSSETS

15,851,042

14,681,994

1,743,234

1,575,932
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new Zealand Post limited and subsidiaries
statements of Financial Position as at 30 June 2012 (continued)
GrOuP

ParENT

Note

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

Trade and other payables

16

351,235

243,101

189,955

160,863

Provisions

17

4,855

9,946

1,611

8,739

lIabIlITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES

4

7,239

–

–

–

Deferred settlement liability

19

31,691

14,012

–

–

Borrowings

18

188,608

166,855

129,599

160,541

Loans from related parties

13

–

–

14,500

–

Derivative financial liabilities

22

Taxation Payable

tOtal current liabilities

20,330

7,862

18,351

7,862

603,958

441,776

354,016

338,005

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables

16

1,225

21,186

1,225

21,050

Provisions

17

4,381

4,155

3,126

4,155

Loans from related parties

13

–

–

250,140

205,314

4

–

–

15,586

21,522

Deferred settlement liability

19

1,950

–

–

–

Borrowings

18

Deferred tax liability

tOtal nOn-current liabilities

419,485

345,607

149,819

–

427,041

370,948

419,896

252,041

SPECIFIC BANKING LIABILITIES

Due to other financial institutions

29

333,931

795,964

–

–

Deposits

29

11,564,727

10,586,271

–

–

Debt securities issued

29

1,805,681

1,509,847

–

–

Derivative financial instruments

28

156,245

182,819

–

–

tOtal speciFic banking liabilities

13,860,584

13,074,901

–

–

TOTal lIabIlITIES

14,891,583

13,887,625

773,912

590,046

EquITy
PARENT SHAREHOLDERS' EqUITY

Ordinary share capital

5

192,200

192,200

192,200

192,200

Retained earnings

5

574,513

416,350

716,068

722,643

Other reserves

5

TOTal EquITy aTTrIbuTablE TO ParENT SharEhOldEr

Non-controlling interest

5

TOTal EquITy
TOTal EquITy aNd lIabIlITIES

46,901

39,180

61,054

71,043

813,614

647,730

969,322

985,886

145,845

146,639

–

–

959,459

794,369

969,322

985,886

15,851,042

14,681,994

1,743,234

1,575,932

The Board of Directors of New Zealand Post Limited authorised these financial statements for issue on 23 August 2012.

Hon Sir M.J. Cullen
Chairman

Philippa Dunphy
Director
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new Zealand Post limited and subsidiaries
statements of Cash Flows for the Year ended 30 June 2012
GrOuP
Note

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

1,063,136

1,113,789

700,520

758,188

762,214

717,584

–

–

5,465

10,238

13,238

10,254

caSh flOwS frOm OPEraTING acTIvITIES

Receipts from customers
Kiwibank interest received
Other interest received

7,853

Dividends received

(1,096,299)

Payments to suppliers and employees

–

13,275
(1,104,514)

7,853
(664,863)

13,275
(687,266)

–

(2,942)

(449)

(22,377)

(16,635)

(23,413)

(19,577)

(525,594)

(536,456)

(21,369)

(11,871)

(21,981)

(18,099)

(19,114)

(23,562)

4,596

9,013

153,915

161,848

13,008

65,339

Kiwibank decrease/ (increase) in balances due from other financial
institutions

269,103

(283,612)

–

–

Kiwibank decrease in financial assets held for trading

223,435

352,883

–

–

(270,163)

(574,607)

–

–

(1,042,907)

(1,193,709)

–

–

Subvention payments
Net payments to agencies
Kiwibank interest paid
Other interest paid
Income tax paid / (refunded)

4

NET caSh flOwS frOm OPEraTING acTIvITIES bEfOrE chaNGES IN
OPEraTING aSSETS aNd lIabIlITIES

–

–

NET chaNGES IN OPEraTING aSSETS aNd lIabIlITIES:

Kiwibank decrease/ (increase) in available for sale assets
Kiwibank increase in loans and advances
Kiwibank increase in deposits and other borrowings

983,711

297,746

–

–

Kiwibank (decrease)/ increase in balances due to other financial institutions

(462,033)

631,913

–

–

(144,939)

(607,538)

13,008

65,339

NET caSh flOwS frOm OPEraTING acTIvITIES

20

caSh flOwS frOm INvESTING acTIvITIES
92

11,637

63

3,500

600

6,389

19,952

–

Repayment of loans from subsidiaries

–

–

–

6,208

Advances from subsidiaries

–

–

57,325

–

Sale of property, plant and equipment
Repayment of loans from associates and jointly controlled entities

14

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

(11,925)

(36,775)

(5,144)

(15,555)

(1,806)

(28,083)

(1,806)

–

(81,450)

(28,083)

Investments in associates and other companies

14

Investments in subsidiaries

15

–

–

Advances to associates and jointly controlled entities

14

–

–

Advances to subsidiaries

13

–

–

(157,337)

(15,000)

(47,672)

(26,753)

(17,563)

(6,179)

(122,564)

–

Purchase of intangible assets
Acquisition of subsidiaries net of cash acquired
NET caSh flOwS frOm INvESTING acTIvITIES

15

(183,275)

(73,585)

–

–
(185,960)

–

–
(55,109)
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new Zealand Post limited and subsidiaries
statements of Cash Flows for the Year ended 30 June 2012 (continued)
GrOuP

ParENT

Note

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

Issue of borrowings

18

417,962

60,000

417,962

60,000

Repayment of borrowings

18

(300,000)

(41,639)

(300,000)

(41,639)

5

(2,770)

(2,526)

(2,770)

(2,526)

caSh flOwS frOm fINaNcING acTIvITIES

Dividends paid to parent shareholders

(8,763)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interest

295,833

Kiwibank increase (decrease) in debt securities issued
Kiwibank redemption of sub-ordinated debt

(75,000)

NET caSh flOwS frOm fINaNcING acTIvITIES

327,262

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held

(952)

(8,557)

–

–

714,610

–

–

–

–

–

721,888

115,192

15,835

40,765

(57,760)

26,065

Cash at the beginning of the year

470,884

430,119

154,423

128,358

caSh aT ThE ENd Of ThE yEar

469,932

470,884

96,663

154,423

315,061

296,302

–

–

cOmPOSITION Of caSh

Kiwibank cash and cash equivalents
Other cash and cash equivalents
TOTal caSh

27
6

154,871

174,582

96,663

154,423

469,932

470,884

96,663

154,423
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summary of significant accounting Policies
for the Year ended 30 June 2012

Reporting Entity

Statement of Compliance

New Zealand Post Limited (the ‘Parent’)
and its subsidiaries provide postal services,
banking services, business solutions, courier
and logistic services to New Zealand and
Australian customers. The Parent is a limited
liability company incorporated and domiciled
in New Zealand. The Parent’s registered
office is 7 Waterloo Quay, Wellington. The
‘Group’ comprises New Zealand Post Limited,
its subsidiaries (including Kiwibank Limited, a
Registered Bank – referred to as “Kiwibank”),
its associates, and its jointly controlled entities.

The financial statements for the Parent
and Group are for the year ended 30 June
2012. These financial statements comply
with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), New Zealand equivalents to
International Financial Reporting Standards
(NZ IFRS), and other applicable Financial
Reporting Standards, as appropriate for
profit-oriented entities.

Basis of Preparation

standards and interpretations effective in the
current period:

The financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with generally accepted
accounting practice in New Zealand and the
requirements of the Companies Act 1993, the
Financial Reporting Act 1993, and the StateOwned Enterprises Act 1986.

New Accounting Standards and
Interpretations

The following new standards and
amendments to standards are mandatory
for financial years commencing on or after
1 July 2011 and have been adopted in these
financial statements:

The financial report is presented in
New Zealand dollars and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars
($000) unless otherwise stated.

Impact on financial
Statements

Standard

requirement

NZ IAS 24 – Related Party
Disclosures (2009)

This standard, on adoption, supersedes
NZ IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures
(2004). The revised Standard simplifies
some of the disclosure requirements,
clarifies the definition of a related
party and provides a partial exemption
from the disclosure requirements for
government-related entities.

This standard has not led to
any significant impact on the
Group financial statements.

Amendments to NZ IFRS
This amendment stipulates disclosure
7 – Disclosures – Transfers requirements for transferred financial
of Financial Assets (2010) assets existing at the reporting date,
regardless of when the transfer
occurred.

This amendment has not
led to any significant impact
on the Group financial
statements.

FRS 44 – New Zealand
Additional Disclosures
(2011)

This standard sets out New Zealand
This standard has not led to
specific disclosures for entities that
any significant impact on the
have adopted New Zealand equivalents Group financial statements.
to International Financial Reporting
Standards (NZ IFRSs). The Standard
supports the objective of harmonising
financial reporting standards in
Australia and New Zealand.

No new standards, amendments or interpretations to existing standards that are not yet
effective, have been early adopted by the Group in these financial statements.
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At the date of authorisation, the following
new standards, amendments or
interpretations to existing standards were
in issue but not yet effective:
Standard

Effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after:

NZ IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments

1 January 2015

NZ IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements

1 January 2013

NZ IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements

1 January 2013

NZ IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 January 2013
NZ IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement

1 January 2013

NZ IAS 27 – Separate Financial Statements (2011)

1 January 2013

NZ IAS 28 – Investments in Associates

1 January 2013

The Directors expect to adopt the above
Standards and Interpretations in the period in
which they become mandatory.

Group Financial Statements

With the exception of NZ IFRS 9 and NZ
IFRS 13, the directors anticipate that the
above Standards and Interpretations will
have no material impact on the financial
statements of the Group in the period of
initial application. It is likely that the changes
arising from NZ IFRS 9 and NZ IFRS 13 will
affect the recognition, measurement, and
classification of amounts recognised in the
Group financial statements. However, it is not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate
of that effect until a detailed review has been
completed.

Subsidiaries are entities that are controlled,
either directly or indirectly, by the Parent.
Control exists where the Group has the
power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity. The results and financial
position of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and statement of financial position
from the date control is gained up to the date
control ceases.

Specific Accounting Policies
The following accounting policies, which
materially affect the measurement of
financial performance, financial position and
cash flows, have been consistently applied
to all reporting periods presented in these
financial statements.
The measurement base applied is historic
cost, as modified by the revaluation of certain
assets and liabilities as identified in these
accounting policies. The accrual basis of
accounting has been used unless otherwise
stated.

subsidiaries

The Group uses the acquisition method
of accounting to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
value of the assets transferred, liabilities
incurred and the equity interests issued by
the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Acquisition-related costs
are expensed as incurred. The Group
recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, either at fair value or at the noncontrolling interest’s proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets.
Goodwill is initially measured as the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred and the amount of any noncontrolling interest over the net identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If
this consideration is lower than the fair value
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired,
the difference is recognised in profit or loss.
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The Parent’s investments in subsidiaries
are recorded at cost less any accumulated
impairment. Unrealised losses relating to any
impairment are recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries
are prepared for the same reporting period
as the parent company, using consistent
accounting policies. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements, all
intercompany balances, transactions,
unrealised gains and losses resulting from
intra-group transactions and dividends have
been eliminated in full.
When the Group ceases to have control any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured
to its fair value, with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. The
fair value is the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting
for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition,
any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.
associates and Jointly controlled entities
Associates are entities in which the Group
has significant influence but not a controlling
interest. Jointly controlled entities are
entities in which the Group has joint control
(being unanimous consent by the parties
sharing control over the strategic, financial
and operating decisions). Investments in
associates and jointly controlled entities
are accounted for using the equity method
of accounting. They are initially recorded at
cost and include any goodwill identified on
acquisition (net of any impairment losses).
The Group’s share of post-acquisition results
are included in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income from the date of
acquisition up to the date of disposal. Any
other movements in the reserve accounts
are recognised in reserves of the Group.
When the Group’s share of losses in an
associate or jointly controlled entity equals
or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate or jointly
controlled entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its associates and jointly controlled
entities are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred.
intergroup acquisitions and Disposals
The sale of investments between the Parent
and a subsidiary, or between two subsidiaries,
are recorded at fair value. Gains or losses on
disposal are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income. Such gains or losses
are eliminated on consolidation.

Segment Reporting
An operating segment is a component of
an entity that engages in business activities
from which it may earn revenue and incur
expenses, whose operating results are
regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief
operating decision maker to make decisions
about resources to be allocated to the
segment and assess its performance, and
for which discrete financial information
is available. Operating segments are
aggregated for disclosure purposes where
they have similar products and services,
production processes, customers, distribution
methods, and regulatory environment.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue shown in the statement of
comprehensive income comprises the fair
value of amounts received and receivable by
the Parent and Group for goods and services
supplied to customers, net of rebates and
discounts and after eliminating sales within
the Group.
supply of goods
Revenue from the supply of goods is
recognised when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the buyer and collectibility of the related
receivables is reasonably assured.
supply of services
Revenue from the supply of services is
recognised in the period in which the services
are rendered, by reference to completion of
the specific transaction assessed on the basis
of the actual service provided as a proportion
of the total services provided.
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interest

Prepaid Product Revenue

Interest income is accrued using the effective
interest rate method. The effective interest
rate exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount. The method applies this rate to the
principal outstanding to determine interest
income each period. When a receivable is
impaired, the carrying amount is reduced to
its recoverable amount, being the estimated
future cash flow discounted at original
effective interest rate of the instrument, and
continues unwinding the discount as interest
income.

Allowance is made for the assessed amount
of revenue from prepaid product sales as at
balance date in respect of which the service
has not yet been provided.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right
to receive payment has been established.
rental income
Rental income is recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income on a straightline basis over the term of the lease. Lease
incentives granted are recognised evenly over
the term of the lease.
trailing commissions
Kiwibank receives trailing commissions
from lenders on loans they have settled that
were originated by Kiwibank. The trailing
commissions are received over the life
of the loans based on loan book balance
outstanding. Kiwibank also makes trailing
commission payments to Franchisees based
on the loan book balance outstanding.
On initial recognition, trailing commission
revenue and receivables are recognised at
fair value, being the expected future trailing
commission receivables discounted to their
net present value. In addition, an associated
payable and expense to the Franchisee are
also recognised, initially measured at fair
value being the future trailing commission
payable to Franchisees discounted to their
net present value.
Subsequent to initial recognition and
measurement, both the trailing commission
asset and trailing commission payable are
measured at amortised cost. The carrying
amount of the trail commission asset and
trailing commission payable are adjusted to
reflect actual and revised estimated cash flows
by recalculating the carrying amount through
computing the present value of estimated
future cash flows at the original effective
interest rate. The resulting adjustment is
recognised as income or expense in the
statement of comprehensive income.

Recognition of Loan Related Fees
and Costs for Loans Not at Fair Value
Through Profit or Loss
Loan origination fees, if material, are
recognised as income over the life of the
loan as an adjustment of yield. Commitment
fees are deferred, and if the commitment
is exercised, recognised in income over the
life of the loan as an adjustment of yield
or, if unexercised, recognised in income
upon expiration of the commitment. Where
commitment fees are retrospectively
determined and nominal in relation to
market interest rates on related loans,
commitment fees are recognised in income
when charged. Where the likelihood of
exercise of the commitment is remote,
commitment fees are recognised in income
over the commitment period. If material,
loan related administration and service fees
are recognised in income over the period of
service.
Direct loan origination costs, if material, are
netted against loan origination fees and the
net amount recognised in income over the life
of the loan as an adjustment of yield. All other
loan related costs are expensed as incurred.
Prepayment penalty fees are estimated over
the life of a loan as an adjustment of yield.
To the extent actual prepayment penalty fees
differ from original estimation, an adjustment
is made and recorded in interest income
immediately.

Interest Expense
Interest expense is accrued using the
effective interest rate method. The effective
interest rate exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected
life of the financial liability to that liability’s
net carrying amount. The method applies this
rate to the principal outstanding to determine
interest expense each period. Borrowing
costs associated with qualifying assets are
capitalised as incurred, otherwise accounted
for as interest expense in the statement of
comprehensive income.
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Foreign Currency Translation

Financial Instruments

Functional and presentation currency

Designation of financial assets and financial
liabilities by individual entities into instrument
categories is determined by the business
purpose of the financial instruments, policies
and practices for their management, their
relationship with other instruments and the
reporting costs and benefits associated with
each designation.

The functional currency of the Parent is New
Zealand dollars. The functional currency of
some subsidiary companies differs to that of
the Parent. The presentation currency of the
Parent and Group is New Zealand dollars.
transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are
translated into the functional currency at
the exchange rate ruling at the date of the
transaction. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income. At
balance date, foreign denominated monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at
the closing exchange rate, with exchange
variations arising from these translations
being recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income, except where
deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow
hedge or qualifying net investment hedge.
Foreign denominated non-monetary assets
and liabilities measured at historic cost are
translated using the exchange rate at the
date of transaction. Foreign denominated
non-monetary assets and liabilities
measured at fair value are translated using
the exchange rate at the fair value date. Any
associated translation differences match the
treatment of the fair value gains or losses
either to the statement of comprehensive
income or directly to equity.
group companies
The assets and liabilities of Group entities
where their functional currency differs
from the Group’s presentation currency
are translated at the closing rate. Revenue
and expense items are translated at the
spot rate at the transaction date or a
rate approximating that rate. Exchange
differences arising from such translations are
recognised in the foreign currency translation
reserve, together with unrealised gains
and losses on foreign currency monetary
liabilities that are identified as hedges against
these operations. When a foreign operation
is sold, the balance of the foreign currency
translation reserve is recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income as part
of the gain or loss on sale.

Financial assets
The Parent and Group classifies its financial
assets into the following categories:
financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and receivables, and available
for sale financial assets. Management
determines the classification of its
investments at initial recognition.
(a) Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
This category has two sub-categories:
financial assets held for trading, and
those designated at fair value through
profit or loss at inception. A financial
asset is classified in this category if
acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the short term or if so
designated by management.
Derivatives are categorised as held for
trading unless they are designated as
hedges. Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised
initially at fair value. Gains and losses
arising from changes in the fair value of
the ‘financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss’ category are included in the
statement of comprehensive income in
the period in which they arise. Transaction
costs are expensed as they are incurred.
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(b) loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market, other than those that the Group
designates as at ‘fair value through
profit or loss’. Loans and receivables
are recognised initially at fair value plus
transaction costs and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method. Allowances
for estimated irrecoverable amounts
are recognised when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired.
Interest, impairment losses and foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of comprehensive
income. Loans and receivables include
cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other receivables, loans and receivables
not at fair value through profit or loss,
amounts due from other financial
institutions, other assets, and borrowings.
The Group assesses at the end of
each reporting period whether there
is objective evidence that loans and
receivables are impaired and the Group
will not be able to collect all amounts due
as per the original transaction terms.
Significant financial difficulties of the
issuer or obligor, breach of contract (such
as a default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments), disappearance
of an active market for the asset, or it
becomes probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation are all considered
indicators that the asset is impaired.
If there is objective evidence that individual
loans and receivables are impaired, the
amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding credit losses
that have not been incurred) discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of the
asset is reduced and the amount of the
loss is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income. If a loan has a
variable interest rate, the discount rate
for measuring any impairment loss is the
current effective interest rate determined
under the contract.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of
the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be objectively related to an
event occurring after the impairment was
recognised (such as an improvement in
the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal
of a previously recognised impairment
loss is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.
(c) available for sale financial assets
Available for sale financial assets are
non-derivatives that are either designated
in this category or not classified in any of
the other categories. Available for sale
financial assets are initially recorded at
fair value plus transaction costs. They are
subsequently recorded at fair value with
any resultant fair value gains or losses
recognised directly in equity except for
impairment losses, any interest calculated
using the effective interest method and,
in the case of monetary items (such as
debt securities), foreign exchange gains
and losses which are all recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income. For
non-monetary available for sale financial
assets (such as equity instruments)
the fair value movements recognised
in equity include any related foreign
exchange component. On derecognition
the cumulative fair value gain or loss
previously recognised directly in equity
is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.
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The Group assesses at the end of
each reporting period whether there
is objective evidence that available for
sale financial assets are impaired. For
debt securities, the Group assesses if
any impairment indicators exist such
as significant financial difficulties of the
issuer or obligor, breach of contract (such
as a default of delinquency in interest
or principal payments), disappearance
of an active market for the asset, or it
becomes probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation. In the case of equity
investments, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security
below its cost is also evidence that
the assets are impaired. If any such
evidence exists for available for sale
financial assets, the cumulative loss –
measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that
financial asset previously recognised in
profit or loss – is removed from equity
and recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income. Impairment
losses recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income on equity
instruments are not reversed through the
statement of comprehensive income.
If, in a subsequent period the fair value of
a debt instrument classified as available
for sale increases and the increase can be
objectively related to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised
in profit or loss, the impairment loss
is reversed through the statement of
comprehensive income.
Purchases and sales of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, and
available for sale are recognised on
trade-date – the date on which the Parent
or Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset. Loans are recognised when
cash is advanced to the borrowers.

Financial assets are derecognised when the
rights to receive cash flows from the financial
assets have expired or where the Parent or
Group has transferred substantially all risks
and rewards of ownership. The fair values
of quoted investments in active markets are
based on current bid prices. If the market
for a financial asset is not active (and for
unlisted securities), fair value is established
by using valuation techniques. These include
the use of recent arm’s length transactions,
discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing
models and other valuation techniques
commonly used by market participants.
asset Quality
Impaired assets consist of assets acquired
through the enforcement of security and
other impaired assets. Assets acquired
through security enforcement are those
assets (primarily real estate) acquired
through actual foreclosure or in full or partial
satisfaction of a debt. Other impaired assets
refer to any credit exposure for which an
impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with NZ IAS 39 – Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement.
A 90 day past due asset is any loan which has
not been operated by the borrower within its
key terms for at least 90 days and which is
not an impaired asset. Although not classified
as impaired assets or past due assets, assets
in which the counter-party is in receivership,
liquidation, bankruptcy, statutory
management or any form of administration
are reported separately. These are classified
as “other assets under administration”.
Financial liabilities
The Parent and Group classifies their
financial liabilities as either fair value
through profit or loss or at amortised cost.
Financial liabilities held for trading and
financial liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss are recorded at fair
value with any realised and unrealised gains
or losses recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income. Transactions costs
are expensed as they are incurred.
Other financial liabilities are recognised
initially at fair value less transaction costs
and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method.
Amortisation and foreign exchange gains and
losses, are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income as is any gain or loss
when the liability is derecognised.
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Derivative Financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are
recognised at fair value as either financial
assets or financial liabilities. Derivatives
that do not qualify for hedge accounting
are classified as held for trading financial
instruments with fair value gains or
losses recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.
hedge accounting
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair
value on the date a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. For derivatives
designated as hedging instruments the
method of recognising the resulting gain or
loss depends on whether the derivative is
designated as a hedging instruments, and if
so, the nature of the item being hedged.
The Group designates certain derivatives as
either:
• Hedges of fair value of recognised asset or
liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value
hedge);
• Hedges of particular risk associated with
a recognised asset or liability or a highly
probably forecast transaction (cash flow
hedge); or
• Hedges of a net investment in a foreign
operation (net investment hedge).
Derivatives that are designated as hedging
instruments in a hedging relationship that
qualifies for hedge accounting are accounted
for as follows:
(a) Fair Value Hedges – gains or losses
are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income within other
income. The carrying amount of the
hedged item is adjusted by the gain or
loss on the hedged item in respect of the
risk being hedged, with this gain or loss
also being recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income. The Group
applies fair value hedge accounting for
hedging fixed interest risk on borrowings.
Any gain or loss relating to any ineffective
portion of the hedge is recognised
in the statement of comprehensive
income within other income.
(b) Cash Flow Hedges – the portion of
the gain or loss determined as being
effective is recognised directly in
equity, with any ineffective portion
of the gain or loss being recognised
in the statement of comprehensive
income within other income.

(c) Hedges of a Net Investment – the
portion of the gain or loss determined
as being effective is recognised directly
in equity, with any ineffective portion
of the gain or loss being recognised
in the statement of comprehensive
income within other income.
Gains or losses recognised directly in
equity are transferred to the statement
of comprehensive income in the same
periods as when the hedged item affects the
statement of comprehensive income.
Financial assets and financial liabilities
are recorded as current assets and current
liabilities except if they mature, or are
expected to be realised, more than 12 months
from balance date.
Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and trading and available for sale
securities) is based on quoted market prices
at the reporting date. The quoted market
price used for financial assets held by the
Parent and Group is the current bid price; the
appropriate quoted market price for financial
liabilities is the current ask price.
The fair value of financial instruments
that are not traded in an active market (for
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined by using valuation techniques.
The Parent and Group use a variety of
methods and make assumptions that are
based on market conditions existing at
each balance date. Quoted market prices or
dealer quotes for similar instruments are
used for long-term debt. Other techniques,
such as estimated discounted cash flows,
are used to determine fair value for the
remaining financial instruments. The fair
value of interest-rate swaps is calculated
as the present value of the estimated
future cash flows. The fair value of forward
foreign exchange contracts is determined
using forward exchange market rates at the
reporting date.
The nominal value less estimated credit
adjustments of trade receivables and
payables approximate their fair values. The
fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure
purposes is estimated by discounting the
future contractual cash flows at the current
market interest rate that is available to
the Parent and Group for similar financial
instruments.
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Offsetting Financial instruments

Property, Plant and Equipment

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
offset and the net amount reported in the
statement of financial position when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Property, plant and equipment other than
land and buildings are recorded at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)
The statements of comprehensive income
and the statements of cash flows have been
prepared so that all components are stated
exclusive of GST, except where GST is not
recoverable. All items in the statement of
financial position are stated net of GST with
the exception of receivables and payables,
which include GST invoiced.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on
hand, cash in transit, bank accounts and
deposits that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts and inter-bank balances arising
from the daily RBNZ (Reserve Bank of New
Zealand) settlement process.

Trade Receivables
Trade receivables are initially recognised
at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method, less any provision for
impairment. A provision for impairment is
established when there is objective evidence
that the Parent or Group will not be able
to collect all amounts due according to
the original terms of the receivables. The
amount of the provision is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the effective interest rate. Any
movement in the provision is recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income.

Inventories
Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost is determined
on a first-in-first-out basis. The cost of
inventories comprises design costs, raw
materials, direct labour, other direct costs
and related production overheads. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less
applicable variable selling expenses.

Land and buildings are initially recorded at
cost, and subsequently are recorded at fair
value, as determined by an independent
valuer, less any impairment losses and
accumulated depreciation (for buildings)
since the assets were last revalued. Land
and buildings are valued annually at balance
date. To the extent that any revaluation
gain reverses a loss previously charged to
the statement of comprehensive income
for the asset item, the gain is credited to
the statement of comprehensive income.
Otherwise, revaluation gains are credited
to a revaluation reserve for the asset.
To the extent that any revaluation loss
reverses a gain previously credited to an
asset revaluation reserve for the asset
item, the loss is debited to the asset
revaluation reserve. Otherwise, revaluation
losses are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income. On revaluation any
accumulated depreciation is eliminated
against the gross carrying amount of the
asset. Each year the difference between
depreciation based on the revalued amount
of the asset charged to the statement of
comprehensive income and depreciation
based on the asset’s original cost is
transferred from the asset revaluation
reserve to retained earnings.
The cost of purchased property, plant and
equipment is the value of the consideration
given to acquire the assets and the value of
other directly attributable costs which have
been incurred in bringing the assets to the
location and condition necessary for their
intended use. Costs cease to be capitalised as
soon as the asset is ready for productive use.
Any realised gains or losses arising from
disposal of property, plant and equipment
are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income. Any balance in an
asset revaluation reserve attributable to the
disposed asset is transferred to retained
earnings at the time of disposal.
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Depreciation
Depreciation is charged on a straight-line
basis at rates that will allocate the cost
or valuation of items of property, plant
and equipment (except land, which is not
depreciated), less any estimated residual
values, over their estimated useful life.
The useful lives of the major classes of
property, plant and equipment have been
estimated as follows:
Buildings

25-50 years

Plant and equipment

8-10 years

Motor vehicles

5-10 years

Computers, office equipment

2-5 years

Furniture and fittings

10 years

Aircraft

1-10 years

Investment Property
Investment properties are measured at fair
value, as determined by an independent
valuer. The basis of fair value is market value.
Fair value gains or losses are recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income.

Assets Held for Sale
Assets held for sale are recognised at the
lower of net book value transferred from
property, plant and equipment and fair value
less costs to sell.
Investments held for disposal are stated at
the lower of carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell.

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are recorded at cost
less any accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. The cost
of identifiable intangible assets acquired in
a business combination is their fair value at
date of acquisition.
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are
amortised on a straight-line basis over the
useful life of the asset, with any amortisation
charge being recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income. Assets with indefinite
useful lives are not amortised, but are tested
at least annually for impairment.

Realised gains and losses arising from
disposal of intangible assets are recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income in
the period in which the transaction occurs.
goodwill
The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-byacquisition basis, either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share
of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. Goodwill is initially
measured as the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred and the
amount of any non-controlling interest over
the net identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If this consideration is
lower than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is
recognised in profit or loss.
Purchased goodwill is recognised as an
asset at cost and tested for impairment
at least annually and whenever there are
indicators of impairment. Goodwill on
acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses
is included in intangible assets. Goodwill
on acquisitions of associates is included in
investments in associates. For the purposes
of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to cash-generating units. Any impairment is
recognised as an expense in the statement of
comprehensive income. Impairment losses
on goodwill are not reversed. Internally
generated goodwill is not recognised on the
statement of financial position.
computer software
Acquired computer software licences are
capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred
to acquire and bring the asset to use. These
costs are amortised over the estimated
useful lives of the licences (being 3 to 5
years). Developed software assets expected
to generate net economic benefits beyond
12 months are recognised as intangible
assets. The cost of developed software assets
includes the cost of all materials used in
construction, direct labour on the project,
and an appropriate proportion of variable
and fixed overheads. Developed software
intangible assets are amortised over their
estimated useful lives (being 3 to 5 years).
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acquired customer relationships
Acquired customer relationships that
are expected to generate net economic
benefits beyond 12 months are recognised
as intangible assets. Acquired customer
relationships have finite lives and are
amortised to the statement of comprehensive
income on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives which is currently
between 10 and 20 years.

Impairment
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
(including goodwill) and intangible assets
not yet available for use (software under
development) are impairment tested at least
annually at balance date, and whenever
there are indicators of impairment. Where
the asset’s recoverable amount is less
than its carrying amount an impairment
loss is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income for the difference.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use.
The carrying amounts of other assets,
including intangible assets with finite
useful lives, are reviewed at least annually
to determine if there is any indication of
impairment. Where such an indication exists
the asset is impairment tested, with any
impairment losses being recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income, except
where the asset is carried at a revalued
amount in which case any impairment loss
is recognised in the same way as revaluation
losses. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units).

Taxation
Income tax expense includes both the current
year’s provision for current tax and the
income tax effect of temporary differences
(deferred tax), calculated using the liability
method. Tax is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The current income tax charge is calculated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation
is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis
of amounts expected to be aid to the tax
authorities.
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using
the liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. The
deferred income tax is not accounted for if
it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction, other than a
business combination, that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantially enacted
by the reporting date and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred tax liability
is settled.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary difference can be utilised.
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Parent or
Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Trade Payables
Trade payables are initially recognised at
fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method.
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Employee Benefits
employee entitlements
Employee entitlements to salaries and
wages, annual leave, long service leave,
retiring leave and other similar benefits
are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income when they accrue
to employees. Employee entitlements to be
settled within 12 months are reported at the
amount expected to be paid. The liability for
long-term employee entitlements is reported
as the present value of the estimated future
cash outflows. Leave entitlements which can
be carried forward (ie. sick leave), but are
unused at balance date, are accrued based
on the additional cost expected to be paid as a
result of the accumulated balance.
pension liabilities
Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans are recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income as
they fall due.
termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income only
when there is a demonstrable commitment
to either terminate employment prior to
normal retirement date or to provide such
benefits as a result of an offer to encourage
voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits
to be settled within 12 months are reported
at the amount expected to be paid, otherwise
they are reported at the present value of the
estimated future cash outflows.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when there is a
present legal or constructive obligation as
a result of past events; it is more likely than
not that an outflow of economic resources
will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount can be reliably estimated.
Provisions are measured at the present
value of management’s best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the reporting date. The discount
rate used to determine the present value
reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to
the liability.

Repurchase and Reverse
Repurchase Agreements
Securities sold under agreements to
repurchase are retained within the relevant
financial asset category and accounted for
accordingly. Liability accounts are used
to record the obligation to repurchase.
The difference between the sale and
repurchase price represents interest expense
and is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income over the term of the
repurchase agreement. Securities held under
reverse repurchase agreements are recorded
as receivables. The difference between the
purchase and sale price represents interest
income and is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income over the term of the
reverse repurchase agreement.

Deferred Settlement Liabilities
Deferred settlement liabilities are recognised
in the statement of financial position at fair
value and are determined by discounting
the expected future cash flows at a rate
that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and, where
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
Changes in the fair value, other than the
imputed interest, of a deferred settlement
liability in a business combination pre 1
July 2009 are charged to goodwill where
settlement is contingent. For business
combinations post 1 July 2009, changes in
fair value are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value, net of transaction costs incurred.
Borrowings are subsequently stated
at amortised cost, except where such
borrowings are part of a documented
fair value hedge. Any difference between
the proceeds and the redemption
value is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest rate
method. The carrying value of borrowings
which are part of a documented fair value
hedge, are adjusted by the change in the
fair value of the borrowing attributable to
the hedged risk. Any adjustment to carrying
value is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.
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Leases

Statement of Cash Flows

Finance leases

The following are the definitions of the terms
used in the statement of cash flows:

Finance leases transfer to the lessee
substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to the ownership of a leased asset.
Initial recognition of a finance lease results
in an asset and liability being recognised
at amounts equal to the lower of the fair
value of the leased property or the present
value of the minimum lease payments. The
capitalised values are amortised over the
period in which the lessee expects to receive
benefits from their use.
Operating leases
Payments made under operating leases,
where the lessor substantially retains
the risks and rewards of ownership,
are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income in a systematic
manner over the term of the lease. Leasehold
improvements are capitalised and the cost
is amortised over the unexpired period of
the lease or the estimated useful life of the
improvements, whichever is shorter. Lease
incentives received are recognised evenly
over the term of the lease as a reduction in
rental expense.

Contingent Assets and Contingent
Liabilities
Contingent assets are disclosed in the notes
only if it is probable that the benefit will be
realised. Contingent liabilities are disclosed
in the notes unless likelihood of an outflow of
resources is remote.

Equity
Ordinary shares and perpetual preference
shares are recognised in the statements
of financial position at the amount of
consideration received, net of issue costs.

Dividends Paid
Dividends distributed to the shareholders are
recognised as a liability in the statements of
financial position in the period in which the
dividends are approved.

(a) Cash is considered to be cash on hand,
cash in transit, bank accounts and
deposits readily convertible to cash.
(b) Investing activities are those relating
to the acquisition, holding and disposal
of property, plant and equipment and
of investments not falling within the
definition of cash.
(c) Financing activities are those activities
which result in changes in the size and
composition of the capital structure of the
Parent and Group. This includes equity,
and debt not falling within the definition
of cash. Financing activities also include
dividends paid in relation to the capital
structure.
(d) Operating activities include all
transactions and other events that are not
investing or financing activities.

Comparative Figures
With the exception of Note 21: Segment
Reporting, there have been no material
changes to comparative figures.

Critical Accounting Judgements,
Estimates and Assumptions
The preparation of financial statements
in conformity with NZ IFRS requires
judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Actual results may
differ from these estimates. The estimates
and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
The judgements, estimates and assumptions
that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below.
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Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred
and the amount of any non-controlling
interest over the net identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. The
determination of the fair value of assets
and liabilities requires the exercise
of management judgement. Different
determinations of fair values would result in
changes to the goodwill recognised.
Goodwill is tested for impairment at least
annually. In assessing any impairment
goodwill is allocated to cash-generating
units (CGUs), and the carrying value of the
CGU is compared to its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of the
CGU’s fair value, less cost to sell, and its
value-in-use. Value-in-use is the present
value of expected future cash flows from the
CGU. Fair value is the amount obtainable
for the sale of the CGU in an arm’s length
transaction between knowledgeable, willing
parties. The Group has made judgements
about the future profitability of the CGUs and
the appropriate discount rate for assessing
value-in-use. Refer to note 12.

Kiwibank Fair Value Estimation
The nominal value less estimated credit
adjustments of trade receivables and
payables are assumed to approximate their
fair values.
The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, trading and available-for-sale
securities) is based on quoted market
prices at the end of reporting period date or
determined using market accepted valuation
models as appropriate (including discounted
cash flow models) based on observable
market quotes. The quoted market price used
for financial assets held is the current bid
price; the appropriate quoted market price for
financial liabilities is the current ask price.
The fair value of financial instruments that
are not quoted in an active market, including
Kiwibank’s retail fixed rate loan portfolio
originated prior to 1 January 2008, and
over-the-counter derivatives, is determined
by using valuation techniques. The Banking
Group uses a variety of methods and makes
assumptions that are based on market
conditions existing at each reporting date.

The fair value of Kiwibank’s retail fixed
rate loan portfolio originated prior to 1
January 2008 is determined by discounting
estimated cash flows expected to be received.
Expected cash flows are after allowance for
amortisation and are discounted at current
market rates including an adjustment
for credit risk. An amortisation rate of
3.45% is applied (30 June 2011: 3.3%).
Only scheduled repayments or contractual
lump sum repayments are taken into
account in calculating the amortisation
rate. Prepayment risk associated
with unscheduled repayments or loan
terminations have been disregarded as
application of Kiwibank’s break fees ensures
that no mark-to-market impact needs to be
considered. The curve against which each
loan is discounted is constructed using the
end of period NZ Wholesale curve as the
benchmark rate to develop a zero curve
which is then adjusted by an assessed market
credit spread component.
Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for
similar instruments are used for long-term
debt. Other techniques, such as estimated
discounted cash flows, are used to determine
fair value for the remaining financial
instruments.
Asset backed securities not traded in active
markets are valued using observable external
third party inputs.
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Kiwibank Impairment Losses on
Loans and Advances not Held at Fair
Value Through Profit or Loss
Loan portfolios are assessed for impairment
on at least a quarterly basis. In determining
whether an impairment loss should be
recorded in the statement of comprehensive
income, judgements are made as to whether
there is any observable data indicating
that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows from a portfolio
of loans before the decrease can be identified
with an individual loan in that portfolio.
This evidence may include observable data
indicating that there has been an adverse
change in the payment status of borrowers
in a group, or national or local economic
conditions that correlate with defaults on
assets in the group. Management uses
estimates based on historical loss experience
for assets with credit risk characteristics
and objective evidence of impairment similar
to those in the portfolio when scheduling
its future cash flows. The methodology and
assumptions used for estimating both the
amount and timing of future cash flows are
reviewed regularly to reduce any differences
between loss estimates and actual loss
experience.
Credit provisioning includes $25m (30 June
2011: $25m) in relation to the Canterbury
earthquake of 22 February 2011. This amount
reflects management’s best estimate of
losses that may arise due to this natural
disaster.
The total provision comprises a specific
impairment and collective impairment
provision. Specific provisions have been
raised where objective evidence of
impairment exists. If no objective evidence
of impairment exists exposures are
included in a group of financial assets (retail
lending and business banking lending)
and collectively assessed for impairment.
Collective impairment calculations have been
determined by a systematic provisioning
model simulating management’s micro
and macro economic assumptions.
Key assumptions include geographical
concentration risk, personal savings levels,
unemployment levels, property price
discounts and insurance recoveries.

Capital requirements for the ‘other material
risks’ covers risks associated with earnings,
funding and credit lending. Total capital
requirement (Pillar II) includes a capital
allocation of $30m for unexpected losses
arising from the 22 February 2011 Canterbury
earthquake. Given the uncertainty of
outcomes, the actual losses incurred may
differ from the provision currently recognised
within the statement of financial position
based upon changes in assumptions resulting
from future events.
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1. revenue and other income
GrOuP
Note

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

866,758

889,986

648,043

674,162

65,864

77,874

52,440

47,031

rEvENuE frOm OPEraTIONS

Delivery of services
Sale of goods
Rental income – properties held for sale
Rental income – investment properties
Banking interest revenue (net)
Banking and lending fee revenue
Banking commission fees
TOTal rEvENuE frOm OPEraTIONS

–

194

–

194

905

2,702

905

2,702

256,941

191,687

–

–

94,329

86,059

–

–

24,576

18,351

–

–

1,309,373

1,266,853

701,388

724,089

OThEr INcOmE / (lOSSES)
(738)

Financial instruments at fair value net gain/(loss)

16,227

(5,432)

42

–

–

7,851

13,272

Revaluation of land and buildings

115

350

115

350

Revaluation of investment property

266

–

266

–

2

3

2

3

16,580

2,802

13,667

17,685

45,883

–

–

720,569

672,503

–

–

Dividends from associates and jointly controlled entities

13

Other dividends received
TOTal OThEr INcOmE / (lOSSES)

(355)

NET baNkING INTErEST rEvENuE
BANKING INTEREST REVENUE

– Loans and advances at fair value through profit or loss
– Loans and advances at amortised cost
– Government and local authority securities
– Other securities
– Cash and liquid assets
– Income from impaired assets
tOtal banking interest revenue

29,639
(690)

29,879

–

–

(36,708)

–

–

4,240

4,257

–

–

961

4,389

–

–

772,404

720,203

–

–

417,321

440,130

–

–

BANKING INTEREST ExPENSE

– Deposits by customers

98,142

88,386

–

–

tOtal banking interest expense

515,463

528,516

–

–

NET baNkING INTErEST rEvENuE

256,941

191,687

–

–

– Debt securities issued

Comparative balances for interest on loans and advances and other securities have been presented on a consistent basis with the
current year presentation. The change in classification primarily relates to certain business markets interest now presented in loans
and advances at amortised cost.
fINaNcIal INSTrumENTS aT faIr valuE NET GaIN/(lOSS)

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition

(9,795)

(12,607)

Derivative financial instruments

7,670

22,012

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial
recognition

(155)

(41)

–
(5,432)
–

–
42
–

3,065

6,290

–

–

Net ineffectiveness on qualifying cash flow hedges

266

135

–

–

Net ineffectiveness on qualifying fair value hedges

(288)

Cumulative gain/(loss) transferred from the available for sale reserve

841

Financial assets held for trading

Cumulative loss transferred from the cash flow hedge reserve
Net foreign exchange gains
TOTal fINaNcIal INSTrumENTS aT faIr valuE NET GaIN/(lOSS)

(2,526)
184
(738)

180

–

–

5,958

–

–

(5,700)

–

–

–

–

–

16,227

(5,432)

42
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2. expenditure
GrOuP
2012
$'000

Cost of goods and services sold
Delivery costs

ParENT
2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

96,946

93,790

36,718

35,331

171,071

175,700

167,194

175,604

3,299

2,934

3,299

2,934

355

367

345

364

9,254

6,088

7,381

5,399

503

292

149

212

dEPrEcIaTION

– Buildings
– Motor vehicles
– Furniture and fittings
– Office equipment
– Computer equipment

14,913

13,187

4,653

5,396

– Plant and equipment

9,902

13,473

5,568

6,060

– Aircraft
tOtal DepreciatiOn

1,798

3,852

–

–

40,024

40,193

21,395

20,365

33,020

28,931

12,668

11,103

–

510

–

–

2,442

1,726

–

–

amOrTISaTION

– Computer software
– Acquired customer contracts
– Acquired customer relationships

68

–

–

–

1,001

913

1,001

907

36,531

32,080

13,669

12,010

4,552

12,492

297

493

– Inventories

–

1,352

–

508

– Investment properties

–

445

–

445

7

2,229

2,695

2,055

4,897

–

–

–

– Other intangible assets
– Deferred expenditure
tOtal amOrtisatiOn

Bad debt expense
ImPaIrmENT

– Property, plant and equipment
– Software

3,577

–

–

–

–

3,520

33,558

– Loans

1,579

34,801

13,270

5,800

– Goodwill

1,270

6,268

–

–

– Aircraft
– Investments

(402)

–

1,613

–

–

– Banking loans and advances

35,160

78,982

–

–

tOtal impairment

42,511

129,267

19,485

42,366

– Acquired customer contracts
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2. expenditure (continued)
GrOuP

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

Property operating lease and rental costs

35,683

45,263

28,619

39,638

Other operating lease and rental costs

10,519

14,643

3,616

7,406

286

60

286

60

32

75

28

75

Salaries and wages

492,848

497,210

297,454

296,422

Restructuring costs

1,690

11,075

691

9,534

20,874

20,902

13,725

14,362

2,221

1,962

821

776

878

1,073

514

689

99

180

35

141

Sponsorships

3,637

2,791

3,014

2,485

Foreign exchange net loss/(gain)

(1,110)

Sale of assets net (gain)/ loss

3,937

8,013

1,922

2,261

–

–

2,942

449

Computer Expenses

52,186

48,067

32,211

31,106

Marketing Expenses

27,140

29,473

9,792

12,917

Property operational outgoings

22,383

20,461

18,761

18,225

3,600

2,303

–

2,303

Repairs and maintenance – investment properties
Research and development costs

Superannuation – defined contribution plans
Fees paid to auditors
Director fees
Donations

Subvention payments

Uncalled capital line fee
Other expenditure
tOtal expenDiture

(380)

(292)

188

154,988

110,471

62,177

52,575

1,223,526

1,297,164

735,074

777,781

During the prior year, the Group paid net $11.3m as a final settlement for the "earn-out" related to the sale of its wholly owned
subsidiary, NZP Australia Pty Limited ("NZPA") to Parcel Direct Group Pty Limited in 2008.
FEES PAID TO AUDITORS

The auditor of the Parent and Group is PricewaterhouseCoopers, on behalf of the Auditor-General
AMOUNTS PAID OR PAYABLE TO PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS

– Audit of the financial statements

1,751

1,605

606

587

– Assurance and related services

161

154

–

32

– Tax compliance

72

79

32

60

– Half year agreed upon procedures review

75

–

75

–

– Other services
tOtal services

162

124

108

97

2,221

1,962

821

776

Assurance and related services fees in the current year primarily relate to Kiwibank off-quarter general disclosure statements
(year-ended 30 June 2011: off-quarter general disclosure statements).
Tax compliance fees relate to tax return reviews.
Other services fees relate to taxation advice concerning GST, financial arrangements and debt write offs and accounting advice
related to covered bonds (year-ended 30 June 2011 – taxation advice concerning the New Zealand Post Group GST treatment,
assistance with developing a carbon reporting framework, and valuation of the New Zealand Post Group for Crown reporting
purposes).
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3. Finance costs (net)
GrOuP
2012
$'000

Discount / (unwind) on deferred net settlement
Interest expense
Interest revenue
tOtal Finance cOsts (net)

ParENT
2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

(97)

36

(97)

36

(24,003)

(18,557)

(24,313)

(18,124)

9,522

8,899

14,163

10,295

(14,578)

(9,622)

(10,247)

(7,793)

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

190,107

(34,625)

(14,281)

(47,818)

53,230

(10,388)

(3,999)

(14,345)

(4,644)

3,382

4. Income tax
GrOuP
2012
$'000

Profit/(loss) before income tax
Tax at 28% (2011: 30%)

ParENT

NON-ASSESSABLE REVENUE

– share of net (profit) / loss of associates and jointly controlled entities
– dividends received
– gain on sale of assets
– gain on sale of investments
– other revenue

–

–

–

(73)

–
(2,198)
–

–
(3,983)
(73)

(28,730)

–

(7,518)

–

(1,848)

(256)

(111)

(8)

NON-DEDUCTIBLE ExPENDITURE

– impairment of investments

–

–

4,701

10,067

– impairment of goodwill

–

1,880

–

–

3,602

5,236

1,147

2,279

109

603

29

12

(409)

(616)

(409)

(616)

(1,187)

(427)

(2,223)

(434)

– other expenditure
OTHER ADJUSTMENTS

– deferred tax adjustments
– Impact of early adoption of NZ IAS 12 Revised
– prior year adjustment
– impact of change in corporate tax rate

203

1,676

104

85

–

20,411

1,017

(10,477)

(6,896)

– Current tax

23,908

21,023

(8,846)

(6,104)

– Prior year adjustment

(1,187)

(427)

(2,223)

(434)

(97)

1,664

(275)

(399)

– Deferred tax

(2,213)

(21,243)

tOtal incOme tax expense/(creDit)

20,411

– Australian tax rate adjustment
INcOmE Tax ExPENSE/(crEdIT)

–

205
–

Comprising:

– Deferred tax adjustments

867

41

1,017

(10,477)

(6,896)

3,172

1,926

4,161

6,772

(23,908)

(21,023)

8,846

6,104

TAxATION (PAYABLE)/RECEIVABLE

Balance at beginning of the year
Tax on current year profit
Prior year adjustment

(1,681)

Payments / (refunds)

19,115

Withholding tax credits
Provision for FVTPL
Transfers from deferred tax
Acquisitions/disposals/amalgamations
Other adjustments
balance at enD OF the year

108
(1,777)
80
(2,324)

(239)

(580)

232

23,562

(4,596)

(9,013)

68

3

68

(1,060)

–

–

–

–

–

–

206

–

(24)

(62)

–

(2)

(7,239)

3,172

8,039

4,161

68
New Zealand Post Group
Annual Report 2012

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2012

4. Income tax (continued)
GrOuP
2012
$'000

ParENT
2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

dEfErrEd Tax aSSET/(lIabIlITy)
17,531

629

(21,522)

(22,220)

Tax on current year profit

2,213

21,243

(867)

(41)

Revaluation of properties recognised in equity

3,019

(521)

3,019

(521)

Prior year adjustment

1,882

129

1,566

165

Deferred tax on cash flow hedge reserve

(5,243)

(1,678)

706

694

(116)

(2,841)

(104)

(205)

(5,433)

–

Balance at beginning of the year

Impact of change in corporate tax rate
GMI Intangibles

–

–

Transfers to current tax

(80)

–

–

–

Disposals of properties

(29)

(10)

(29)

(10)

Acquisitions/(disposals)
Impact of early adoption of NZ IAS 12 (Revised)
Other adjustments
balance at enD OF the year

1,368

–

–

–

409

616

409

616

1,275

(36)

16,796

17,531

(15,586)

1,236

(21,522)

12,605

17,923

2,399

1,692

–

Comprising:
dEfErrEd Tax aSSETS
CHANGES THROUGH EqUITY:

– Cash flow hedges
CHANGES THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS:

– Assets held for sale

–

–

–

–

– Loans at fair value through profit or loss

9

75

–

–

25,998

25,393

–

–

1,565

87

–

1,373

–

–

504

729

–

–

– Provision for loan impairment
– Commissions receivable
– Other deferred tax assets
– Aircraft revaluations
– Provisions

15,704

13,854

10,274

11,972

tOtal DeFerreD tax assets

56,385

59,434

12,673

13,664

8,346

11,365

8,346

11,365

393

216

393

216

dEfErrEd Tax lIabIlITIES
CHANGES THROUGH EqUITY:

– Revalued land and buildings
CHANGES THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS:

– Investment properties

–

–

–

–

5,756

–

–

–

16,454

21,525

17,067

20,280

8,289

8,797

2,453

3,325

tOtal DeFerreD tax liabilities

39,238

41,903

28,259

35,186

net DeFerreD tax asset / (liability)

17,147

17,531

(15,586)

(21,522)

Expected to be recovered after 12 months

(33,785)

(33,737)

(24,355)

(30,465)

Expected to be recovered within 12 months

50,932

51,268

8,769

8,943

222,418

201,920

221,423

200,479

– Commissions receivable
– Intangible assets
– Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
– Amortisation on software assets

Imputation Credits available for use in the future

There are no material unrecognised income tax losses or temporary differences carried forward.
There are no material unrecognised temporary differences associated with the Group's investments in subsidiaries, associates or
jointly controlled entities.
In May 2010, legislation was passed to reduce the New Zealand corporate tax rate from 30% to 28% effective for the 2012 income tax year.
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5. equity
GrOuP
2012
$'000

ParENT
2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

OrdINary SharE caPITal

Balance at the beginning of the year

192,200

192,200

192,200

192,200

balance at the enD OF the year

192,200

192,200

192,200

192,200

At 30 June 2012 there were 492.2m authorised ordinary shares on issue (30 June 2011: 492.2m). 192.2m are fully paid (30 June
2011: 192.2m). The shares have no par value. All shares have equal voting rights and share equally in dividends and surplus on
winding up. During the prior year the Group received from the Government an uncalled capital facility of $300m on commercial
terms which can be drawn on in response to a significant unforeseen event.
A final dividend for 2011 of $270k was paid to shareholders in September 2011 ($0.004 per fully paid share).
An interim dividend of $2.5m was paid to shareholders in March 2012 at $0.01 per fully paid share (2011: Interim Dividend $0.01 per
fully paid share).
NON‑cONTrOllING INTErEST

Balance at the beginning of the year
Transaction with non-controlling interest in Kiwi Asset Finance Limited
balance at the enD OF the year

146,639

146,639

(794)
145,845

–

–

–

–

–

146,639

–

–

There are $150m perpetual callable non-cumulative preference shares issued for cash at $1 per share by Kiwi Capital Securities
Limited. All shares were fully paid as at balance date. The perpetual preference shares are non-redeemable and carry no voting
rights. Dividends are paid quarterly in arrears at the discretion of the directors. The costs associated with this share issue have been
netted against the perpetual preference share capital in the statement of financial position.
PrOPErTy rEvaluaTION rESErvES

The property revaluation reserves are used to record increments and decrements in the fair value of land and buildings to the extent
that they offset for each asset.
avaIlablE fOr SalE rESErvE

The available for sale reserve records movements in the fair value of available for sale financial assets.
caSh flOw hEdGE rESErvE

The cash flow hedge reserve records the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that is determined
to be an effective hedge.
fOrEIGN currENcy TraNSlaTION rESErvE

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries where their functional currency differs from the Group's presentation currency.
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6. Cash and cash equivalents
GrOuP

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

Cash on hand

9,588

8,245

9,582

8,245

Cash at bank

144,280

53,837

87,081

33,678

Deposits at call
TOTal caSh aNd caSh EquIvalENTS

1,003

112,500

–

112,500

154,871

174,582

96,663

154,423

16,700

7,500

16,700

7,500

BALANCES NOT AVAILABLE FOR USE BY THE GROUP:

Cash held on behalf of agencies

7. trade and other receivables
GrOuP
Note

Trade receivables

Interest receivable
TOTal TradE aNd OThEr rEcEIvablES

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

220,492

132,107

112,314

93,156

5,256

Trailing commissions receivable
Receivables from related parties

2012
$'000
(411)

Provision for impairment

15

ParENT

(3,950)
7,390

(110)

(3,880)

–

–

2,481

2,091

2,465

2,077

864

17,690

7,088

8,201

228,682

155,328

121,757

99,554

222,448

138,948

115,523

83,174

Comprising:
– Current trade and other receivables
– Non-current trade and other receivables
tOtal traDe anD Other receivables

6,234

16,380

6,234

16,380

228,682

155,328

121,757

99,554

Impaired receivables mainly relate to receivables older than 90 days outstanding based upon the expectation of non-recovery of
such debtors, as well as receivables that have been referred to a third party debt collector, or where a customer has entered into
liquidation or bankruptcy proceedings.
TradE rEcEIvablES PaST duE buT NOT ImPaIrEd
21,739

17,752

42

307

Past due 31-60 days

8,252

3,213

107

772

Past due 61-90 days

1,252

1,115

–

574

Past due > 90 days

1,733

306

–

208

32,976

22,386

149

1,861

Past due up to 30 days

TOTal

There is no collateral held over past due trade receivables.
ImPaIrEd aSSETS – TradE rEcEIvablES

The breakdown of the gross amount of individually impaired trade receivables is as follows:
GROSS IMPAIRED

Balance at the beginning of the year

(3,950)

(4,085)

(3,880)

(4,009)

Utilisation of provision

3,950

4,085

3,880

4,009

Additional provision

(411)

(3,950)

(110)

(3,880)

balance at the enD OF the year

(411)

(3,950)

(110)

(3,880)

The above trade receivables have been impaired as their recovery has been assessed as being unlikely. There are no other classes
of impaired assets, except as disclosed in Note 27.
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8. Inventory
GrOuP

Raw materials/supplies
Work in progress
Finished goods
TOTal INvENTOry

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2,989

6,074

1,116

976

53

2,715

53

2,715

9,540

6,902

6,061

6,352

12,582

15,691

7,230

10,043

9. assets held for sale
Assets held for sale consist of all land and building assets that the Board has agreed to sell, and that are actively being marketed for
sale as at 30 June 2012. All properties are expected to be sold within 12 months of balance date. During the year no properties were
transferred to assets held for sale.
During the prior year, two properties with a carrying value of $3.6m were transferred from investment properties and property, plant
and equipment into this category.
As at 30 June 2012 no properties were sold. (In the prior year, two properties classified as intended for sale as at 30 June 2010, were
sold realising a net gain on sale of $0.3m).
Properties held for sale are included in the other operating segment assets balance.

10. Investment properties
GrOuP

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

Balance at the beginning of the year

9,470

Additions

4,709

Net revaluation
Transfers to property, plant and equipment
Transfers to assets held for sale
balance at the enD OF the year

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

30,486

9,470

30,486

3,575

4,709

3,575

266

(445)

266

(445)

–

(22,946)

–

(22,946)

–

(1,200)

–

(1,200)

14,445

9,470

14,445

9,470

Land and buildings are classified as investment property when:
• all of the space is occupied by external tenants; or
• there is a mixture of internal and external tenancies but the Group tenants occupy an insignificant portion of the total space,
and there is no clear intention for this to change in the future.
The above criteria is applied to each separable portion of a building, hence can result in part of a building being classified as
investment property, and part being recognised as property, plant and equipment.
During the prior year no properties were transferred to Property, Plant and Equipment. (In the prior year, the New Zealand Post
Group increased its occupancy of its head office building which resulted in a transfer from Investment properties to Properties,
Plant and Equipment).
All investment properties were independently valued at 30 June 2012 by Bayleys Valuations Limited (30 June 2011 by Darroch
Limited), associates of the New Zealand Institute of Valuers. Investment Properties have been valued in accordance with NZ IAS 40.
The valuation process complied with the New Zealand Property Institute Practice Standards. Valuations have been completed at
fair value. The valuations are based on current occupancy arrangements and property operating expenses, and the state of the
New Zealand property market in general as well as the sub-markets into which the properties fall. Where vacant space exists it has
been rentalised at a market level and added to actual lease rentals. Valuation techniques have been used as there are no binding
sale and purchase agreements on these properties, and there are no recent comparable sales.
There are no restrictions on realisability, remittance of income or proceeds on disposal.
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11. Property, plant and equipment
GrOuP
2012
$'000

ParENT
2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

Land

80,066

83,079

80,066

83,079

Buildings

93,618

109,805

93,618

109,805

Motor vehicles
Furniture and fittings

3,260

1,113

960

1,109

52,870

52,330

41,675

44,666

2,683

1,913

198

346

Computer equipment

17,327

22,914

4,295

6,684

Plant and equipment

55,057

50,528

24,356

31,267

3,410

3,067

–

–

Office equipment

Aircraft

6,823

16,351

4,970

5,027

315,114

341,100

250,138

281,983

Fair value at the beginning of the year

83,079

80,311

83,079

80,311

Transferred (to) / from investment property (net)

(2,614)

7,140

(2,614)

Work in progress
TOTal PrOPErTy, PlaNT aNd EquIPmENT
laNd

Disposals
(Impairment)/revaluations

–
(399)

(3,070)
(1,302)

–
(399)

7,140
(3,070)
(1,302)

Fair value at the enD OF the year

80,066

83,079

80,066

83,079

carryING amOuNT Of laNd

80,066

83,079

80,066

83,079

98,004

109,805

buIldINGS

Fair value at the beginning of the year
Transferred (to) / from investment property (net)
Disposals
Acquisitions through business combinations

109,805

98,004

(2,095)

12,231

(2,095)

12,231

(120)

(1,282)

(120)

(1,282)

–

–

–

–

(Impairment)/revaluations

(13,972)

Fair value at the enD OF the year

93,618

109,805

93,618

109,805

–

–

–

–

Accumulated depreciation at the beginning of the year
Depreciation
Disposals
Revaluations
accumulateD DepreciatiOn at the enD OF the year
carryING amOuNT Of buIldINGS

(3,299)

852

(2,934)

(13,972)

(3,299)

852

(2,934)

–

–

–

–

3,299

2,934

3,299

2,934

–

–

–

–

93,618

109,805

93,618

109,805

3,669

3,575

3,574

3,475

417

326

383

326

mOTOr vEhIclES

Cost at the beginning of the year
Additions
Acquisitions through business combinations
Disposals

3,983
(503)

–
(232)

–
(450)

–
(227)

cOst at the enD OF the year

7,566

3,669

3,507

3,574

Accumulated depreciation at the beginning of the year

(2,556)

(2,402)

(2,465)

(2,311)

Depreciation

(355)

(367)

(345)

(364)

Disposals

339

213

263

210

Acquisitions through business combinations

(1,734)

accumulateD DepreciatiOn at the enD OF the year

(4,306)

(2,556)

3,260

1,113

carryING amOuNT Of mOTOr vEhIclES

–

–
(2,547)
960

–
(2,465)
1,109
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GrOuP
2012
$'000

ParENT
2011
$'000

2012
$'000

88,261

85,333

77,458

75,965

Additions

9,760

23,418

9,269

21,580

Disposals

(8,702)

(20,490)

(5,161)

(20,087)

Acquisitions through business combinations

6,008

2011
$'000

furNITurE aNd fITTINGS

Cost at the beginning of the year

–

–

–

cOst at the enD OF the year

95,327

88,261

81,566

77,458

Accumulated depreciation at the beginning of the year

(35,931)

(45,472)

(32,792)

(42,753)

(7,381)

Depreciation

(9,254)

(6,088)

Disposals

5,936

15,629

Acquisitions through business combinations
accumulateD DepreciatiOn at the enD OF the year
carryING amOuNT Of furNITurE aNd fITTINGS

(3,208)

–

282
–

(5,399)
15,360
–

(42,457)

(35,931)

(39,891)

(32,792)

52,870

52,330

41,675

44,666

9,463

17,778

4,530

5,213

OffIcE EquIPmENT

Cost at the beginning of the year
Additions

1,801

Disposals

(3,835)

424
(8,739)

66
(3,071)

82
(765)

284

–

–

–

Cost at the end of the year

7,713

9,463

1,525

4,530

Accumulated depreciation at the beginning of the year

(7,550)

(9,883)

(4,184)

(4,689)

(503)

(292)

(149)

(212)

Acquisitions through business combinations

Depreciation
Disposals
Acquisitions through business combinations

3,284
(261)

2,625

3,006

717

–

–

–

(5,030)

(7,550)

2,683

1,913

198

346

Cost at the beginning of the year

95,764

100,811

45,119

57,245

Additions

10,706

10,884

2,368

2,281

Disposals

(2,941)

(15,931)

(1,182)

(14,407)

Acquisitions through business combinations

11,081

–

–

–

Cost at the end of the year

114,610

95,764

46,305

45,119

Accumulated depreciation at the beginning of the year

(72,850)

(74,689)

(38,435)

(46,888)

Depreciation

(14,913)

(13,187)

(4,653)

(5,396)

1,153

15,026

1,078

13,849

accumulateD DepreciatiOn at the enD OF the year
carryING amOuNT Of OffIcE EquIPmENT

(1,327)

(4,184)

cOmPuTEr EquIPmENT

Disposals
Acquisitions through business combinations

(10,673)

accumulateD DepreciatiOn at the enD OF the year

(97,283)

(72,850)

(42,010)

(38,435)

17,327

22,914

4,295

6,684

carryING amOuNT Of cOmPuTEr hardwarE

–

–

–
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11. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
GrOuP

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

PlaNT aNd EquIPmENT
138,645

130,543

92,469

90,307

Additions

2,132

11,859

1,574

2,953

Disposals

(28,953)

(3,757)

(23,216)

Acquisitions through business combinations

35,511

–

–

–

cOst at the enD OF the year

147,335

138,645

70,827

92,469

Accumulated depreciation at the beginning of the year

(88,117)

(78,179)

(61,202)

(55,809)

Depreciation

(9,902)

(13,473)

(5,568)

(6,060)

Disposals

23,353

3,535

20,299

Cost at the beginning of the year

667

Acquisitions through business combinations

(17,612)

accumulateD DepreciatiOn at the enD OF the year

(92,278)

(88,117)

(46,471)

(61,202)

55,057

50,528

24,356

31,267

18,742

28,466

–

–

carryING amOuNT Of PlaNT aNd EquIPmENT

–

–

(791)

–

aIrcrafT

Cost at the beginning of the year
Additions
Disposals

1,381
(407)

2,769

–

–

(12,493)

–

–

–

–

cOst at the enD OF the year

19,716

18,742

Accumulated depreciation at the beginning of the year

(15,675)

(12,155)

–

–

(1,798)

(3,852)

–

–

Depreciation
(Impairment)/reversal of impairment

402

(3,577)

–

–

Disposals

765

3,909

–

–

(16,306)

(15,675)

–

–

3,410

3,067

–

–

accumulateD DepreciatiOn at the enD OF the year
carryING amOuNT Of aIrcrafT

The agreement by which the Parent purchased the post office business from the Crown recognises potential land claims that may
be lodged under the Treaty of Waitangi Act 1975. The effect on the valuation of assets resulting from potential claims cannot be
quantified. However, under the Treaty of Waitangi (State Enterprises) Act 1988, the Parent will be compensated by the Crown for any
loss that occurs upon the resumption of any interest in land by the Crown.
All land and buildings were independently valued at 30 June 2012 by Bayleys Limited (30 June 2011 by Darroch Limited), associates
of the New Zealand Institute of Valuers Land and buildings have been valued in accordance with NZ IAS 16. The valuation process
complied with the New Zealand Property Institute Practice Standards Valuations are at fair value. The valuations are based on
current occupancy arrangements and property operating expenses, and the state of the New Zealand property market in general
as well as the sub-markets into which the properties fall. Where vacant space exists it has been rentalised at a market level and
added to actual lease rentals. Valuation techniques have been used as there are no binding sale and purchase agreements on these
properties, and there are no recent comparable sales.
If land and buildings had been measured using the cost method the carrying amounts would be as follows:
Land

34,305

34,704

34,305

34,704

Buildings

63,781

75,477

63,781

75,477

The Group has begun a process to review the Group’s property portfolio, on a priority basis, to assess seismic rating with a view to
upgrading all properties occupied by the Group to be greater than 67% of NBS (New Building Standard). We are anticipating that this
could take up to 18 months to complete and any potential financial impact is not able to be determined at this stage
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12. Intangible assets
GrOuP

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

Computer software – purchased

16,510

15,797

7,338

6,050

Computer software – internally developed

52,430

56,717

12,365

20,400

20,557

1,726

–

–

328,163

51,877

–

–

Acquired customer relationships
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Computer software – work in progress
TOTal INTaNGIblE aSSETS

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

372

408

1

1

23,912

10,245

6,874

1,494

441,944

136,770

26,578

27,945

cOmPuTEr SOfTwarE – PurchaSEd

Cost at the beginning of the year

64,877

55,122

27,528

21,380

Accumulated amortisation/impairment at the beginning of the year

(49,080)

(46,055)

(21,478)

(19,490)

carrying value at the beginning OF the year

15,797

9,067

6,050

1,890

5,264

9,755

3,210

6,148

Additions

(663)

–

(2)

–

(4,176)

(3,025)

(1,920)

(1,988)

16,510

15,797

7,338

6,050

– Cost

69,766

64,877

30,736

27,528

– Accumulated amortisation/impairment

(53,256)

(49,080)

(23,398)

(21,478)

TOTal cOmPuTEr SOfTwarE – PurchaSEd

16,510

15,797

7,338

6,050

Disposals
Amortisation expense
Acquisitions through business combinations
balance at the enD OF the year

288

Comprising:

Computer software – purchased relates to the amount spent on externally acquired software assets to be used in the future
operations of the Group.
cOmPuTEr SOfTwarE – INTErNally dEvElOPEd

Cost at the beginning of the year

166,268

153,535

83,140

94,992

Accumulated amortisation/impairment at the beginning of the year

(109,551)

(106,117)

(62,740)

(73,923)

carrying value at the beginning OF the year

56,717

47,418

20,400

21,069

Additions – internally developed

29,276

38,157

2,726

8,920

Disposals
Amortisation expense

(4,441)

(2,952)

(13)

(474)

(28,844)

(25,906)

(10,748)

(9,115)

Impairment

(2,202)

–

–

–

Acquisitions through business combinations

1,924

–

–

–

52,430

56,717

12,365

20,400

– Cost

193,027

166,268

85,853

83,140

– Accumulated amortisation/impairment

(140,597)

(109,551)

(73,488)

(62,740)

52,430

56,717

12,365

20,400

balance at the enD OF the year

Comprising:

TOTal cOmPuTEr SOfTwarE – INTErNally dEvElOPEd

Computer software – internally developed relates to the amount spent on internally developed software assets to be used in the
future operations of the Group.
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12. Intangible assets (continued)
GrOuP

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$’000

Cost at the beginning of the year

12,749

12,749

–

–

Accumulated amortisation/impairment at the beginning of the year

(11,023)

(9,297)

–

–

1,726

3,452

–

–

acquIrEd cuSTOmEr rElaTIONShIPS

carrying value at the beginning OF the year

Acquisitions through business combinations
Disposals

21,273

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Amortisation expense

(2,442)

(1,726)

–

–

balance at the enD OF the year

20,557

1,726

–

–

Comprising:
– Cost

34,022

12,749

–

–

– Accumulated amortisation/impairment

(13,465)

(11,023)

–

–

TOTal acquIrEd cuSTOmEr rElaTIONShIPS

20,557

1,726

–

–

Acquired customer relationships relate to the expected future benefits of customer accounts in place on acquisition of
The New Zealand Home Loan Company and Gareth Morgan Investments. Acquired customer relationships are being amortised
over a period that reflects the expected life of the customer relationships (being 10 – 20 years).
GOOdwIll

Cost at the beginning of the year

58,589

55,360

–

–

Accumulated impairment at the beginning of the year

(6,712)

–

–

carrying value at the beginning OF the year

51,877

54,916

–

–

277,913

1,770

–

–

(6,268)

–

–

–

–

–

Acquisitions through business combinations
Impairment
Translation adjustment
Disposals
balance at the enD OF the year

(1,270)
(357)

(444)

1,459

–

–

328,163

51,877

–

336,145

58,589

–

–

(6,712)

–

–

51,877

–

–

–

Comprising:
– Cost
– Accumulated impairment
TOTal GOOdwIll

(7,982)
328,163

OThEr INTaNGIblE aSSETS

Cost at the beginning of the year

672

265

265

265

Accumulated amortisation/impairment at the beginning of the year

(264)

(207)

(264)

(207)

carrying value at the beginning OF the year

408

58

1

Additions – purchased

225

407

–

–

Disposals

(193)

(57)

–

(57)

58

Amortisation expense

(68)

–

–

–

balance at the enD OF the year

372

408

1

1

– Cost

897

672

265

265

– Accumulated amortisation/impairment

(525)

(264)

(264)

(264)

TOTal OThEr INTaNGIblE aSSETS

372

408

Comprising:

1

1
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Impairment Testing for Goodwill
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to individual cash generating units for impairment testing, as
follows:
buSINESS cOmbINaTION

caSh GENEraTING uNIT

Acquisition of Outsource Australia (now Converga Pty Limited)

Converga Pty Limited Group operations

Acquisition of Outsource Solutions (amalgamated into Datam Ltd)

Datam Limited operations

Acquisition of Tedis (now ECN Australia Pty Ltd)

ECN Australia Pty Ltd operations

Acquisition of The New Zealand Home Loans Company Limited

The New Zealand Home Loans Company Limited operations and
related Kiwibank operations

Acquisition of Gareth Morgan Investment Limited

Gareth Morgan Limited operations

The recoverable amounts of all cash generating units have been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections as at 31 March, based on financial budgets approved by senior management covering a three to five year period.

discount
rate

carrying value

Terminal
value
Growth
rate

average
Growth
rate *

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

18,749

19,083

10.3%

5.8%

1.3%

2,988

2,988

10.1%

0.0%

0.0%

2012

2012

2012

The carrying value of goodwill assigned to each cash generating unit is:
–

Converga Pty Limited Group operations

–

Datam Pty Limited operations

–

The New Zealand Home Loans Company Limited

31,527

28,513

11.0%

4.5%

1.5%

–

Gareth Morgan Investment Limited operations

44,028

–

15.0%

14.9%

3.5%

–

ECN Australia operations

–

1,293

–

–

–

–

Express Couriers Limited operations

165,787

–

10.0%

2.5%

0.0%

–

Couriers Please Holding Limited operations

65,084

–

8.4%

6.9%

0.0%

328,163

51,877

TOTal GOOdwIll
* Average revenue growth rate across the forecast period

The Moore Gallagher goodwill was fully impaired during the prior year as the underlying business which generated this goodwill is
no longer operating in the same capacity.
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13. related party transactions
General
The ultimate shareholder of the Group is the Crown. The Group undertakes many transactions with other State-Owned Enterprises,
Crown Entities and Government Departments, which are carried out in the normal course of business. Kiwibank settles
transactions with other New Zealand registered banks by way of the payment and settlement system operated by the Reserve Bank
of New Zealand in its capacity as the central bank of New Zealand. All members of the Group are considered to be related parties of
the Parent. This includes the subsidiaries, associate entities and jointly controlled entities identified in notes 14 and 15.
GrOuP

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2,770

2,526

2,770

2,526

8,763

8,557

–

–

– sale of goods and services

–

–

35,767

26,880

– purchase of goods and services

–

–

9,963

11,369

– interest (paid)/received

–

–

(7,555)

(9,643)

– loans (advanced)/repaid

–

–

(80,778)

(22,283)

– impaired investment

–

–

(3,520)

(33,557)

– impaired loan

–

–

(13,270)

(5,800)

27,374

30,328

21,183

24,140

–

–

3,101

4,772

– sale of goods and services

27,881

35,186

24,369

30,994

– purchase of goods and services

79,567

65,479

73,985

69,377

3,658

4,136

253

239

–

–

4,750

8,500

30,876

6,315

548

258

1,580

25,025

–

–

SharEhOldErS

– dividends paid
NON‑cONTrOllING INTErEST

– dividends paid
SubSIdIarIES

aSSOcIaTES

– purchase of goods and services
– dividends received
jOINTly cONTrOllEd ENTITIES

– interest received
– dividends received
– loans repaid/(advanced)
– loans impaired
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GrOuP

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

– current accounts

–

–

– loans receivable

–

–

981,653

857,677

– loans payable

–

–

(264,640)

(205,314)

– investments

–

–

196,824

42,044

tOtal balances FOr subsiDiaries

–

–

910,834

687,857

2011
$'000

rElaTEd ParTy balaNcES

The amounts outstanding with related parties at balance date were:
SubSIdIarIES
(3,003)

(6,550)

aSSOcIaTES

– current accounts

(481)

(2,627)

(402)

(2,627)

– investments

65,564

58,579

19,543

18,337

tOtal balances FOr assOciates

65,083

55,952

19,141

15,710

jOINTly cONTrOllEd ENTITIES
864

8,710

769

(2,937)

– loans receivable

–

–

3,347

3,895

– guarantee of obligations

–

(5,140)

–

–

– investments

3,544

(2,379)

2,600

52,000

tOtal balances FOr JOintly cOntrOlleD entities

4,408

1,191

6,716

52,958

– current accounts

Represented by:
383

6,083

Loans to related parties

–

–

985,000

861,572

Loans from related parties

–

–

(264,640)

(205,314)

Related party current accounts

Guarantee of obligations
Investments accounted for using the equity method
Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in other related parties
TOTal rElaTEd ParTy balaNcES

(2,636)

(12,114)

–

(5,140)

–

–

69,108

56,200

22,143

70,337

–

–

196,824

42,044

47

47

–

–

69,538

57,190

936,691

756,525

Included within loans receivable from subsidiaries is a loan to Kiwi Group Holdings Limited of $886.5m (30 June 2011: $780.1m).
This loan is repayable on demand, however there is no intention to demand repayment within the next 12 months. Interest is
payable on $85.6m at 6.52%(30 June 2011: $41.8m at 7.93%).
Included within loans receivable from subsidiaries is a loan to New Zealand Post Holdings Limited of $61.5m (30 June 2011:
$32.4m). This loan is denominated in AUD and is repayable on demand, however there is no intention to demand repayment
within the next 12 months. Interest is payable at 8.13%(30 June 2011: 9.67%). During 2012, an additional loan was advanced by the
parent to acquire the investment in Couriers Please Holdings Limited.
Included within loans receivable from subsidiaries is a loan to Localist Limited of $26.5m (30 June 2011: $15.0m). This loan
is repayable on demand, however there is no intention to demand repayment within the next 12 months. The parent provided
Localist Limited with an interest holiday for the period 1 January 2012 – 30 June 2012. Prior to the interest holiday, interest was
payable at 7.85% (30 June 2011: 7.67%). As at 30 June 2012, the parent impaired the loan by $13.3m.
kEy maNaGEmENT PErSONNEl cOmPENSaTION

Short-term employee benefits and directors fees

9,902

9,685

5,369

4,051

Other long-term benefits

–

–

–

–

Termination benefits

–

720

–

720

TOTal kEy maNaGEmENT PErSONNEl cOmPENSaTION

9,902

10,405

5,369

4,771

Loans to key management personnel

1,534

2,270

–

–

Deposits from key management personnel

5,485

1,763

–

–

Key management personnel is defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly including directors. Key management personnel relates to Directors and Executive
Team Members of the Parent and Kiwibank.
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14. Investments accounted for using the equity method
GrOuP

Investments in Associate
Investments in Jointly Controlled Entities
TOTal INvESTmENTS accOuNTEd fOr uSING ThE EquITy mEThOd

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

65,564

58,579

19,543

18,337

3,544

(2,379)

2,600

52,000

69,108

56,200

22,143

70,337

INvESTmENTS IN aSSOcIaTES

During the year, the Group increased its interest in Datacom Group Limited from 34.76% to 35.03% in September 2011 (30 June 2011
– the Group decreased its interest in Datacom Group Limited from 35.79% to 34.76%).
The fair value of the Group’s investment in Datacom Group Limited is $128.7m (30 June 2011: $122.5m).
31 march

31 march

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

Summarised Financial Information of Associates
– Total assets

332,726

320,955

– Total liabilities

196,770

193,739

– Total revenues

787,304

724,536

– Total profit

25,040

22,266

Share of associate entity's capital commitments

10,792

824

Share of associate entity's contingent liabilities

There are no contingent liabilities for associates for the year ended 30 June 2012 (30 June 2011: nil).
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INvESTmENTS IN jOINTly cONTrOllEd ENTITIES
NamE Of ENTITy

Reach Media New Zealand Limited

PrINcIPal acTIvITy

balaNcE daTE

% held

% held

Unaddressed mail

30 June

50

50

Parcel Direct Group Pty Limited

Courier and distribution

30 June

–

50

Express Couriers Limited

Courier and distribution

30 June

–

50

GrOuP

Balance at the beginning of the year
Acquisitions
Adjustment to acquisition

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

(2,379)

20,219

52,000

52,000

600

–

600

–

–

11,285

–

–

(6,316)

–

–

Share of net profit/(loss) of jointly controlled entities

6,290

(18,576)

–

–

Impairment

(1,579)

(2,753)

–

–

2,023

–

–

Loan repayment

Reversal of unrecognised gain on sale
Dividends received
Interest on Loan

(600)

–
(4,750)
52

Disposal of jointly controlled entity (refer to note 15)

5,910

balaNcE aT ThE ENd Of ThE yEar

3,544

(8,500)

–

–

239

–

–

–
(2,379)

(50,000)
2,600

–
52,000

Included in the share of net profit/(loss) is an impairment of goodwill of $4.1m (30 June 2011: $12.7m).
Each reporting date the Group assesses the carrying value of its investments in associates and joint ventures and the
recoverability of shareholder loans to those entities.
SummarISEd fINaNcIal INfOrmaTION Of jOINTly cONTrOllEd ENTITIES

– Current assets

4,387

96,001

– Non-current assets

8,926

245,649

– Current liabilities

3,179

170,860

– Non-current liabilities

6,579

135,296

– Revenues

35,013

590,637

– Expenditure

34,236

644,814

– Share of jointly controlled entities' contingent liabilities

–

–

–

–

– Share of jointly controlled entities' capital commitments

21

2,373

–

–

During the year the Group acquired a 100% shareholding in Couriers Please Holdings Pty Limited* and Express Couriers Limited.
Refer to Note 15 for details on the investment in these subsidiaries.
* previously Parcel Direct Group Pty Limited
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15. Investments in subsidiaries
INvESTmENT IN maTErIal SubSIdIarIES
2012
% hEld

2011
% hEld

Airline freight services

100

100

Converga Pty Limited

Business process outsourcing

100

100

Couriers Please Holding Pty Limited *

Express delivery services

100

50

Datam Limited

Print, create mail and data management

100

100

Express Couriers Limited

Express delivery services

100

50

Kiwi Group Holdings Limited

Holding company

100

100

Kiwibank Limited

Registered bank

100

100

Kiwi Capital Securities Limited

Issuer of perpetual preference shares

100

100

Kiwi Wealth Management Limited

Kiwisaver services

100

–

New Zealand Post Group Finance Limited

Financing services

100

100

New Zealand Post Holdings Limited

Holding company

100

100

Localist Limited

Print, digital and mobile directional media services

100

100

Kiwi Insurance Limited

Provider of insurance services

100

100

The New Zealand Home Loan Company Limited

Mortgage services

76

76

NamE Of ENTITy

PrINcIPal acTIvITy

Air Post Limited

All material subsidiary companies were incorporated in New Zealand with the exception of Converga Pty Limited and Couriers
Please Holding Pty Limited, which were incorporated in Australia.
* Couriers Please Holding Pty Limited changed its name from Parcel Direct Group Pty Ltd on 29 June 2012.
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On 29 June 2012, the Group obtained control over Express Couriers Limited ("ECL") and Couriers Please Holding Pty Limited
("CPHL") (previously Parcel Direct Group Pty Limited) when it acquired 100% of the ordinary shares and 100% of the Redeemable
Preference Shares in ECL and 100% of the ordinary shares in CPHL. Previously the Group held a 50% stake in both Companies.
ECL provides courier and logistics services to New Zealand customers. CPHL provides courier and logistics services to Australian
customers. As a result of the acquisition, the Group will increase its share of the courier and logistics businesses. It also expects to
reduce costs through economies of scale.
Ecl

cPhl

Total

2012
$'000

2012
$'000

2012
$'000

Cash and cash equivalents

20,226

9,260

29,486

Trade and other receivables

32,087

10,378

42,465

3,019

–

3,019

25,209

2,377

27,586

Other non-current assets

1,478

2

1,480

Trade and other payables

(39,951)

(24,756)

(64,707)

Non-Current borrowings

(54,156)

(62,345)

(116,501)

TOTal IdENTIfIablE NET aSSETS

(12,088)

(65,084)

(77,172)

Goodwill

165,787

65,084

230,871

TOTal cONSIdEraTION

153,700

–

153,700

76,850

–

76,850

ASSETS ACqUIRED AND LIABILITIES ASSUMED AT THE DATE OF ACqUISITION:

Other current assets
Fixed assets (including Software assets)

SATISFIED BY:

Cash
Value of previously held ownership (50%)
TOTal cONSIdEraTION TraNSfErrEd

Consideration paid in cash

76,850

–

76,850

153,700

–

153,700

76,850

–

76,850

–

31,172

31,172

Repayment of loan to vendor
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired

(20,226)

(9,260)

(29,486)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow arising on acquisition

(56,624)

(21,912)

(78,536)

GAIN ON DISPOSAL RECOGNISED IN STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:

Parent

26,850

–

26,850

TOTal GrOuP

82,754

19,854

102,608

The majority of the Group's gain arises from the realisation of a previously unrealised gain on disposal.
No contingent liabilities have been recognised as a result of this business combination.
Acquisition-related costs, included within other expenses in the Group's statement of comprehensive income for the year,
amounted to $1.8m.
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15. Investments in subsidiaries (continued)
ExPrESS cOurIErS lImITEd

The fair value of equity interest in Express Couriers Limited held before the business combination was $76.9m.
Goodwill of $165.4m arose in the business combination. The amount for Goodwill is currently provisional as a detailed fair value
analysis has not been performed. In the event that fair value adjustments are required, any changes will directly impact the value of
goodwill. In addition, the consideration paid for the combination effectively included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected
synergies and revenue growth, these components are not recognised separately from goodwill as they do not meet the recognition
criteria for intangible assets.
None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
The revenue included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income relating to Express Couriers Limited prior to the
business combination is $4.2m. This reflects the Groups share of associate earnings up to the point where the Company became a
100% owned subsidiary.
Had this business combination been effected at 1 July 2011, the revenue of the Group from continuing operations would have
increased by approximately $334.2m, and the profit for the year from continuing operations would have increased by approximately
$4.0m, excluding the impact of inter-group transactions.
cOurIErS PlEaSE hOldING PTy lImITEd

The fair value of equity interest in Couriers Please Holding Pty Limited held before the business combination was $1.
Goodwill of $65.1m arose in the business combination. The amount for Goodwill is currently provisional as a detailed fair value
analysis has not been performed. In the event that fair value adjustments are required, any changes will directly impact the value of
goodwill. In addition, the consideration paid for the combination effectively included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected
synergies and revenue growth, these components are not recognised separately from goodwill as they do not meet the recognition
criteria for intangible assets.
None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
The revenue included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income relating to Parcel Direct Group Pty Limited prior to
the business combination is $2.6m. This reflects the Groups share of associate earnings up to the point where the Company became
a 100% owned subsidiary.
Had this business combination been effected at 1 July 2011, the revenue of the Group from continuing operations would have
increased by approximately$131.9m, and the profit for the year from continuing operations would have increased by approximately
$2.6m, excluding the impact of inter-group transactions.
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Gareth MorGan InvestMents LIMIted

On 31 March 2012 Kiwi Wealth Management Limited obtained control of Gareth Morgan Investments (GMI), when it acquired 100%
of their shares and voting interests in the company. The acquisition is expected to provide the Group with an increased share of the
wealth management market through access to the GMI customer base. The Group also expects to reduce costs through economies
of scale. The following summarises the major classes of consideration transferred, the recognised amounts of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the acquisition date, and goodwill:
GMI
2012
$'000

Total consideration

58,000

IdentIfIable assets acquIred and lIabIlItIes assumed
100

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

19,435

Trade receivables

1,279
880

Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and borrowings

(1,263)

Deferred tax liabilities

(5,535)
(924)

Trade and other payables
Total identifiable net assets

13,972

GoodwILL

44,028

Total consideration of $58.0m is comprised of two stages, consideration at acquisition date and contingent consideration in the
future. The maximum contingent consideration equates to 25% of the total consideration and is dependent on future performance
milestones, including the level of Funds Under Management. There have been no remeasurement changes to the amount of
contingent consideration recognised between acquisition date and reporting date.
During the period from acquisition date to reporting date the amount of revenue generated from the acquired subsidiaries was
$3.6m and the net profit after tax contributed to the Group was $1.2m.
Had this business combination been effected at 1 July 2011, the revenue of the Group from continuing operations would have
increased by approximately $14.4m, and the profit for the year from continuing operations would have increased by approximately
$4.8m.
The acquisition related costs expensed in the Group during the period were $0.6m.
There were no material acquired receivables or separate pre-existing arrangements with GMI.
The goodwill is attributable mainly to the skills and technical talent of GMI’s work force, and the expected to be achieved from
integrating GMI into the Group’s existing wealth management business. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be
deductible for income tax purposes.
There have been no changes to goodwill since the date of acquisition.

disposal of subsidiaries
There were no disposals of subsidiaries from the Group during the year (2011: nil).

amalgamation of subsidiaries
During the year, the Parent, New Zealand Post Limited, amalgamated its investment in ECN NZ Holdings Limited (2011: nil).
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16. trade and other payables
GrOuP
Note

Trade payables
Payables to related parties

13

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

135,154

107,578

40,664

58,203

–

2,627

9,323

12,114

2,140

3,772

–

–

Payment services holding accounts

40,570

36,727

31,858

29,066

Unearned revenue

74,075

24,092

49,352

23,474

Accrued employee benefit liabilities

87,367

77,291

52,616

54,564

Interest payable

5,273

3,670

3,338

1,776

Other accruals and payables

7,881

8,530

4,029

2,716

352,460

264,287

191,180

181,913

351,235

243,101

189,955

160,863

1,225

21,186

1,225

21,050

352,460

264,287

191,180

181,913

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

Employee medical claims

2,284

2,062

1,979

2,062

Restructuring costs

3,715

7,448

724

6,848

993

1,755

578

1,148

Trail commissions payable

tOtal traDe anD Other payables

Comprising:
– Current trade and other payables
– Non-current trade and other payables
tOtal traDe anD Other payables

17. Provisions
GrOuP

Onerous Lease Contract

ParENT

Property restorations

2,244

2,836

1,456

2,836

tOtal prOvisiOns

9,236

14,101

4,737

12,894

2,062

2,806

2,062

2,806

EmPlOyEE mEdIcal claImS

Balance at the beginning of the year
Utilisation of provision

(21)

Additional provision
Reversal of provision
Revision of discount rate

(102)

(21)

386

102

75

102

–

(744)

–

(744)

(143)

–

(102)

(137)

–

2,284

2,062

1,979

2,062

457

412

396

412

– Non-current portion

1,827

1,650

1,583

1,650

tOtal emplOyee meDical claims

2,284

2,062

1,979

2,062

balance at the enD OF the year

Comprising:
– Current portion

The Group is liable for employee medical claims relating to workplace injuries. The provision has been made in respect of future
estimated costs relating to injuries that have occurred prior to balance date. Costs are expected to be paid over the next 5 years.
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GrOuP
2012
$'000

ParENT
2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

rESTrucTurING cOSTS

Balance at the beginning of the year

7,448

1,218

6,848

1,165

Utilisation of provision

(6,198)

(1,218)

(5,598)

(1,165)

778

7,448

778

6,848

Additional provision acquired through business combination

2,991

–

–

–

Reversal of provision

(1,304)

balance at the enD OF the year

3,715

Additional provision

–
7,448

(1,304)
724

–
6,848

All restructuring costs are expected to be paid in the next 12 months.
The Group is liable to pay redundancy benefits to employees where their jobs are disestablished. This provision has been made
in respect of the redundancy costs expected to be paid to employees relating to restructures agreed and communicated prior to
balance date.
ONErOuS cONTracTS
1,755

6,825

1,148

633

Additional provision

191

1,303

191

696

Utilisation of provision

(953)

(6,373)

(761)

balance at the enD OF the year

993

1,755

578

1,148

– Current portion

594

1,755

402

1,148

– Non-current portion

399

–

176

–

tOtal OnerOus cOntracts

993

1,755

578

1,148

Balance at the beginning of the year

(181)

Comprising:

The Parent and Group have operating lease contracts. This provision has been made in respect of future estimated irrecoverable
expenses for sub-let external leases. Lease expiry of this contract is within three years.
PrOPErTy rESTOraTIONS

Balance at the beginning of the year
Additional provision
Utilisation of provision
Reversal of provision

2,836

708

796
(8)
(1,419)

2,836

708

2,128

–

2,128

–

–

–

–

(1,419)

–

39

–

39

–

2,244

2,836

1,456

2,836

89

331

89

331

– Non-current portion

2,155

2,505

1,367

2,505

tOtal prOperty restOratiOns

2,244

2,836

1,456

2,836

Discounting
balance at the enD OF the year

Comprising:
– Current portion

The Group has operating lease contracts. This provision has been made in respect of future obligations to restore leased property
to its initial condition, but allowing for fair wear and tear over the period of occupancy. The provision is based on the Company's
accommodation projections and its history of property restoration settlements.
The timing of lease expiries is generally fixed but individual restoration settlements are difficult to predict.
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18. borrowings
GrOuP

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

New Zealand Post bond programme

149,819

100,692

149,819

100,692

New Zealand Post Group Finance subordinated notes

205,743

202,884

–

–

63,923

142,723

–

–

129,599

59,849

129,599

59,849

Kiwibank subordinated debt
Commercial paper
Bank loans
tOtal bOrrOwings

59,009

6,314

–

–

608,093

512,462

279,418

160,541

188,608

166,855

129,599

160,541

Comprising:
– Current portion
– Non-current portion

419,485

345,607

149,819

–

tOtal bOrrOwings

608,093

512,462

279,418

160,541

NEw ZEalaNd POST bONd PrOGrammE

Unamortised market value of bond

(181)

692

(181)

692

Bonds at amortised cost (unhedged)
Face value of bonds at amortised cost (unhedged)
Unamortised discount
tOtal new ZealanD pOst bOnD prOgramme

150,000

100,000

150,000

100,000

–

–

–

–

149,819

100,692

149,819

100,692

Bonds outstanding have a coupon rate of 5.22% and a maturity date of 15 November 2016 (30 June 2011: 7.10% and 15 November
2011). All bonds are unsecured and rank equally with other unsecured creditors. The bonds carry an AA – credit rating from
Standard & Poor's Pty Limited at balance date.
NEw ZEalaNd POST GrOuP fINaNcE SubOrdINaTEd NOTES

Face value of debt

200,000

200,000

–

–

Unamortised transaction costs

(1,572)

(2,430)

–

–

Fair value hedge adjustment

7,315

5,314

–

–

205,743

202,884

–

–

tOtal new ZealanD pOst grOup Finance subOrDinateD nOtes

Subordinated notes outstanding have a coupon rate of 7.50% and a maturity date of 15 November 2039. All subordinated notes
are unsecured and subordinate and rank equally with all unsecured, subordinated creditors (other than creditors whose claims
rank, or are intended or expressed to rank, subordinate to the obligations of the Issuer or Guarantor). The notes carry an AA –
credit rating from Standard & Poor's Pty Limited at balance date. The subordinated notes are subject to a coupon rate change
or remarketing process (which may include a redemption and/or coupon rate change) on 15 November 2014. The notes are
guaranteed on an unsecured subordinated basis by the Parent.
$140m of the subordinated notes are hedged by interest rate swaps changing fixed rate interest to floating rate interest. Hedge
documentation has been put in place to designate this hedge arrangement and hedge accounting has been applied in these
financial statements. Effectiveness testing has been carried out at 30 June 2012. Any fair value adjustment on the bonds has been
recognised in the income statement.
kIwIbaNk SubOrdINaTEd dEbTS

Face value
Interest accrued
Premium / (Discount)
Fair value hedge adjustment
tOtal kiwibank subOrDinateD Debts

60,000

135,000

–

–

1,327

2,947

–

–

(206)

–

–

2,674

(78)

4,982

–

–

63,923

142,723

–

–

$60m of subordinated debt outstanding have a coupon rate of 8.75% and a maturity date of 30 September 2018 (30 June
2011: 8.75% and 30 September 2018). This debt is callable by Kiwibank on 30 September 2013. During the year $75m of term
subordinated debt was called by the Banking Group (30 June 2011: nil)
The subordinated debt issues are subordinate to all other general liabilities of Kiwibank and are denominated in New Zealand
dollars. The debt carries an A+ credit rating from Standard & Poor's Pty Limited as at balance date.
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GrOuP

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

130,000

60,000

130,000

60,000

cOmmErcIal PaPEr

Face value of commercial paper on issue
Unearned interest on commercial paper
tOtal cOmmercial paper

(401)
129,599

(151)
59,849

(401)
129,599

(151)
59,849

$130m commercial paper was outstanding at 30 June 2012 with an average yield of 2.76% and maturity dates ranging from 3 July
2012 to 17 September 2012 (30 June 2011: $60m with an average yield of 2.73% and maturity date of 2 September 2011).
baNk lOaNS

The Group has a NZ$100.0m cash advance facility with the Commonwealth Bank of Australia Limited (30 June 2011: nil). At 30 June
2012 NZ$54m had been drawn down on the loan. Interest is charged at 3.335% and maturity date is 25 September 2012.
The Group has a US$10.0m revolving committed cash advance facility agreement with the ANZ Bank (30 June 2011: US$5.5m). At 30
June 2012 US$4.0m had been drawn down on the loan. Interest is charged at 1.0606% and maturity date is 20 April 2013.
The US bank loan was taken out to hedge against the residual value of the aircraft held. This hedge has been documented and is
accounted for as a cash flow hedge. Movements in the fair value of the bank loan that relate to the hedge of the residual value of
the aircraft are accounted for through the cash flow hedge reserve within Other Comprehensive Income. Effectiveness testing has
been carried out at 30 June 2012. Unhedged movements in the fair value of the bank loan are accounted for in the Statements of
Comprehensive Income.
bOrrOwING facIlITy

The Parent has a borrowing facility of $100m provided by the Bank of New Zealand (30 June 2011 – $100m provided by the Bank of
New Zealand). At 30 June 2012 the facility was undrawn (30 June 2011 – the facility was undrawn).

19. deferred settlement liability
GrOuP

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

Balance at beginning of the year

14,012

10,788

–

–

(Disposals)/Acquisitions

16,450

–

–

–

Revaluation of deferred settlement liability

1,610

729

–

–

Interest unwind

1,569

2,495

–

–

33,641

14,012

–

–

31,691

14,012

–

–

1,950

–

–

–

33,641

14,012

–

–

tOtal DeFerreD settlement liability

Comprising:
– Current deferred settlement liability
– Non-current deferred settlement liability
tOtal DeFerreD settlement liability

In 2006 the Group acquired a 51% shareholding in The New Zealand Home Loan Company Limited. An additional 25% shareholding
was acquired on 1 July 2009, and the remaining shares will be acquired on 2 July 2012. The Group has recognised a deferred
settlement liability for this option. The fair value of the option is $17.2m and is calculated by applying discounted cash flows analysis
at a discount rate of 11.59% per annum.
In October 2011, the Group disposed of a 20% shareholding in Kiwi Asset Finance Limited (“KAFL”), however it is required to
purchase the non-controlling shares in KAFL back between July 2016 and 2018. The Group has recognised a deferred settlement
liability for this obligation. The fair value of the liability is $1.9m and is calculated by applying discounted cash flows analysis at a
discount rate of 11.59% per annum.
In March 2012, the Group acquired a 100% shareholding in Gareth Morgan Investments Limited. As part of the sale and
purchase agreement, a portion of the consideration was deferred. The fair value of this deferred settlement is $14.5m and has
not been discounted.
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20. reconciliation of profit/(loss) to net cash flows from operating activities
GrOuP

Profit/(loss) for the year

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

169,696

(35,642)

(3,804)

(40,922)

Non-cash items:
Financial instruments at fair value net loss

(2,202)

(16,227)

5,432

(42)

Depreciation

40,024

40,193

21,395

20,365

Amortisation

36,531

32,080

13,669

12,010

Impairment

42,130

128,917

19,104

42,016

Unrealised foreign exchange net gain

(1,202)

(253)

(619)

(36)

97

(36)

(2,685)

–

–

–

1,773

–

(102,608)

–

(26,850)

(16,585)

11,272

–

–

(12,759)

192,835

34,367

73,694

3,937

8,013

1,922

2,261

3,937

8,013

1,922

2,261

(30,889)

25,734

(22,203)

23,324

(Increase)/decrease in inventories

5,109

(1,555)

2,813

(1,123)

(Increase)/decrease in other assets

2,732

(5,939)

5,101

(7,354)

Decrease/(increase) in due from other financial institutions

269,103

(283,612)

–

–

Increase in financial assets held for trading

223,435

352,883

–

–

Discount unwind on deferred net settlement
Increase in deferred expenditure
Finance costs (net)
Gain on sale of investments
Share of net (profit) / loss of associates and jointly controlled entities

97

(679)

(10,717)
1,773

–

Items classified as investing activities:
Sale of assets net (gain)/loss

Changes in assets and liabilities (excluding the effects of acquisition and exchange differences on consolidation):
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables

(Increase) in available for sale assets
(Increase) in loans and advances
(Decrease)/increase in due to other financial institutions
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables

(270,163)

(574,607)

–

–

(1,042,907)

(1,193,709)

–

–

(462,033)

631,913

–

–

17,766

(17,023)

9,064

1,428

Increase/(decrease) in provisions

(4,865)

2,544

(8,157)

7,582

(Decrease)/increase in tax liabilities

12,482

(4,136)

(6,094)

1,913

–

4,536

983,711

Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities
Increase in deposits
(Decrease)/increase in Kiwibank interest payable (net)
NET caSh flOwS frOm OPEraTING acTIvITIES

–

4,536

297,746

–

–

(9,294)

(7,519)

–

–

(305,813)

(772,744)

(19,477)

30,306

(144,939)

(607,538)

13,008

65,339

The following cash flows have been recognised on a net basis:
• Net payments to agencies – these cash flows represent transactions and operations of the agencies rather than the Parent.
• Changes in loans and advances to customers, deposits held by customers, balances with other banks, debt securities issued,
available for sale assets, and financial assets held for trading – many of these cash flows reflect the activities of the customers
rather than Kiwibank.
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21. segment information
Postal
Services

Other
Operating
Segments

banking
Services

Inter-segment
reconciliations

Group

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

668,648

418,817

221,908

–

1,309,373

30 JUNE 2012

External revenue
Intersegment revenue

103,739

–

1,717

(105,456)

–

TOTal SEGmENT rEvENuE frOm OPEraTIONS

772,387

418,817

223,625

(105,456)

1,309,373

Segment profit/(loss) before income tax

11,378

111,115

67,227

387

190,107

Segment profit/(loss)

20,743

79,095

69,281

577

169,696

Segment total assets

475,023

14,745,372

630,647

–

15,851,042

Banking interest revenue (net)

–

256,941

–

–

256,941

Banking and lending fee revenue

–

94,329

–

–

94,329

Rental income – properties held for sale

–

–

–

–

–

905

–

–

–

905

–

–

102,608

–

102,608

Specific segment revenue from operations:

Rental income – investment properties
Specific segment other income
Gain on sale of investments
Financial instruments at fair value net gain/(loss)
Share of net profit of associates and jointly controlled
entities

(5,432)
–

4,694

–

–

–

16,585

–

(738)
16,585

Specific segment expenditure:
Depreciation

25,575

9,280

6,792

(1,623)

40,024

Amortisation

13,556

16,221

5,087

1,667

36,531

318

4,050

177

7

4,552

4,897

35,160

3,693

7

43,757

–

–

(1,246)

–

(1,246)

Bad debt expense
Impairment
Impairment reversal
Property operating lease and rental costs
Other operating lease and rental costs
Salaries and wages (including superannuation expenses)
Restructuring costs

23,697

9,255

2,731

–

35,683

5,195

3,760

1,564

–

10,519

360,050

93,230

60,442

–

513,722

543

–

1,690

1,191

(44)
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21. segment information (continued)
Postal
Services

Other
Operating
Segments

banking
Services

Inter-segment
reconciliations

Group

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

833,573

353,000

93,104

–

1,279,677

30 JUNE 2011

External revenue
Intersegment revenue

64,447

512

2,562

(67,521)

–

898,020

353,512

95,666

(67,521)

1,279,677

3,940

32,344

(44,423)

(26,486)

(34,625)

Segment profit/(loss)

10,477

21,228

(39,023)

(28,324)

(35,642)

Segment total assets

430,558

13,875,337

376,099

–

14,681,994

–

191,687

–

–

191,687

TOTal SEGmENT rEvENuE frOm OPEraTIONS

Segment profit/(loss) before income tax

Specific segment revenue from operations:
Banking interest revenue (net)
Banking and lending fee revenue
Rental income – properties held for sale
Rental income – investment properties

–

86,059

–

–

86,059

194

–

–

–

194

2,702

–

–

–

2,702

–

–

–

–

–

42

16,185

–

–

16,227

–

–

(11,272)

–

(11,272)

Specific segment other income
Sale of investments gain
Financial instruments at fair value net gain/(loss)
Share of net profit of associates and jointly controlled
entities
Specific segment expenditure:
Depreciation

24,865

7,985

7,298

45

40,193

Amortisation

12,499

15,605

3,543

433

32,080

3,681

1,103

7,708

–

12,492

2,659

78,982

47,276

–

128,917

36,403

7,246

1,614

–

45,263

Bad debt expense
Impairment
Property operating lease and rental costs
Other operating lease and rental costs
Salaries and wages (including superannuation expenses)
Restructuring costs

9,634

3,600

1,409

–

14,643

372,920

82,620

60,428

2,144

518,112

9,785

302

988

–

11,075
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baSIS Of SEGmENTaTION

The Group's operating segments have primarily been determined with reference to differences in products and services.
Operating segments have been aggregated for reporting purposes where the following criteria has been met:
(1) aggregation is consistent with the core principle of NZ IFRS 8 Operating Segments
(2) segments have similar economic characteristics
(3) segments are similar in each of the following respects:
a. nature of the product and services
b. nature of production process
c. type or class of customer for their products and services
d. methods used to distribute their products or provide their services
e. nature of the regulatory environment.
As at 1 July 2011, the Group completed a significant reorganisation of the business. This has resulted in a change in the number of
reportable segments from 4 to 2. Comparative numbers have been restated accordingly.
The Group's reportable segments derive their revenue from the following products and services:
Postal services – Packaging and delivery of mail products, and associated retail services
Banking services – Financial management services
baSIS Of mEaSurEmENT

The Group's reportable segment revenue, result and assets disclosed above are the same as those used by the chief operating
decision makers in making decisions about allocating resources and in assessing segment performance. Transactions between
reportable segments are accounted for in accordance with contractual arrangements and the accounting policies outlined in the
summary of significant accounting policies.
New Zealand

foreign countries

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

1,229,294

1,198,603

80,079

81,074

808,070

508,346

32,541

35,194

2011
$'000

GEOGraPhIcal INfOrmaTION

External revenue from operations
Non-current assets (excluding financial instruments and tax assets)

Revenues are attributed to individual countries based on the country of residence of the entity earning the revenue.
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22. Financial instruments for the group excluding Kiwibank banking Group
For the purposes of this note, ‘the Group’ refers to the Group excluding Kiwibank Banking Group. The Kiwibank Banking Group
financial instrument disclosures are disclosed in note 30.
GrOuP

ParENT

Designated
at FVTPL
$'000

Loans and
receivables
$'000

Derivatives
used for
hedging
$'000

Cash and cash equivalents

–

154,871

–

154,871

Trade and other receivables

–

228,682

–

228,682

7,308

–

3,468

10,776

–

–

–

–

7,308

383,553

3,468

394,329

Designated
at FVTPL
$'000

Other
financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
$'000

Total
$'000

Loans and
receivables
$'000

Derivatives
used for
hedging
$'000

–

96,663

–

96,663

–

121,757

–

121,757

7,308

–

3,407

10,715

–

985,000

–

985,000

7,308

1,203,420

3,407

1,214,135

Designated
at FVTPL
$'000

Other
financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
$'000

Total
$'000

Total
$'000

Designated
at FVTPL
$'000

Total
$'000

30 JUNE 2012

Derivative financial assets
Loans to related parties
tOtal Financial assets

Derivatives
used for
hedging
$'000

Derivatives
used for
hedging
$'000

–

–

191,018

191,018

–

–

89,212

89,212

4,768

15,562

–

20,330

1,950

16,401

–

18,351

Loans from related parties

–

–

–

–

–

–

264,640

264,640

Borrowings

–

–

544,170

544,170

–

–

279,418

279,418

4,768

15,562

735,188

755,518

1,950

16,401

633,270

651,621

Trade and other payables
Derivative financial liabilities

tOtal Financial liabilities

GrOuP

ParENT

Designated
at FVTPL
$'000

Loans and
receivables
$'000

Derivatives
used for
hedging
$'000

Total
$'000

Designated
at FVTPL
$'000

Loans and
receivables
$'000

Derivatives
used for
hedging
$'000

Total
$'000

–

174,582

–

174,582

–

154,423

–

154,423

30 JUNE 2011

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Derivative financial assets
Loans to related parties
tOtal Financial assets

Trade and other payables
Derivative financial liabilities
Loans from related parties
Borrowings
tOtal Financial liabilities

–

155,328

–

155,328

–

99,554

–

99,554

600

–

4,997

5,597

600

–

4,997

5,597

–

–

–

–

–

861,572

–

861,572

600

329,910

4,997

335,507

600

1,115,549

4,997

1,121,146

Derivatives
used for
hedging
$'000

Designated
at FVTPL
$'000

Other
financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
$'000

Total
$'000

Derivatives
used for
hedging
$'000

Designated
at FVTPL
$'000

Other
financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
$'000

Total
$'000

–

–

162,902

162,902

–

–

103,874

103,874

6,044

1,818

–

7,862

6,044

1,818

–

7,862

–

–

–

–

–

–

205,314

205,314

–

–

369,739

369,739

–

–

160,541

160,541

6,044

1,818

532,641

540,503

6,044

1,818

469,729

477,591
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Risk Management Policies
The Group's exposure to risk arises directly from its operating, investing and financing activities. These activities involve the
acceptance of credit, market (currency and interest rate), financing and operational risks. The management of risk is an essential
element of the Group's strategy with emphasis placed on pro-active rather than retroactive management.
The directors of the Group are responsible for the direction and strategies around risk management. To help with this obligation the
Board has created a governance structure. The Board is responsible for policy and strategy setting (with advice from the Finance
and Risk Committee), the corporate finance team are responsible for execution of the policies and strategies.

Financing Risk
Financing risk is the risk of not being able to refinance debt obligations or other cash outflows when required, on terms that are no
more unfavourable than those currently in place.
The main objectives of the management of financing risk is to ensure sufficient funding is available to meet the Group's
requirements and to avoid liquidity crises, achieve competitive pricing on sources of funding and lines of credit, and diversify
sources of funding and liquidity.
The Group manages financing risk through maintaining a portfolio of liquid assets, developing and maintaining appropriate funding
diversification strategies, arranging and maintaining committed bank facilities, and reducing the amount of debt maturing in any
given period.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is defined as the risk of the Group's cost of funds changing as a result of changes in the interest rates paid on
outstanding debt. The main objective of the management of interest rate risk is to minimise the cost of debt. The Group manages
interest rate risk through derivatives to modify the exposure to changes in interest rates. Interest rate repricing on financial assets
acts as an offset to repricing on financial liabilities.

Borrowings
The Group has floating rate borrowings with a face value of $189.0m at 30 June 2012 (30 June 2011 – $66.3m), and fixed rate
borrowings with a face value of $350.0m (30 June 2011 – $300m). All borrowings are used to fund ongoing activities. The weighted
average interest rate on borrowings (as amended by interest rate swaps) is 3.98% (30 June 2011 – 5.98%).

Derivative Financial Instruments
The notional principal or contract amounts of interest rate swap/option contracts at balance date are:
GrOuP

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

Interest rate swaps

470,000

150,000

430,000

150,000

Forward rate agreements

105,000

140,000

105,000

140,000

Currency Risk
Currency risk is the risk of cash flow uncertainty that may arise from a movement in foreign exchange rates to which the Group may
be exposed. In the case of the Group this is foreign exchange transaction risk and foreign exchange translation risk arising from
normal trading activities. Some of the trading exposures arise as a result of obligations with overseas postal administrators which
are invoiced in Special Drawing Rights (SDR) and are settled in United States Dollars (USD). The SDR is a basket currency composed
of fixed quantities of four major traded currencies (USD, Yen, Euro and Pound Sterling). The composition of the basket is set by the
International Monetary Fund. The currency in which the Group primarily deals with is the United States Dollar.
The main objective of the management of currency risk is to manage the exposure to foreign exchange risk.
The Group manages currency risk through derivatives. The Group's policy is to hedge between 25% and 75% of net foreign currency
cash flows forecast to occur within the next two years, and foreign currency capital expenditure over $1m.

Derivative Financial Instruments
The notional or principal contract amounts of foreign exchange instruments outstanding at balance date are:
GrOuP
2012
$'000

Forward foreign exchange contracts
Foreign exchange swaps

ParENT
2011
$'000

2012
$'000

21,595

1,892

12,133

1,892

2,151

1,954

2,151

1,954

2011
$'000
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22. Financial instruments for the group excluding Kiwibank banking Group
(continued)
The following tables summarise the Group’s and Parent’s exposure to foreign currency risk (all figures NZD equivalents).
GbP

Eur

$’000

aud

$’000

uSd

$’000

Total

$’000

$’000

GROUP
30 juNE 2012
328

3

4,354

159

4,844

Trade and other receivables

–

–

15,286

32,871

48,157

Derivative financial assets / (liabilities)

–

5,627

(867)

Trade and other payables

–

–

(7,491)

Cash and cash equivalents

Borrowings
net On balance sheet Financial pOsitiOn

–

–

–

328

5,630

11,282

18,986

23,746

(11,520)

(19,011)

(5,035)

(5,035)

35,461

52,701

GROUP
30 juNE 2011

Cash and cash equivalents

354

3

2,356

2,188

6,266

Trade and other receivables

–

–

13,941

31,730

45,671

Derivative financial assets

–

673

267

2,905

3,845

Trade and other payables

–

(243)

(10,846)

(28,191)

(39,280)

(6,340)

Borrowings
net On balance sheet Financial pOsitiOn

–

–

–

354

433

5,718

2,292

10,162

(6,340)

328

3

128

77

536

–

32,871

32,871

9,524

14,284

(11,520)

(11,747)

30,952

35,944

PARENT
30 juNE 2012

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables

–

–

Derivative financial assets / (liabilities)

–

5,627

Trade and other payables
net On balance sheet Financial pOsitiOn

–
328

(227)
5,403

(867)
–
(739)

PARENT
30 juNE 2011

Cash and cash equivalents

354

3

–

2,188

3,910

Trade and other receivables

–

–

–

31,730

31,730

Derivative financial assets

–

673

267

2,905

3,845

Trade and other payables

–

(243)

–

(28,191)

(28,434)

354

433

267

8,632

11,051

net On balance sheet Financial pOsitiOn
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Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss that arises from a counterparty failing to meet their contractual commitments in full and on time.
Counterparty credit exposures arise as a consequence of the Group entering into contractual arrangements that involve the future
exchange of assets and/or services.
The Group manages credit risk through the formulation of specific policy benchmarks and parameters set by the Board, which
must be complied with in all situations. Credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group does not have any significant
concentrations of credit risk.
No collateral is held as at 30 June 2012 (30 June 2011 – nil).

Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk Before Collateral Held or Other Credit Enhancements
The following table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Group and Parent at 30 June 2012 and 30 June 2011.
The exposures set out are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the balance sheet.
GrOuP

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

Cash and cash equivalents

154,871

174,582

96,663

154,423

Trade and other receivables

229,093

159,278

121,867

103,434

10,776

5,597

10,715

5,597

Credit Risk Relating to On Balance Sheet Assets

Derivative financial assets
Loans to related parties
TOTal GrOSS fINaNcIal aSSETS

Allowance for impairment losses
TOTal NET fINaNcIal aSSETS

–

–

985,000

861,572

394,740

339,457

1,214,245

1,125,026

(411)
394,329

(3,950)
335,507

(110)
1,214,135

(3,880)
1,121,146

As at 30 June 2012, 58% of the total maximum exposure is derived from trade and other receivables (30 June 2011 – 47%).
Management is confident in its ability to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit risk resulting from its financial assets.

Credit Exposure Concentration
There are no individual counterparties or connected persons where their credit exposure equalled or exceeded 10% of the Group's
total credit exposure during the year (2011 – nil).
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22. Financial instruments for the group excluding Kiwibank banking Group
(continued)
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial liabilities when they
fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn. The consequence may be the failure to meet obligations to repay depositors
and fulfil commitments to lend.
Management of liquidity risk is designed to ensure that the Group has the ability to generate or obtain sufficient cash in a timely
manner and at a reasonable price to meet its financial commitments on a daily basis.
The Group monitors this risk daily, primarily by forecasting future cash requirements.
The tables below summarise the cash flows payable by the Group and Parent under both non-derivative and derivative financial
liabilities by remaining contractual maturities at the balance sheet date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows, whereas the inherent liquidity risk is managed based on expected undiscounted cash flows.
between
3 and 12
months

up To
3 months
$'000

between
1 and 5
years

$'000

more Than
5 years

Total

$’000

$'000

$'000

GROUP
30 juNE 2012

Non-derivative cash flows
Cash and cash equivalents

154,871

–

–

–

154,871

Trade and other receivables

203,865

18,583

6,234

–

228,682

Trade and other payables

(347,261)

(3,974)

(1,225)

–

(352,460)

(17,200)

(14,500)

(1,900)

–

(33,600)

Deferred settlement obligations
Borrowings

(184,000)

(5,035)

(350,000)

–

(539,035)

net nOn Derivative cash FlOws

(189,725)

(4,926)

(346,891)

–

(541,542)

–

18,078
(18,006)

Derivative cash flows
Foreign exchange derivatives – inflows

17,950

Foreign exchange derivatives – outflows

(17,879)

Interest rate derivatives – inflows
Interest rate derivatives – outflows
Commitments
Interest receipts
Interest payments

–
(1,851)

–
(825)

Capital commitments

2,215

Lease commitments

(14,851)

Lease receipts
tOtal OFF balance sheet cash FlOws
NET POSITION

128
(127)

–
–

–

20,589

52,597

8,663

81,849

(7,095)

(11,629)

(14,189)

(34,764)

–
(22,838)
–
(44,553)

–
(49,931)
–
(132,125)

–
–
–
(49,825)
318

–
(73,594)
2,215
(241,354)

2,555

7,664

13,545

(12,686)

(46,232)

(127,543)

(55,033)

(241,494)

24,082

(202,411)

(51,158)

(474,434)

(55,033)

(783,036)

99
New Zealand Post Group
Annual Report 2012

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2012

between
3 and 12
months

up To
3 months

between
1 and 5
years

more Than
5 years

Total

$'000

$'000

$’000

$'000

$'000

174,582

–

–

–

174,582

GROUP
30 juNE 2011

Non-derivative cash flows
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables

133,401

5,547

16,380

–

155,328

Trade and other payables

(137,709)

(5,607)

(17,586)

–

(160,902)

Borrowings
net nOn Derivative cash FlOws

(66,314)

(100,000)

(200,000)

–

(366,314)

103,960

(100,060)

(201,206)

–

(197,306)

Derivative cash flows
Foreign exchange derivatives – inflows

2,957

450

295

–

3,702

Foreign exchange derivatives – outflows

(3,035)

(494)

(317)

–

(3,846)

Interest rate derivatives – inflows
Interest rate derivatives – outflows

–

13,072

40,834

795

54,701

(1,893)

(11,181)

(47,031)

(1,547)

(61,652)

Commitments
Interest receipts
Interest payments

1,254

–

–

–

1,254

(423)

(18,579)

(37,500)

–

(56,502)

Capital commitments

(1,886)

–

–

–

(1,886)

Lease commitments

(9,994)

(29,982)

(93,444)

(50,163)

(183,583)

Lease receipts

1,498

4,493

11,018

tOtal OFF balance sheet cash FlOws

(11,522)

(42,221)

(126,145)

(50,316)

599

(230,204)

17,608

NET POSITION

92,438

(142,281)

(327,351)

(50,316)

(427,510)
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22. Financial instruments for the group excluding Kiwibank banking Group
(continued)
between
3 and 12
months

up To
3 months

between
1 and 5
years

more Than
5 years

Total

$'000

$'000

$’000

$'000

$'000

Cash and cash equivalents

96,663

–

–

–

96,663

Trade and other receivables

96,940

18,583

6,234

–

121,757

253

15,139

97,566

872,042

985,000

PARENT
30 juNE 2012
nOn-Derivative cash FlOws

Loans to related parties
Trade and other payables
Loans from related parties

(185,981)
–

(3,974)

(1,225)

(14,500)

(237,315)

–
(12,825)

(191,180)
(264,640)

Borrowings

(130,000)

–

(150,000)

–

net nOn Derivative cash FlOws

(122,125)

15,248

(284,740)

859,217

(280,000)
467,600

–

17,814
(17,689)

Derivative cash FlOws

Foreign exchange derivatives – inflows

17,686

Foreign exchange derivatives – outflows

(17,562)

Interest rate derivatives – inflows
Interest rate derivatives – outflows

–
(1,850)

128
(127)

–
–

–

20,589

52,597

8,663

81,849

(7,095)

(11,629)

(14,189)

(34,763)

cOmmitments

Interest receipts

–

Interest payments

(386)

Capital commitments

925

–
(22,837)
–

–
(49,931)

(7,652)

(22,956)

(66,385)

Lease receipts

1,877

5,632

10,384

tOtal OFF balance sheet cash FlOws
NET POSITION

–

–

–

–

Lease commitments
Guarantees

–

–
(32,209)
318

–

–

–
(73,154)
925
(129,202)
18,211
–

(6,962)

(26,666)

(64,964)

(37,417)

(136,009)

(129,087)

(11,418)

(349,704)

821,800

331,591

The Parent has also guaranteed the payment obligations of Kiwibank under a deed poll guarantee (refer to note 29).
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between
3 and 12
months

up To
3 months

between
1 and 5
years

more Than
5 years

Total

$'000

$'000

$’000

$'000

$'000

154,423

–

–

–

154,423

PARENT
30 juNE 2011

Non-derivative cash flows
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Loans to related parties
Trade and other payables
Loans from related parties
Borrowings
net nOn Derivative cash FlOws

77,627

5,547

16,380

–

99,554

855,776

–

5,796

–

861,572

(80,681)

(5,607)

(17,586)

–

(103,874)

–

–

(200,000)

–

(200,000)

(60,000)

(100,000)

–

–

(160,000)

947,145

(100,060)

–

651,675

(195,410)

Derivative cash flows
Foreign exchange derivatives – inflows
Foreign exchange derivatives – outflows
Interest rate derivatives – inflows
Interest rate derivatives – outflows

2,957

450

295

–

3,702

(3,035)

(494)

(317)

–

(3,846)

–

13,072

40,834

795

54,701

(1,893)

(11,181)

(47,031)

(1,547)

(61,652)

1,254

–

–

–

1,254

Commitments
Interest receipts
Interest payments
Capital commitments
Lease commitments
Lease receipts
Guarantees
tOtal OFF balance sheet cash FlOws
NET POSITION

(416)

(18,579)

(37,500)

–

(56,495)

(1,158)

–

–

–

(1,158)

(7,140)

(21,421)

(66,025)

(26,513)

(121,099)

826

2,477

5,023

599

8,925

–

–

–

–

–

(8,605)
938,540

(35,676)

(104,721)

(26,666)

(175,668)

(135,736)

(300,131)

(26,666)

476,007
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22. Financial instruments for the group excluding Kiwibank banking Group
(continued)
Equity Risk
Equity risk results from the re-pricing of equity investments. The Group does not undertake equity trading and there are no
significant exposures to equity instruments.

Capital Risk
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern so that it can
continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to maintain a strong capital base to support
the development of its business.
The Group assesses its ability to absorb risk to ensure that it has sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern
even if it suffers a material unforeseen or unexpected event. To ensure adequate capital is maintained material risks are assessed
and quantified through estimation/ judgement to provide information that enables management to monitor current and expected
capital levels.

Components of Capital
Capital for the Group includes share capital, retained earnings, and reserves.

Sensitivity Analysis
The table below summarises the pre-tax sensitivity of financial assets and financial liabilities to changes in interest rate and
currency risks with all other variables held constant. The market value of the assets and liabilities were used as the basis for the
analysis and financial modelling was used to determine the impact on those values of changes in each risk scenario.
Interest rate risk

currency risk

-1%
+1%
–10%
+10%
Statement of
Statement of
Statement of
Statement of
Carrying Comprehensive Comprehensive Comprehensive Comprehensive
Value
Income
Income
Income
Income
$'000
$'000
$'000
$'000
$'000

–10%
Equity
$'000

+10%
Equity
$'000

GROUP
30 juNE 2012

Financial assets/(liabilities)
Cash and cash equivalents

154,871

Trade and other receivables

228,682

–
–

60

(49)

470

(384)

–

3,652

(2,988)

1,698

(1,390)

101

2,625

(2,170)

–

–

(1,305)

1,068

Derivative financial assets

10,776

Trade and other payables

(191,018)

–

(20,330)

147

(147)

(544,170)

4,800

(4,800)

Cash and cash equivalents

174,582

(1,746)

1,746

434

(355)

262

(214)

Trade and other receivables

155,328

–

–

3,526

(2,885)

1,549

(1,267)

Derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings

(101)

–

–

–
(559)

(832)

681

–

–

–

458

–

–

GROUP
30 juNE 2011

Financial assets/(liabilities)

Derivative financial assets
Trade and other payables
Derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings

5,597

5,253

(4,285)

159

(130)

–

–

(162,902)

–

–

(3,159)

2,585

(1,205)

986

(7,862)

(5,528)

5,253

210

(172)

–

–

(369,739)

(6,588)

6,369

(704)

576

–

–
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Interest rate risk

currency risk

-1%
+1%
–10%
+10%
Statement of
Statement of
Statement of
Statement of
Carrying Comprehensive Comprehensive Comprehensive Comprehensive
Value
Income
Income
Income
Income
$'000
$'000
$'000
$'000
$'000

–10%
Equity
$'000

+10%
Equity
$'000

PARENT
30 juNE 2012

Financial assets/(liabilities)
Cash and cash equivalents

96,663

–

–

59

(49)

–

–

Trade and other receivables

121,757

–

–

3,652

(2,988)

–

–

(1,299)

10,715

(101)

101

1,587

Loans to related parties

985,000

(1,471)

1,471

–

Trade and other payables

(89,212)

–

Derivative financial liabilities

(18,351)

147

(147)

–

Loans from related parties

(264,640)

2,573

(2,573)

Borrowings

(279,418)

2,800

(2,800)

Cash and cash equivalents

154,423

(1,544)

Trade and other receivables

99,554

Derivative financial assets

–

–

–

–

–

1,047

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

1,544

434

(355)

–

–

–

–

3,526

(2,885)

–

–

–

(1,280)

PARENT
30 juNE 2011

Financial assets/(liabilities)

Derivative financial assets

5,597

5,253

(4,285)

159

(130)

–

–

Loans to related parties

861,572

(607)

607

–

–

–

–

Trade and other payables

(103,874)

–

–

(3,159)

2,585

–

–

(7,862)

(5,528)

5,253

210

(172)

–

–

Loans from related parties

(205,314)

(6,153)

5,936

–

–

–

–

Borrowings

(160,541)

(435)

433

–

–

–

–

Derivative financial liabilities

The sensitivity % applied above reflect a reasonable movement in variables that could likely impact the financial assets and
financial liabilities of the Group and Parent.
The sensitivity to interest rate risks has an equal impact on the statement of comprehensive income and equity.
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22. Financial instruments for the group excluding Kiwibank banking Group
(continued)
Fair Values of Financial Instruments
The estimated fair values of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities which differ from their carrying values are noted below.
GrOuP

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

Borrowings – carrying values

544,170

369,739

279,418

160,541

Borrowings – fair values

552,671

390,957

283,212

162,066

Fair Value Estimation
Quoted market prices, when available, are used as the measure of fair values for financial instruments. However, for some of
the Group's financial instruments, quoted market prices do not exist. For such financial instruments, fair values presented are
estimates derived using present value or other market accepted valuation techniques. These techniques involve uncertainties and
are affected by the assumptions used and judgements made regarding risk characteristic of various financial instruments, discount
rates, estimates of future cash flows, future expected loss experience and other factors. Changes in assumptions could significantly
affect these estimates and the resulting fair value.
The fair value estimates were determined by application of the methods and assumptions described below.
cash and cash equivalents
For cash assets, the carrying amount is equivalent to the fair value. For short term liquid assets, estimated fair values are based on
quoted market prices.
trade and other receivables (including tax receivable)
For receivables, the carrying amount is equivalent to the fair value.
loans to related parties
For loans to related parties, the carrying amount is equivalent to the fair value.
trade payables
For trade payables, the carrying amount is equivalent to the fair value.
borrowings
For fixed rate borrowings recognised at amortised cost, fair values have been estimated using a discounted cash flow model with
reference to market interest rates.
Derivative financial instruments
For derivative financial instruments, the carrying amount is equivalent to the fair value.
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Fair Value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technique:
level 1:

Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

level 2:

Other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable,
either directly or indirectly; and

level 3:

Techniques using inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value and which are not based on
observable market data.
level 1

level 2

level 3

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Derivative financial assets

–

10,776

–

10,776

TOTal fINaNcIal aSSETS

–

10,776

–

10,776

GROUP
30 juNE 2012

Financial Assets

Financial Liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities

–

20,330

–

20,330

TOTal fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES

–

20,330

–

20,330

GROUP
30 juNE 2011

Financial Assets
Derivative financial assets

–

5,597

–

5,597

TOTal fINaNcIal aSSETS

–

5,597

–

5,597

Derivative financial liabilities

–

(7,862)

–

(7,862)

TOTal fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES

–

(7,862)

–

(7,862)

Financial Liabilities

PARENT
30 juNE 2012

Financial Assets
Derivative financial assets

–

10,715

–

10,715

TOTal fINaNcIal aSSETS

–

10,715

–

10,715

Financial Liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities

–

18,351

–

18,351

TOTal fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES

–

18,351

–

18,351

Derivative financial assets

–

5,597

–

5,597

TOTal fINaNcIal aSSETS

–

5,597

–

5,597

PARENT
30 juNE 2011

Financial Assets

Financial Liabilities
Derivative financial liabilities

–

(7,862)

–

(7,862)

TOTal fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES

–

(7,862)

–

(7,862)

There were no transfers in or out of level 3, or between levels 1 and 2, during the period.
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23. leases
GrOuP

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

59,404

39,976

30,608

28,561

132,125

93,444

66,385

66,025

NON‑caNcEllablE OPEraTING lEaSE cOmmITmENTS

Payable no later than one year
Payable later than one year and no later than five years
Payable later than five years
TOTal OPEraTING lEaSE cOmmITmENTS

49,825

50,163

32,209

26,513

241,354

183,583

129,202

121,099

The Company leases a majority of its sites. All leases are standard operating leases. No leases have purchase options,
onerous restrictions on use or contingent rental payments. Lease terms vary from monthly to long term. Many leases have rights
of renewal.
NON‑caNcEllablE fuTurE OPEraTING lEaSE rEcEIPTS

Receivable no later than one year

10,219

5,991

7,509

3,302

Receivable later than one year and no later than five years

13,545

11,018

10,384

5,023

318

599

318

599

24,082

17,608

18,211

8,924

Receivable later than five years
TOTal fuTurE OPEraTING lEaSE rEcEIPTS

The Company leases space in some of its properties (mainly owned) to external tenants. All leases are standard operating leases.
No leases have purchase options, onerous restrictions on use or contingent rental payments. Lease terms vary from monthly to
long term. Many leases have rights of renewal.

24. Capital commitments
GrOuP

ParENT

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2,031

837

925

405

cONTracTual cOmmITmENTS fOr acquISITION Of:

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets – software
TOTal cONTracTual cOmmITmENTS

184

1,049

–

753

2,215

1,886

925

1,158
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Gareth MorGan InvestMents LIMIted

On 31 March 2012 Kiwi Wealth Management Limited obtained control of Gareth Morgan Investments (GMI), when it acquired 100%
of their shares and voting interests in the company. The acquisition is expected to provide the Group with an increased share of the
wealth management market through access to the GMI customer base. The Group also expects to reduce costs through economies
of scale. The following summarises the major classes of consideration transferred, the recognised amounts of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the acquisition date, and goodwill:
GMI
2012
$'000

Total consideration

58,000

IdentIfIable assets acquIred and lIabIlItIes assumed
100

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

19,435

Trade receivables

1,279
880

Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and borrowings

(1,263)

Deferred tax liabilities

(5,535)
(924)

Trade and other payables
Total identifiable net assets

13,972

GoodwILL

44,028

Total consideration of $58.0m is comprised of two stages, consideration at acquisition date and contingent consideration in the
future. The maximum contingent consideration equates to 25% of the total consideration and is dependent on future performance
milestones, including the level of Funds Under Management. There have been no remeasurement changes to the amount of
contingent consideration recognised between acquisition date and reporting date.
During the period from acquisition date to reporting date the amount of revenue generated from the acquired subsidiaries was
$3.6m and the net profit after tax contributed to the Group was $1.2m.
Had this business combination been effected at 1 July 2011, the revenue of the Group from continuing operations would have
increased by approximately $14.4m, and the profit for the year from continuing operations would have increased by approximately
$4.8m.
The acquisition related costs expensed in the Group during the period were $0.6m.
There were no material acquired receivables or separate pre-existing arrangements with GMI.
The goodwill is attributable mainly to the skills and technical talent of GMI’s work force, and the expected to be achieved from
integrating GMI into the Group’s existing wealth management business. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be
deductible for income tax purposes.
There have been no changes to goodwill since the date of acquisition.

disposal of subsidiaries
There were no disposals of subsidiaries from the Group during the year (2011: nil).

amalgamation of subsidiaries
During the year, the Parent, New Zealand Post Limited, amalgamated its investment in ECN NZ Holdings Limited (2011: nil).
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27. Kiwibank – specific banking assets
GrOuP
2012
$'000

2011
$'000

caSh aNd caSh EquIvalENTS

Cash in hand
Cash with central banks
Call and overnight advances to financial institutions
TOTal caSh aNd baNk balaNcES

44,536

47,470

208,848

192,713

61,677

56,119

315,061

296,302

duE frOm OThEr fINaNcIal INSTITuTIONS

Unsettled receivables
Bank Bills
Collateralised loans
TOTal duE frOm OThEr fINaNcIal INSTITuTIONS

(157)

209,727

145,243

175,640

26,294

55,116

171,380

440,483

All amounts due from other financial institutions are expected to be realised within the next 12 months.
As at 30 June 2012, included within the balance above, is $26.3m of collateral pledged by Kiwibank in respect of its credit support
annex obligations to derivative counterparties. (30 June 2011; $55.1m).
fINaNcIal aSSETS hEld fOr TradING
2,997

179,295

Other securities

101,242

145,314

TOTal fINaNcIal aSSETS hEld fOr TradING

104,239

324,609

Bank bills

Comprising:
– Current financial assets held for trading

104,239

324,609

TOTal fINaNcIal aSSETS hEld fOr TradING

104,239

324,609

Government stock and multilateral development banks

463,905

487,593

Treasury bills

561,755

173,186

avaIlablE fOr SalE aSSETS

Local authority securities
Other debt securities
TOTal avaIlablE fOr SalE aSSETS

64,166

142,683

311,140

319,990

1,400,966

1,123,452

Comprising:
– Current available for sale assets

1,400,966

1,123,452

TOTal avaIlablE fOr SalE aSSETS

1,400,966

1,123,452

lOaNS aNd advaNcES

Designated upon initial recognition as fair value through profit or loss
At amortised cost
Allowance for impairment losses
TOTal lOaNS aNd advaNcES

44,007

447,853

12,492,414

11,134,084

(91,140)

(87,141)

12,445,281

11,494,796

1,036,265

1,028,362

Comprising:
– Current loans and advances
– Non-current loans and advances

11,409,016

10,466,434

TOTal lOaNS aNd advaNcES

12,445,281

11,494,796

31

(269)

Cumulative change in fair value arising from changes in credit risk for loans and advances designated at fair
value

The above changes in the fair value of the loans and advances that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of the financial asset is
determined as the amount of change in its fair value that is not attributable to changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk.
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Asset quality
Interest revenue foregone on impaired assets is calculated using actual interest written off and interest suspended during the
period. There are no real estate or other assets acquired through the enforcement of security held at 30 June 2012 (30 June 2011:
nil). There are no assets under administration at 30 June 2012 (30 June 2011: nil).
There are no unrecognised impaired assets at 30 June 2012 (30 June 2011: nil). The aggregate amount of undrawn balances on
lending commitments to counterparties for whom drawn balances are 90 days past due is nil at 30 June 2012 (30 June 2011: nil).

Summary of Lending
loans and
advances to
corporate and
Institutional
customers

loans and
advances
to retail
customers
2012
$'000

Total
loans and
advances

2012
$'000

loans and
advances to
corporate and
Institutional
customers

loans and
advances
to retail
customers

2012
$'000

Total
loans and
advances

2011
$'000

2011
$'000

2011
$'000

10,779,701

1,470,534

12,250,235

9,744,148

1,547,017

11,291,165

186,884

15,178

202,062

169,793

14,972

184,765

16,049

68,074

84,123

41,088

64,919

106,007

10,982,634

1,553,786

12,536,420

11,581,937

Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired
Impaired

9,955,029

1,626,908

Collective allowance for impairment

(24,988)

(24,672)

(49,660)

(21,473)

(15,471)

(36,944)

Individual allowance for impairment

(7,799)

(33,681)

(41,480)

(16,955)

(33,242)

(50,197)

9,916,601

1,578,195

11,494,796

grOss amOunt

NET amOuNT

10,949,847

1,495,433

12,445,280

Loans and Advances Past Due but Not Impaired
retail
unsecured
lending

residential
mortgage
loans

corporate
Exposures

2012
$'000

2012
$'000

2012
$'000

23,772

96,227

Past due 31-60 days

6,456

Past due 61-90 days

3,137

Past due up to 30 days

Past due > 90 days
TOTal

Total
loans and
advances

retail
unsecured
lending

residential
mortgage
loans

corporate
Exposures

Total
loans and
advances

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2011
$'000

2011
$'000

2011
$'000

9,585

129,584

21,895

80,879

4,215

106,989

15,108

1,120

22,684

7,526

13,008

5,269

25,803

8,504

2,121

13,762

2,959

11,662

4,577

19,198

3,404

30,276

2,353

36,033

2,934

28,930

911

32,775

36,769

150,115

15,179

202,063

35,314

134,479

14,972

184,765

Impaired Assets
The breakdown of the gross amount of individually impaired loans and advances by class and restructured loans is as follows:
unsecured retail
lending
2012
$'000

residential mortgage
loans

corporate Exposures

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

Gross Impaired
366

179

40,722

26,321

64,919

11,276

3,896

3,367

12,121

20,799

24,467

56,510

Transfers to performing

–

(90)

(10,565)

–

(147)

–

Recoveries of amounts previously written off

–

–

(14,868)

(743)

(5,855)

(3)

(3,090)

(12,581)

(5,655)

(15,310)

(2,864)

68,074

64,919

Balance at the beginning of the year
Transfers from performing

Amounts written off
balaNcE aT ThE ENd Of ThE yEar

There are no other classes of impaired banking assets.

(3,322)
940

366

14,829

40,722
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27. Kiwibank – specific banking assets
Allowance for Impairment Losses in Statement of Financial Position
GrOuP
2012
$'000

2011
$'000

Collective allowance for impairment losses

49,660

36,944

Individually impaired assets

41,480

50,197

Allowance for impairment losses

91,140

87,141

31

269

91,171

87,410

The cumulative change in fair value arising from changes in credit risk
for loans and advances designated at fair value
TOTal allOwaNcE fOr ImPaIrmENT lOSSES

Impairment Losses Per Statement of Comprehensive Income
GrOuP
2012
$'000

2011
$'000

Impairment losses on loans not at fair value through profit or loss

16,048

30,515

Charge to income statement for individually impaired assets

19,112

48,467

Total impairment losses per income statement

35,160

78,982

50,197

9,963

Charge to income statement

19,112

48,467

Bad debts written off

(27,829)

(8,233)

balaNcE aT ThE ENd Of ThE yEar

41,480

50,197

ImPaIrmENT allOwaNcE

Individually impaired assets
Balance at the beginning of the year

The reconciliation of the collective allowance account for losses on loans and advances by class is as follows:
retail
unsecured
lending

residential
mortgage
loans

corporate
Exposures

retail
unsecured
lending

residential
mortgage
loans

corporate
Exposures

2012
$'000

2012
$'000

2012
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$'000

2011
$'000

2011
$'000

Balance at beginning of the year

3,661

17,812

Impairment losses on loans not
at fair value through profit or loss

3,729

2,743

15,471

36,944

3,824

2,584

3,135

9,543

9,201

15,673

2,951

15,228

12,336

30,515

Advances written off

(2,956)

–

–

(2,956)

(3,114)

–

–

TOTal cOllEcTIvE allOwaNcE
fOr ImPaIrmENT lOSSES

4,434

20,555

24,672

49,661

3,661

17,812

15,471

Total

Total
2011
$'000

(3,114)
36,944

Kiwibank uses the following derivative instruments for both hedging and non-hedging purposes.
Currency forwards represent commitments to purchase foreign and domestic currency, including undelivered spot transactions.
Foreign currency and interest rate futures are contractual obligations to receive or pay a net amount based on changes in currency
rates or interest rates, or to buy or sell foreign currency or a financial instrument on a future date at a specified price, established in
an organised financial market. The credit risk is negligible, as futures contracts are collateralised by cash or marketable securities,
and changes in the futures’ contract value are settled daily with the exchange.
Forward rate agreements are individually negotiated interest rate futures that call for a cash settlement at a future date for the
difference between a contracted rate of interest and the current market rate, based on a notional principal amount.
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Currency and interest rate swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another. Swaps result in an economic
exchange of currencies or interest rates (for example, fixed rate for floating rate) or a combination of all these (ie cross-currency
interest rate swaps). No exchange of principal takes place, except for certain currency swaps. Kiwibank's credit risk represents the
potential cost to replace the swap contracts if counterparties fail to fulfil their obligation. This risk is monitored on an ongoing basis
with reference to the current fair value. To control the level of credit risk taken, Kiwibank assesses counterparties using the same
techniques as for its lending activities.
Foreign currency and interest rate options are contractual agreements under which the seller (writer) grants the purchaser (holder)
the right, but not the obligation, either to buy (a call option) or sell (a put option) at or by a set date or during a set period, a specific
amount of a foreign currency or a financial instrument at a predetermined price. The seller receives a premium from the purchaser
in consideration for the assumption of foreign exchange or interest rate risk. Options may be either exchange-traded or negotiated
between Kiwibank and a customer over-the-counter. Kiwibank is exposed to credit risk on purchased options only and only to the
extent of their carrying amount, which is their fair value.
The notional amounts of certain types of financial instruments provide a basis for comparison with instruments recognised on the
statement of financial position but do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the current fair value
of the instruments and, therefore, do not indicate Kiwibank’s exposure to credit or price risks. The derivative instruments become
favourable (assets) or unfavourable (liabilities) as a result of fluctuations in market interest rates or foreign exchange rates relative
to their terms. The aggregate contractual or notional amount of derivative financial instruments on hand, the extent to which
instruments are favourable or unfavourable, and thus the aggregate fair values of derivative financial assets and financial liabilities,
can fluctuate significantly from time to time. The fair value of derivative instruments is set out below.
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28. Kiwibank – specific banking derivative financial instruments
Notional
value
2012
$'000

fair
value

Notional
value

2012
$'000

fair
value

2011
$'000

2011
$'000

DERIVATIVES HELD FOR TRADING
fOrEIGN ExchaNGE dErIvaTIvES

– Forward contracts
– Swap agreements

1,012,958

8,222

649,617

(21,795)

457,159

13,418

512,717

12,147

– Options purchased

5,520

83

105

2

– Options sold

5,674

(83)

107

(2)

tOtal FOreign exchange Derivatives

1,481,311

21,640

1,162,546

(9,648)

200,000

9

200,000

(1)

INTErEST raTE dErIvaTIvES

– Forward rate agreements
– Swap agreements

10,821,457

– Futures contracts

975,000

(7,522)
97

4,923,690

(31,041)

1,301,099

(10)

tOtal interest rate Derivatives

11,996,457

(7,416)

6,424,789

(31,052)

TOTal dErIvaTIvES hEld fOr TradING

13,477,768

14,224

7,587,335

(40,700)

– Swap agreements

3,571,000

(55,738)

3,374,500

(81,564)

tOtal Derivatives DesignateD as cash FlOw heDges

3,571,000

(55,738)

3,374,500

(81,564)

dErIvaTIvES dESIGNaTEd aS caSh flOw hEdGES

Interest rate derivatives

dErIvaTIvES dESIGNaTEd aS faIr valuE hEdGES

Interest rate derivatives
– Swap agreements
tOtal Derivatives DesignateD as Fair value heDges
TOTal dErIvaTIvE fINaNcIal INSTrumENTS

446,884
446,884

23,412

445,374

23,412

445,374

12,990
12,990

17,495,652

(18,102) 11,407,209

(109,274)

– Current derivative financial instruments

17,495,652

(18,102) 11,407,209

(109,274)

TOTal lOaNS aNd advaNcES

17,495,652

(18,102) 11,407,209

(109,274)

Comprising:

Fair Value Hedges
Kiwibank has entered into asset interest rate swaps to hedge interest rate risk resulting from any potential change or movement in
the fair value of fixed rate coupon bonds. Kiwibank hedges this risk through the use of pay fixed interest rate swaps. The designated
hedging relationships result in fair value gains and losses on the fixed rate assets and interest rate swaps. The fair value gains
and losses are recorded through the statement of comprehensive income as incurred. When a fair value hedging relationship is
de-designated, the fair value adjustments to the carrying statement of financial position value are amortised to the statement of
comprehensive income over the remaining period to the maturity date of the fixed rate asset.
Kiwibank also partially hedges the interest rate risk arising from any potential change in the fair value of fixed rate subordinated
debt issuances. Kiwibank hedges this risk through the use of fixed interest rate swaps. The designated hedging relationships
result in fair value gains and losses on the fixed rate liability and interest rate swap. The fair value gains and losses are recorded
through the statement of comprehensive income as incurred. When a fair value hedging relationship is de-designated, the fair value
adjustments to the carrying statement of financial position value are amortised to the statement of comprehensive income over the
remaining period to the maturity date of the fixed rate liability

Cash Flow Hedges
Kiwibank hedges the short term future reissuance of fixed rate customers and future retail term deposits through the use of
interest rate swaps. Previously Kiwibank also hedged the cash flows from variable rate loan assets and liabilities. Gains and losses
deferred in the cash flow hedge reserve will be transferred to the statement of comprehensive income over the next one to five
years, as the cash flows under the hedged transactions occur.
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29. Kiwibank – specific banking liabilities
GrOuP
2012
$'000

2011
$'000

296,709

736,920

18,015

13,726

duE TO OThEr fINaNcIal INSTITuTIONS

Repurchase agreements
Collateral Borrowing

765

42,995

18,442

2,323

333,931

795,964

745,062

630,817

Demand deposits bearing interest

2,077,148

1,962,529

Term deposits

8,742,517

7,992,925

11,564,727

10,586,271

11,188,604

10,267,107

Unsettled payables
ATM cash at other banks
TOTal duE TO OThEr fINaNcIal INSTITuTIONS

All amounts due to other financial institutions are expected to be settled within the next 12 months.
dEPOSITS

Demand deposits not bearing interest

TOTal dEPOSITS

Comprising:
– Current deposits
– Non-current deposits
TOTal dEPOSITS

376,123

319,164

11,564,727

10,586,271

In the event of liquidation of Kiwibank, deposit holders will rank equally with all other creditors but ahead of subordinated debt
holders and shareholders. In addition, all payment obligations of Kiwibank, excluding any payment obligations, the terms of which
expressly provide that they do not have the benefit of the guarantee, are guaranteed under a deed poll guarantee (the “Guarantee”)
provided by Kiwibank's ultimate parent company, NZP.
dEbT SEcurITIES ISSuEd
SHORT TERM DEBT
825,409

549,266

Certificates of deposit – amortised cost

53,375

116,673

Certificates of deposit – held for trading

189,131

209,113

719,105

634,795

18,661

–

1,805,681

1,509,847

1,098,065

900,572

Commercial paper

LONG TERM DEBT

Medium term notes
Fair value hedge adjustment on medium term notes
TOTal dEbT SEcurITIES ISSuEd

Comprising:
– Current debt securities
– Non-current debt securities

707,616

609,275

TOTal dEbT SEcurITIES ISSuEd

1,805,681

1,509,847
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30. Kiwibank – banking financial instruments
Financial Instruments by Category

loans and
receivables

assets at fair value
through profit and loss
designated
held for trading
at fvTPl

available
– for-sale

derivatives
used for
hedging

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Cash and cash equivalents

315,061

–

–

–

–

315,061

Due from other financial institutions

171,381

–

–

–

–

171,381

–

–

104,239

–

–

104,239

30 JUNE 2012

Financial assets held for trading
Available-for-sale assets
Loans and advances
Derivative financial instruments
Balances with related parties
Other financial assets
TOTal fINaNcIal aSSETS

–

1,400,966

–

–

–

1,400,966

12,401,274

–

–

44,007

–

12,445,281

–

–

107,819

–

30,325

138,144

57,909

–

–

–

–

57,909

10,586

–

–

–

–

10,586

12,956,211

1,400,966

212,058

44,007

30,325

14,643,567

30 JUNE 2011

Cash and cash equivalents

296,302

–

–

–

–

296,302

Due from other financial institutions

440,483

–

–

–

–

440,483

Financial assets held for trading

–

–

324,609

–

–

324,609

Available-for-sale assets

–

1,123,452

–

–

–

1,123,452

Loans and advances
Derivative financial instruments

11,046,943

–

–

447,853

–

11,494,796

–

–

53,519

–

20,026

73,545

Balances with related parties

3,571

–

–

–

–

3,571

Other financial assets

8,086

–

–

–

–

8,086

11,795,385

1,123,452

378,128

447,853

20,026

13,764,844

TOTal fINaNcIal aSSETS

liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss
designated
held for trading
at fvTPl

derivatives
used for
hedging

Other financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

–

–

–

333,931

333,931

30 JUNE 2012

Due to other financial institutions
Deposits and other borrowings
Derivative financial instruments
Debt securities issued
Term subordinated debt

–

–

–

11,564,727

11,564,727

93,595

–

62,650

–

156,245

189,131

825,409

–

791,141

1,805,681

–

–

–

63,922

63,922

Balances with related parties

–

–

–

3,780

3,780

Other financial liabilities

–

–

–

41,674

41,674

282,726

825,409

62,650

12,799,175

13,969,960

–

–

–

795,964

795,964

TOTal fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES
30 JUNE 2011

Due to other financial institutions
Deposits and other borrowings
Derivative financial instruments
Debt securities issued

–

–

–

10,586,271

10,586,271

94,219

–

88,600

–

182,819

209,113

549,266

–

751,468

1,509,847

Term subordinated debt

–

–

–

142,723

142,723

Balances with related parties

–

–

–

19

19

Other financial liabilities

–

–

–

25,633

25,633

303,332

549,266

88,600

12,302,078

13,243,276

TOTal fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES
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Risk Management Policies
Kiwibank's exposure to risk arises primarily from its business activities as a financial intermediary and financial markets
participant. Kiwibank recognises the importance of effective risk management to its business success and to its customers.
Risk management enables Kiwibank to both increase its financial and organisational growth opportunities and mitigate potential
loss or damage.

Organisational perspective
Kiwibank approaches the management of risk using an organisational framework that is characterised by:
• The Board providing oversight on risk appetites, strategies, and monitoring progress.
• Through approval, delegation and limit structures responsibility is delegated to the CRO and executive management for
managing the various elements of risk.
• Business unit level accountability for the management of risks in accordance with agreed strategies and the Bank’s risk
management framework.
• Independent oversight of business unit risk management to i) provide regular risk evaluation and reporting; and ii) assess the
adequacy and effectiveness of management’s control of risk.
The directors of Kiwibank are explicitly responsible for the stewardship of Kiwibank. To help discharge this obligation, the Board has
established the Finance, Audit and Disclosures Committee (which includes members who have appropriate financial experience and
understanding of the banking industry in which Kiwibank operates), and Risk Credit and Compliance Committee which collectively
are responsible for:
• Review and approval of Kiwibank’s frameworks and policies for managing business, credit, market and operational risk and
maintaining an effective risk management framework.
• Monitoring the bank’s risk profile, performance, exposures against limits, capital levels and management of Kiwibank’s risks.
• Monitoring anticipated changes in the economic and business environment and other factors relevant to Kiwibank’s risk profile.
• Review and approval of limits and conditions that apply to risk taking including the authorities delegated to the CEO and
executive team.
• Review of internal audit activities and significant audit issues.
The CRO and executive management team are responsible for implementing the risk management framework approved by the
Board and for developing appropriate strategies, policies, controls, processes and procedures for identifying, measuring and
managing risk. The following specialised management committees have been formed to ensure bank-wide input and appropriate
focus on specific risk matters, namely i) the Asset-Liability Committee (ALCO – which is concerned with statement of financial
position structure, capital, funding and market risk); ii) the Executive Risk Committee (focused on business, credit and operational
risk); iii) the Disclosure Committee (focused on continuous disclosure requirements) and iv) the Portfolio Governance Investment
Committee (which considers certain risks associated with the Bank’s key strategic projects and investment portfolio).
Independent Credit and Market risk-control units operate alongside the Bank’s Lending business units and Treasury unit.
These risk-control functions are accountable for identifying and quantifying credit and market risks, respectively, and for working
with the Lending and Treasury business units to implement appropriate policies, procedures and controls to manage those risks.
Kiwibank’s Risk Management Unit has been assigned the role of internal monitor. The Risk Management Unit is tasked with
ensuring that risk based reporting of financial and non-financial threats to Kiwibank is undertaken on a regular basis. The unit
provides an independent appraisal of business units’ risk positions and the overall control environment, submitting reports on the
bank’s risk profile through ALCO and the Executive Risk Committee, and onto the Board Risk, Credit and Compliance Committee
and the Finance, Audit and Disclosures Committee.

Internal audit
Kiwibank has an independent internal audit function, which appraises the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control
environment, and reports results to both Management and the Board Finance Audit and Disclosure Committee. The internal audit
function reports directly to the Chair of the Board Finance, Audit and Disclosures Committee with matrix reporting to the CRO.
In planning audit activities, internal audit adopts a risk-based approach that directs and concentrates resources to those areas of
greatest significance, strategic concern and risk to the business. This encompasses reviews of major credit, market, technology
and operating risks within Kiwibank. Significant findings are reported quarterly to the Finance Audit and Disclosure Committee.
The audit plan is approved by the Finance Audit and Disclosure Committee. All issues and recommendations reported to
management are tracked and monitored internally to ensure completion and agreed actions are undertaken where appropriate.

116
New Zealand Post Group
Annual Report 2012

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2012

30. Kiwibank – banking financial instruments (continued)
Risk management framework
Kiwibank’s risk management framework revolves around four key functions. Namely:
Strategic risk management – A framework and set of processes that the bank uses to plan, organise, lead and control risk
management activities in an effort to minimise the effects and impacts of risk events on the Bank’s capital and earnings. This
reflects the Basel 2 accord requirements for a properly framed structure from which risk management strategies and policy can
be devolved. This framework provides: i) A high level “risk structure” for the classification/categorisation of all risks deemed
material to the Bank, which forms the basis of reporting the Bank’s risk profile. ii) Risk appetite – a formal statement of the Bank’s
willingness to take on financial risks and a basic operational pre-requisite for the establishment of consistent risk limits. iii) Risk
policy statements – these explicitly articulate the Bank’s fundamental attitude towards risk and risk management. The risk policy
statements are intended to ensure employees understanding of the Bank’s risk management goals throughout the organisation.
iv) Risk principles – these are central rules for risk management decision-making and form the basis for maximum uniformity in
risk management decision-making.
Capital management and capital adequacy – Kiwibank’s capital management strategy seeks to ensure the Bank is adequately
capitalised while recognising capital is often an expensive form of funding or insurance. The Bank seeks to maintain and acquire
capital in an economically effective manner so as to i) support future development and growth aspirations; ii) comply at all times
with regulatory capital requirements; iii) maintain a strong internal capital base to cover all material inherent risks; and iv) maintain
an investment grade credit rating.
The Bank undertakes a programme of activities designed to ensure that it has sufficient financial resources to continue as a going
concern even if it suffers a material unforeseen or unexpected risk event(s). This programme, called the Internal Capital Adequacy
Assessment Programme (ICAAP), deals primarily with assessing the Bank's capacity to absorb risk based on i) identification and
quantification of its immediate risks, and ii) comparison of those risks with its financial capital (that may have to be sacrificed if
these risks materialise).
The Kiwibank Board of Directors has ultimate responsibility for capital adequacy and approves capital policy and minimum internal
capital levels and limits.
In ensuring that Kiwibank has adequate overall capital in relation to its risk profile, a mixture of risk capital estimates and
judgement based estimates have been made relating to all material risks, even where they are hard to quantify. Included in these
estimates is also a trade-off between the importance of allocating capital to such risks and the robustness of the Bank’s approach
to mitigating and managing these risks.
The Bank monitors its risk profile and internal and regulatory capital adequacy, and reports this on a regular basis to the Board. In
the event of large, unexpected losses, the Bank is committed to restoring its capital position. Management have developed plans
accordingly. The Banking Group’s Risk Management Systems are currently being reviewed by an external party.
Risk assessment and risk prioritisation – This function administered by the Risk Management Unit is designed to identify and assess
the real risks facing the Bank. The prioritisation process is intended to ensure that management focus and appropriate resources
are directed at isolating, reducing or controlling expected (probable) risk events. The risk prioritisation process involves assessing
the probability and severity of losses using (where possible) quantitative risk and control data.
Enterprise risk management – Irrespective of their relative significance, the majority of risk situations facing the bank occur in the
day-to-day operations of the business. These risks (referred to as enterprise risks – as they arise from operating the business)
are not confined to formal risk domains (i.e. credit, market, or operational risk) or business lines. As it is considered desirable to
manage risk in a consistent and comprehensive manner across the whole of Kiwibank, a decision support model exists for any
manager needing to make a risk management decision about a specific risk matter arising in their current or proposed operations
(i.e. day-to-day business activities).
Kiwibank’s high level “risk structure” recognises four main types of risk (or risk domains). Specifically:
Credit risk – the risk of financial loss arising from the failure of a customer or counterparty to honour any financial or
contractual obligation.
Market risk – the potential for losses arising from adverse movements in the level and volatility of market factors, such as interest
rates and foreign exchange rates. This risk domain also includes the risk that Kiwibank will not have sufficient funds available to
meet financial and transactional cash-flow obligations
Operational risk – the risk of direct or indirect losses resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, and systems, or
from external events. This risk domain includes legal risk. Legal risk includes, but is not limited to, exposure to fines, penalties, or
punitive damages resulting from regulatory actions, as well as private settlements
Business and strategic risk – events that impede or prevent the bank achieving its stated business goals or strategies, including
missed opportunities and potential losses/damage arising from poor strategic business decisions.
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credit risk
Kiwibank’s credit risks arise from lending to customers and from inter-bank, treasury, international and capital market activities.
Kiwibank has clearly defined credit policies and frameworks for the approval and management of credit risk.
Key elements of the Credit risk management framework are:
Strategy and organisational structure – The Board requires sound lending growth for appropriate returns. Kiwibank pursues this
objective in a structured manner, managing credit risk through the formulation of high-level credit policies, application of credit
underwriting standards, delegated authorities, a robust control environment, monitoring of the portfolios, review of all major credit
risks and risk concentrations. The Board employs a structure of delegated authorities to implement and monitor the multiple facets
of credit risk management.
Kiwibank’s Executive Risk Committee (comprising of executive management) is tasked with producing robust credit policies, credit
management processes and asset writing strategies; examining portfolio standards, concentrations of lending, asset impairment;
and monitoring compliance with policy.
An independent credit management function staffed by credit risk specialists exists to i) provide independent credit decisions; ii)
support front-line lending staff in the application of sound credit practices; iii) provide centralised remedial management of arrears;
and iv) undertake portfolio monitoring and loan asset quality analysis and reporting.
The integrity and effectiveness of the bank’s credit risk management practices and asset quality is supported by independent
assessments by the Risk Asset Review Unit, and Internal and External Audit functions.
Credit risk mitigation – Kiwibank’s Board approved wholesale credit management policy sets out the parameters for which it can
enter into credit exposures arising from on and off-balance sheet transactions. Kiwibank also has legal arrangements with its
major institutional counterparties to allow netting of off-balance sheet exposures along with collateral management arrangements.
Kiwibank applies the simple method to measure the mitigating effects of collateral.
Portfolio structure and monitoring – Kiwibank’s credit portfolio is divided into two segments, Personal (Consumer), and Business Markets.
The Personal segment is comprised of housing loan, credit card and personal loan facilities. This segment is managed on a
delinquency band approach.
The Business Markets segment consists of lending to small and medium sized businesses. Each exposure is assigned an internal
risk rating that is based on an assessment of the risk of default. These exposures are generally required to be reviewed on an
annual basis, unless they are small facilities that are managed on a behavioural basis after their initial rating at origination.
The overall composition and quality of the credit portfolios is monitored taking into account the potential changes in economic
conditions.
Credit approval standards – Kiwibank has clearly defined credit underwriting policies and standards for all lending, which incorporate
income and repayment capacity, acceptable terms, security, and loan documentation criteria. In the first instance, Kiwibank relies
on the assessed integrity of the debtor or counterparty and their ability to meet their financial obligations for repayment.
Longer term consumer lending is generally secured against real estate, while short term revolving consumer credit (personal
lending) is generally unsecured. Kiwibank requires adequate and sustainable loan servicing capability, and may also require security
cover within loan to security valuation as set down in Kiwibank’s credit policy.
Collateral security in the form of real property and/or general security interest over business assets is generally taken for Business
credit except for government, bank and corporate counterparties of strong financial standing. The Bank uses ISDA agreements to
document derivative activities and limit exposures to credit losses. Under ISDA protocols, in the event of default, all contracts with
the counterparty are terminated and settled on a net basis.
Credit facilities are approved through a hierarchy of delegated approval authorities that reflect the skill and experience of lending
management.
Problem credit facility management – Credit exposures are monitored regularly through the examination of irregular and delinquent
accounts. This enables doubtful debts to be immediately identified so that specific provisions for potential losses can be established
as early as possible. Problem credit facilities are monitored to ensure workout and collection recovery strategies are established
and enacted promptly to minimise risk of potential losses.
Credit risk portfolios are regularly assessed for objective evidence of impairment. Kiwibank creates portfolio impairment provisions
where there is objective evidence that the portfolio contains probable losses that will be identified in future periods. Kiwibank also
creates an individually assessed provision against specific credit exposures when there is objective evidence that it will not be able
to collect all amounts due.
Operations control environment – Operationally, credit risk is controlled through a combination of approvals, limits, monitoring and
review procedures. Functions are segregated so that no one person is in a position to control all significant stages of processing
a credit transaction, thereby reducing the chance of error or defalcation escaping detection. Preparation of formal lending
documentation only occurs after an independent officer in the operations area has ensured that the credit has been approved and
the facility documentation matches the terms of the credit approval.
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30. Kiwibank – banking financial instruments (continued)
Concentration of Credit Risk
Concentrations of credit risk arise where Kiwibank is exposed to risk in activities or industries of a similar nature. An analysis of
financial assets by industry sector at balance date is as follows:
GrOuP
2012
$'000

2011
$'000

1,269,455

1,003,598

785,143

830,083

10,982,590

9,955,029

37,875

81,889

1,850

11,504

NEw ZEalaNd

– government, local bodies and services
– finance, investment and insurance
– households
– transport and storage
– communications
– electricity, gas and water
– construction
– property services
– agriculture
– health and community services
– personal and other services

4,667

26,559

61,798

74,585

1,026,605

1,081,665

34,911

27,284

53,654

47,686

166,200

129,696

60,313

67,224

110,218

114,933

128,845

388,593

14,724,124

13,840,328

– retail and wholesale trade
– food and other manufacturing
OvErSEaS

– finance, investment and insurance
tOtal Financial assets (interest earning)

Less collective allowance for impairment losses

(91,140)

(87,141)

Other financial assets

10,582

11,657

14,643,566

13,764,844

TOTal fINaNcIal aSSETS

Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk Before Collateral Held or Other Credit Enhancements
crEdIT rISk rElaTING TO STaTEmENT Of fINaNcIal POSITION aSSETS
44,007

447,853

Fixed rate mortgages at amortised cost

4,686,508

4,572,826

Variable rate mortgages

7,520,714

6,294,899

285,192

266,359

Fixed rate mortgages at fair value through profit or loss

Unsecured lending

57,909

–

Due from other financial institutions

171,380

440,483

Derivative financial instruments

138,144

73,545

Financial assets held for trading

104,239

324,609

1,400,966

1,123,452

315,061

296,302

10,586

11,657

14,734,706

13,851,985

Balances with related parties

Available for sale assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other assets
tOtal grOss Financial assets

Allowance for impairment losses
TOTal NET fINaNcIal aSSETS

(91,140)
14,643,566

(87,141)
13,764,844

The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to Kiwibank at 30 June 2012 and 30 June 2011, without
taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. The exposures set out above are based on net carrying
amounts as reported in the statement of financial position.
As shown above 86% of the total maximum exposure of Kiwibank is derived from loans and advances to retail and corporate
customers (30 June 2011 – 84%). Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of
credit risk resulting from both its loan and advances portfolio and its wholesale assets.
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Credit Exposure Concentrations
credit exposure to individual counterparties
Credit exposure concentrations are disclosed on the basis of actual exposures and gross of set-offs. Peak end-of-day aggregate
credit exposures have been calculated using Kiwibank’s tier one capital at the end of the period.
There were no individual counterparties, excluding connected persons, bank counterparties and the central government of any
country with a long-term credit rating of A- or A3 above, or its equivalent, where the period end and peak end-of-day aggregate
actual credit exposures, net of individual credit impairment allowances (which were nil), equalled or exceeded 10% of the Banking
Group’s shareholder’s equity as at reporting date.
In the 3 months ended 30 June 2012, there have been no credit exposure concentrations with non bank counterparties where actual
credit exposures equalled or exceeded 10% of the Banking Group’s shareholder’s equity as at reporting date (3 months ended 30
June 2011: nil).

Market Risk
Market risk arises from the mismatch between assets and liabilities in the banking business and from controlled trading
undertaken in the pursuit of profit. In order to manage its own exposure to market risk, Kiwibank trades diverse financial
instruments including interest rates, foreign currencies and transacts in derivative instruments such as swaps, options, futures
and forward rate agreements. These activities are managed using structural limits (including volume and basis point value limits)
in conjunction with scenario analysis. Market risk limits are allocated based on business strategies, modelling and experience, in
addition to market liquidity and risk concentration analysis.
Key elements of Kiwibank’s Market risk management framework are:
Interest rate risk management – The Board expects reasonable stability in Kiwibank’s net interest income over time. Kiwibank’s
Treasury function has been tasked with managing the sensitivity of net income to changes in wholesale market interest rates. This
sensitivity (known as structural interest rate risk) arises from the bank’s lending and deposit taking activities and investment of
capital and other liabilities. The provision of loans and accepting deposits at both fixed and variable rates gives rise to the risk that
Kiwibank could have unmatched positions leading to material exposures in a shifting interest rate environment. Other activities,
such as current account facilities and employing financial instruments such as swaps, options and forward rate agreements also
incur interest rate risks.
The main objective of the management of interest rate risk is to achieve a balance between reducing risk to earnings from the
adverse effect of interest rate movements and enhancing net interest income through the correct anticipation of the direction and
extent of interest rate changes.
Kiwibank’s ALCO (comprising executive management) is responsible for implementing and monitoring interest rate risk
management policies within Board defined policy guidelines and limits. Interest rate risk is managed by Kiwibank’s Treasury unit
within pre-approved limits.
Interest rate risk is measured in terms of Kiwibank’s notional exposure to potential shifts in future interest rates relative to the
timescale within which assets and liabilities can be re-priced. A separate independent Market Risk Management unit is responsible
for the daily measurement and monitoring of market risk exposures.
Kiwibank reduces interest rate risk by seeking to match the re-pricing of assets and liabilities. A substantial portion of customer
deposits and lending is at variable rates, which are periodically adjusted to reflect market movements. Where natural hedging
still leaves a resultant interest rate mismatch, the residual risks are hedged within predefined limits through the use of physical
financial instruments, interest rate swaps and other derivative financial instruments.
The table below summarises Kiwibank’s exposure to interest rate risk. It includes the financial instruments at carrying amounts,
categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates. The fair value adjustment on the revaluation of financial assets
and financial liabilities is categorised in the applicable re-pricing category below.
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30. Kiwibank – banking financial instruments (continued)
Interest
Insensitive

Total

up to 3
months

3 to 6
months

6 months
to 1 year

between 1
and 2 years

Over 2
years

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Cash and cash equivalents

315,061

44,536

270,525

–

–

–

–

Due from other financial institutions

171,380

–

87,057

84,323

–

–

–

Financial assets held for trading

104,239

–

14,301

3,155

38,212

19,213

29,358

1,400,966

–

421,606

183,582

478,384

–

317,394

8,427,630

580,479

1,288,578

1,710,190

510,700

30 JUNE 2012
fINaNcIal aSSETS

Available for sale assets
Loans and advances

12,445,281

(72,296)

138,144

138,144

–

–

–

–

–

Balances with related parties

57,909

–

27,486

–

–

–

30,423

Other financial assets

10,586

10,586

–

–

–

–

–

14,643,566

120,970

9,248,605

851,539

1,805,174

1,729,403

887,875

333,931

18,442

315,489

–

–

–

–

11,564,728

743,676

6,730,410

2,412,189

1,302,455

193,327

182,671

156,245

156,245

–

–

–

–

–

1,805,679

–

1,360,533

28,282

20,362

5,043

391,459

63,922

–

–

–

–

63,922

–

3,780

3,780

–

–

–

–

–

41,674

41,674

–

–

–

–

–

13,969,959

963,817

8,406,432

2,440,471

1,322,817

262,292

574,130

482,357

1,467,111

313,745

Derivative financial instruments

TOTal fINaNcIal aSSETS
fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES

Due to other financial institutions
Deposits and other borrowings
Derivative financial instruments
Debt securities issued
Term subordinated debt
Balances with related parties
Other financial liabilities
TOTal fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES
On balance sheet gap

Net derivative notional principals
NET EffEcTIvE INTErEST raTE GaP

673,607
–
673,607

(842,847)
–
(842,847)

842,173
1,948,649
2,790,822

(1,588,932)
343,000
(1,245,932)

(1,006,148)
(523,791)

(1,297,924)
169,187

12,423
326,168
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Interest
Insensitive

Total

up to 3
months

3 to 6
months

6 months
to 1 year

between 1
and 2 years

Over 2
years

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Cash and cash equivalents

296,302

47,469

248,833

–

–

–

–

Due from other financial institutions

440,483

–

341,459

70,494

28,530

–

–

Financial assets held for trading

324,610

–

146,586

60,880

–

31,272

85,872

1,123,452

–

576,677

68,000

40,026

225,909

212,840

11,494,796

(68,218)

7,301,886

953,028

1,556,495

1,319,533

432,072

73,545

73,545

–

–

–

–

–

Balances with related parties

3,571

–

3,571

–

–

–

–

Other financial assets

8,086

8,086

–

–

–

–

–

13,764,845

60,882

8,619,012

1,152,402

1,625,051

1,576,714

730,784

795,964

2,323

793,641

–

–

–

–

10,586,270

630,817

7,105,030

1,378,025

1,153,235

171,077

148,086

182,819

182,819

–

–

–

–

–

1,509,846

–

1,122,471

24,664

–

30,146

332,565

142,723

–

–

–

77,315

–

65,408

19

19

–

–

–

–

–

25,633

25,633

–

–

–

–

–

13,243,274

841,611

9,021,142

1,402,689

1,230,550

201,223

546,059

394,501

1,375,491

184,725

(1,110,038)

30 JUNE 2011
fINaNcIal aSSETS

Available for sale assets
Loans and advances
Derivative financial instruments

TOTal fINaNcIal aSSETS
fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES

Due to other financial institutions
Deposits and other borrowings
Derivative financial instruments
Debt securities issued
Term subordinated debt
Balances with related parties
Other financial liabilities
TOTal fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES
On balance sheet gap

Net derivative notional principals
NET EffEcTIvE INTErEST raTE GaP

521,571
–
521,571

(780,729)
–
(780,729)

(402,130)

(250,287)

2,997,496

(1,025,608)

(842,663)

2,595,366

(1,275,895)

(448,162)

265,453

(19,187)
165,538

Comparative balances for interest and non interest bearing assets have been presented on a consistent basis with the current
year presentation. The change in classification primarily relates to derivative balances which were previously classified as
interest earning.
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30. Kiwibank – banking financial instruments (continued)
Currency risk management – Currency risk results from the mismatch of foreign currency assets and liabilities. These mismatches
can arise from the day-to-day purchase and sale of foreign currency and from deposit and lending activity in foreign currencies.
Kiwibank has a policy of hedging all foreign currency borrowing into New Zealand Dollars. Foreign currency denominated revenue
and expense flows are forecast and hedged on a proportional basis determined by the ALCO. Residual currency risks are monitored
in terms of open positions in each currency. Currency risks are monitored daily.
NZd

aud

uSd

GbP

Eur

OThEr

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Cash and cash equivalents

256,357

9,028

26,341

13,359

9,951

25

315,061

Due from other financial institutions

162,758

–

–

8,622

–

–

171,380

67,642

–

6,797

–

29,801

–

104,240

1,376,088

24,878

–

–

–

–

1,400,966

12,445,238

22

21

–

–

–

12,445,281

477,496

319,687

146,881

52,478

138,145

–

–

–

–

57,909

30 JUNE 2012
fINaNcIal aSSETS

Financial assets held for trading
Available for sale assets
Loans and advances
Derivative financial instruments
Balances with related parties
Other financial assets
Total financial assets

(829,774)
57,909

(28,623)
–

10,586

–

–

–

–

–

10,586

13,546,804

511,424

352,846

168,862

11,129

52,503

14,643,568

333,931

–

–

–

–

–

333,931

21,960

11,564,727

fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES

Due to other financial institutions

11,498,192

7,616

25,694

Derivative financial instruments

295,200

19,612

(85,353)

Debt securities issued

640,926

482,904

412,759

63,922

–

–

Deposits

Term subordinated debt
Balances with related parties
Other financial liabilities
Total financial liabilities
NET ON balaNcE ShEET fINaNcIal POSITION

9,960

1,305

(38,309)

(34,578)

147,261

39,523

82,308

1,805,681

–

–

–

63,922

(326)

156,246

3,780

–

–

–

–

–

3,780

41,674

–

–

–

–

–

41,674

12,877,625

510,132

353,100

168,895

11,174

49,035

13,969,961

669,179

1,292

3,468

673,607

(254)

(33)

(45)
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NZd

aud

uSd

GbP

Eur

OThEr

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Cash and cash equivalents

242,595

12,509

17,255

12,470

10,411

1,063

296,303

Due from other financial institutions

375,168

5,110

60,205

–

–

–

440,483

Financial assets held for trading

274,797

–

6,730

–

43,082

–

324,609

30 JUNE 2011
fINaNcIal aSSETS

Available for sale assets
Loans and advances
Derivative financial instruments
Balances with related parties
Other financial assets
tOtal Financial assets

1,056,527

66,925

–

–

–

–

1,123,452

11,494,796

–

–

–

–

–

11,494,796

(42,043)

263,327

(75,736)

–

(71,653)

(350)

73,545

3,571

–

–

–

–

–

3,571

8,086

–

–

–

–

–

8,086

13,413,497

347,871

8,454

12,470

[18,160]

713

13,764,845

fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES

Due to other financial institutions
Deposits

795,964

–

–

–

–

–

795,964

10,522,809

6,440

33,554

12,536

9,900

1,032

10,586,271

Derivative financial instruments

733,076

[5,876]

(419,125)

(99)

(87,803)

(37,354)

182,819

Debt securities issued

682,813

337,804

392,982

–

59,244

37,004

1,509,847

Term subordinated debt

142,723

–

–

–

–

–

142,723

19

–

–

–

–

–

19

Balances with related parties
Other financial liabilities
tOtal Financial liabilities
NET ON balaNcE ShEET fINaNcIal POSITION

25,633

–

–

–

–

–

25,633

12,903,037

338,368

7,411

12,437

[18,659]

682

13,243,276

510,460

9,503

1,043

33

499

31

521,569

Liquidity and funding risk management – Liquidity risk is the risk that Kiwibank will not have sufficient funds available to meet its
financial and transactional cash flow obligations.
Management of liquidity risk is designed to ensure that Kiwibank has the ability to generate or obtain sufficient cash in a timely
manner and at a reasonable price to meet its financial commitments on a daily basis. Responsibility for liquidity management is
delegated to the Bank’s Treasury function, under oversight of the ALCO.
Kiwibank monitors this risk daily, primarily by forecasting future cash requirements, both under normal conditions and during crisis
situations. Kiwibank manages this by
i) holding readily tradable, investment assets and deposits on call with high credit quality counterparties to provide for any
unexpected patterns in cash movements; and
ii) by seeking a stable funding base.
Kiwibank maintains a stock of prime liquid assets. Some assets classified as investment securities in the statements of financial
position fit the definition of liquid assets for this purpose.
Kiwibank maintains liquidity crisis contingency plans defining an approach for responding to liquidity threatening events. Funding
risk is allied to liquidity risk, but is concerned with the Bank’s capacity to fund increases in assets while meeting its payment
obligations, including repaying depositors and maturing wholesale debt.
Kiwibank employs asset and liability cash flow modelling to determine appropriate statement of financial position liquidity and
funding strategies. This modelling helps ensure that an appropriate portion of Kiwibank’s assets are funded by customer liabilities,
bank borrowing, and equity. This approach also recognises the favourable liquidity characteristics of long term customer liabilities
and wholesale debt funding, in reducing the impact or volatility of short term funding.
Under normal business conditions, Kiwibank seeks to satisfy the majority of its funding needs from retail liabilities. Kiwibank’s
borrowing capacity is an estimate of the amount of funding that can be raised in the wholesale markets. Kiwibank’s funding strategy
is designed to deliver a sustainable portfolio of wholesale funds.
Treasury (under oversight of the ALCO) is responsible for monitoring the Kiwibank’s funding base and ensuring that this base is
prudently maintained and adequately diversified.

124
New Zealand Post Group
Annual Report 2012

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2012

30. Kiwibank – banking financial instruments (continued)
Liquidity Risk
Kiwibank Liquidity Policy is approved by the Board and defines the core principles for measuring, managing and monitoring liquidity
risk across Kiwibank.

Liquidity risk management process
Kiwibank’s liquidity management responsibilities include:
• Day-to-day liquidity requirements. RBNZ liquidity ratios are calculated and monitored daily to ensure that Kiwibank:
• is compliant with part 11 of the Conditions of registration and the RBNZ “Liquidity policy” (BS13)
• maintains a prudent level of cash and highly liquid assets (“primary liquid assets”) and marketable assets of limited credit
risk (“secondary liquid assets”) to meet anticipated wholesale and retail outflows over a one week, one month and one year
period as well as provide adequate cover against funding stress or unexpected run-off risk.
• Securing an appropriately matched profile of future cash flows from maturing assets and liabilities.
• Implementing the banks funding plan which includes the development of sustainable wholesale funding capacity.
• Stress testing the banks funding and liquidity position with a range of adverse events covering a Kiwibank name crisis, an
international credit crisis, a macro-economic event and a significant earning loss.

Non-Derivative Cash Flows
The table below summarises the cash flows payable by Kiwibank under non-derivative financial liabilities by remaining contractual
maturities at the balance sheet date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, whereas the
inherent liquidity risk is managed using the Prime Liquidity Ratio (“PLR”) measure.

Derivative Cash Flows
Derivatives settled on a net basis
The table below analyses Kiwibank’s derivative financial liabilities that will be settled on a net basis into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows using forward rates.
Derivatives settled on a gross basis
The table below analyses Kiwibank’s derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a gross basis into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows using forward rates.
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On
demand

between
3 and 12
months

up To
3 months

between
1 and 5
years

more Than
5 years

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

333,931

–

–

–

–

333,931

5,879,735

1,717,985

3,835,995

441,019

131

11,874,865

462,707

592,525

78,840

733,232

–

1,867,304

Term subordinated debt

–

2,625

2,625

62,625

–

67,875

Other financial liabilities

41,674

–

–

–

–

41,674

6,718,047

2,313,135

3,917,460

1,236,876

131

14,185,649

Cash and cash equivalents

315,061

–

–

–

–

315,061

Due from other financial institutions

171,380

–

–

–

–

171,380

Financial assets held for trading

13,202

617

43,988

46,181

6,518

110,506

Available for sale assets

48,054

184,261

704,969

507,600

14,821

1,459,705

169,843

268,914

805,688

2,944,378

22,637,023

26,825,846

11,352

–

–

–

728,892

453,792

1,554,645

3,498,159

22,658,362

28,893,850

2,261,283

22,658,231

14,708,201

30 JUNE 2012
NON‑dErIvaTIvE caSh flOwS

Financial Liabilities
Due to other financial institutions
Deposits and other borrowings
Debt securities issued

tOtal Financial liabilities

Financial Assets

Loans and advances
Other financial assets
tOtal Financial assets
NET NON dErIvaTIvE caSh flOwS

11,352

(5,989,155)

(1,859,343)

(2,362,815)

Interest rate derivatives

(7,119)

(12,078)

(14,700)

(6,475)

(118)

(40,490)

TOTal dErIvaTIvE caSh flOwS – NET

(7,119)

(12,078)

(14,700)

(6,475)

(118)

(40,490)

dErIvaTIvE caSh flOwS – NET

dErIvaTIvE caSh flOwS – GrOSS

Foreign exchange derivatives
Inflow

605,397

422,843

83,153

393,343

–

1,504,736

Outflow

(597,828)

(423,181)

(78,652)

(389,794)

–

(1,489,455)

TOTal dErIvaTIvE caSh flOwS – GrOSS

7,569

(338)

4,501

net pOsitiOn

(5,988,705)

(1,871,759)

(2,373,014)

cumulaTIvE NET POSITION

(5,988,705)

(7,860,464) (10,233,478)

3,549

–

15,281

2,258,357

22,658,113

14,682,992

(7,975,121) 14,682,992

14,682,992
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30. Kiwibank – banking financial instruments (continued)
On
demand

between
3 and 12
months

up To
3 months

between
1 and 5
years

more Than
5 years

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

795,964

–

–

–

–

795,964

5,163,804

2,465,457

2,618,357

387,930

6

10,635,554

146,710

669,350

119,611

678,633

–

1,614,304

Term subordinated debt

–

5,520

80,520

67,875

–

153,915

Other financial liabilities

25,633

–

–

–

–

25,633

6,132,111

3,140,327

2,818,488

1,134,438

6

13,225,370

Cash and cash equivalents

296,302

–

–

–

–

296,302

Due from other financial institutions

440,483

–

–

–

–

440,483

91,065

101,097

14,954

104,562

35,341

347,019

Available for sale assets

105,929

237,420

188,284

660,327

–

1,191,960

Loans and advances

186,316

273,179

773,437

2,911,308

21,275,691

25,419,931

7,992

–

–

–

–

7,992

tOtal Financial assets

1,128,087

611,696

976,675

3,676,197

21,311,032

27,703,687

NET NON dErIvaTIvE caSh flOwS

(5,004,024)

(2,528,631)

(1,841,813)

2,541,759

21,311,026

14,478,317

Interest rate derivatives

(11,672)

(12,620)

(52,666)

(24,458)

376

(101,040)

TOTal dErIvaTIvE caSh flOwS – NET

(11,672)

(12,620)

(52,666)

(24,458)

376

(101,040)

Inflow

252,780

327,192

191,213

466,334

–

1,237,519

Outflow

(256,178)

(341,334)

(188,564)

(446,219)

–

(1,232,295)

(3,398)

(14,142)

2,649

20,115

–

5,224

30 JUNE 2011
NON‑dErIvaTIvE caSh flOwS

Financial Liabilities
Due to other financial institutions
Deposits and other borrowings
Debt securities issued

tOtal Financial liabilities

Financial Assets

Financial assets held for trading

Other financial assets

dErIvaTIvE caSh flOwS – NET

dErIvaTIvE caSh flOwS – GrOSS

Foreign exchange derivatives

TOTal dErIvaTIvE caSh flOwS – GrOSS
Off balaNcE ShEET caSh flOwS

Capital commitments

(404)

–

–

–

–

(404)

(1,105,185)

–

–

–

–

(1,105,185)

(391)

(781)

(3,517)

(17,528)

(17,018)

(39,235)

tOtal OFF balance sheet cash FlOws

(1,105,980)

(781)

(3,517)

(17,528)

(17,018)

(1,144,824)

net pOsitiOn

(6,125,074)

(2,556,174)

(1,895,347)

cumulaTIvE NET POSITION

(6,125,074)

(8,681,248) (10,576,595)

Loan commitments
Lease commitments

2,519,888

21,294,384

13,237,677

(8,056,707) 13,237,677

13,237,677

Equity risk – Equity risk results from the re-pricing of equity investments. Kiwibank does not undertake equity trading and there are
no significant exposures to equity instruments.
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Operational Risk
Operational risk is the potential exposure to financial and other damage arising from the way in which Kiwibank pursues its
business objectives. While operational risk can never be eliminated, Kiwibank endeavours to minimise the impact of operational
incidents by ensuring that the appropriate risk management methodologies, controls, systems, staff and processes are in place.
The key sources of operational risk included in the Bank’s operational risk measurement framework are i) internal fraud; ii) external
fraud; iii) acts inconsistent with workplace employment, health and safety laws; iv) unintentional or negligent failure to meet
professional obligations to specific customers (including fiduciary and suitability requirements) or from the design of a product;
v) failed transaction processing or process management; vi) disruption to business or system failures; and vii) loss or damage to
physical assets from natural disaster or other events.
Operational risk management within Kiwibank is based on the following core elements:
• Senior management are accountable to the Board for maintaining an adequate and effective control environment that is
commensurate with Kiwibank’s risk appetite and business objectives.
• Business units are responsible for the management of their operational risks. Each business area is responsible for the
identification, measurement, monitoring and mitigation of operational risk in their areas of responsibility.
• A central Risk Management Unit supports business units with operational risk identification, measurement and prioritisation.
The Risk Management Unit undertakes elementary quantitative operational risk measurements (using internal loss and potential
loss data) across the Bank and reports quarterly to the Board Risk Credit and Compliance Committee on Kiwibank’s overall
operational risk profile. An independent Internal Audit function, which appraises the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal
control environment, and reports results to both management and the Board’s Finance, Risk and Investment Committee.
Key management and control techniques employed by Kiwibank, include clear delegation of authority, segregation of duties, sound
project management, change control disciplines and business continuity planning. These techniques are enhanced by a focus on
staff competency and supervision. Where appropriate these management practices are augmented by risk transfer mechanisms
such as insurance, and by regular risk and control assessments.

Business and Strategic Risk
There are numerous external and internal uncertainties that may derail the business strategies or goals of Kiwibank. Success
in managing business risk is intrinsically more difficult than managing financial risks (ie. credit, market and operational risks).
It is only through sound business strategies and skilful execution of these business strategies that Kiwibank’s business goals/
objectives will be achieved. Risk management strategies are not a substitute for good business strategies but aid in the selection of
appropriate strategies and in their successful execution.
Kiwibank has three core business risk management strategies aimed at supporting the business strategies of the Bank.
Specifically:
• Establishment and maintenance of an internal organisational environment in which Business risk can meaningfully be managed.
• Establishment and maintenance of formal conceptual structures, measurement basis and risk management processes for the
evaluation and management of business and strategic risks.
• Building intelligent and sustainable capability within Kiwibank to enable both the pursuit of opportunities and mitigation of
vulnerabilities.
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30. Kiwibank – banking financial instruments (continued)
Concentration of Funding
Concentrations of funding arise where Kiwibank is funded by industries of a similar nature or in particular geographies. An analysis
of financial liabilities by industry sector and geography at balance date is as follows:
GrOuP
2012
$'000

2011
$'000

NEw ZEalaNd

– transport and storage
– financing, investment and insurance

74,143

157,359

3,357,582

3,589,685

4,235

5,467

– food and other manufacturing

28,634

24,859

– construction

22,420

20,607

– electricity, gas and water

– communications
– government, local bodies and services

5,280

5,025

431,606

444,827

36,197

50,538

– health and community services

105,710

153,706

– personal and other services

230,374

110,445

– property and business services

241,348

282,746

– education

79,654

148,533

– retail and wholesale trade

53,080

51,097

7,796,821

7,063,816

– financing, investment and insurance – Australia

351,789

335,927

– financing, investment and insurance – rest of world

873,139

538,986

– agriculture

– households
OvErSEaS

– households – Australia
– households – rest of the world
tOtal Financial liabilities (interest bearing)

Other financial liabilities
TOTal fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES

41,168

38,361

191,325

195,640

13,924,505

13,217,624

41,674

25,652

13,966,179

13,243,276
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Sensitivity Analysis
The table below summarises the pre-tax sensitivity of financial assets and financial liabilities to changes in the two key risk variables,
interest rate and currency risks using a reasonable change in these rates. The market value of the assets and liabilities were used as
the basis for the analysis and financial modelling was used to determine the impact on those values of changes in each risk scenario.
Interest rate risk
Carrying
Value
$'000

-1%
Statement of
Comprehensive
Income $'000

+1%
Statement of
Comprehensive
Income $'000

-1%
Equity
$'000

+1%
Equity
$'000

30 JUNE 2012
fINaNcIal aSSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

315,061

–

–

–

–

Due from other financial institutions

171,380

–

–

–

–

Financial assets held for trading
Available for sale assets
Loans and advances

104,239

1,730

1,400,966

–

12,445,281

19,822

(1,618)

1,730

(1,618)

13,390

(13,061)

(19,511)

19,822

(19,511)

(47,413)

47,059

(45,647)

–

138,144

48,883

Balances with related parties

57,909

–

–

–

–

Other financial assets

10,586

–

–

–

–

14,643,566

70,435

Derivative financial instruments

TOTal fINaNcIal aSSETS

(68,542)

82,001

(79,837)

fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES

Due to other financial institutions
Deposits and other borrowings
Derivative financial instruments
Debt securities issued
Term subordinated debt
Balances with related parties
Other financial liabilities
TOTal fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES

333,931

(9)

10

(9)

10

11,564,727

(3,165)

3,130

(3,165)

3,130

156,245

(42,293)

39,356

(72,699)

69,062

1,805,680

(10,520)

12,057

(10,520)

12,057

63,922

(752)

741

(752)

741

3,780

–

–

–

–

41,674

–

–

–

–

13,969,959

(56,739)

55,294

(87,145)

85,000

-10%
Equity
$'000

10%
Equity
$'000

6,523

(5,337)

currency risk
Carrying
Value
$'000

-10%
Statement of
Comprehensive
Income $'000

10%
Statement of
Comprehensive
Income $'000

Cash and cash equivalents

315,061

6,523

Due from other financial institutions

171,380

959

(784)

959

(784)

Financial assets held for trading

104,239

4,066

(3,327)

4,066

(3,327)

1,400,966

–

2,764

(2,262)

30 JUNE 2012
fINaNcIal aSSETS

Available for sale assets
Loans and advances
Derivative financial instruments
Balances with related parties
Other financial assets
TOTal fINaNcIal aSSETS

12,445,281

–

138,144

107,730

57,909

–

10,586

–

14,643,566

119,278

333,931

–

(5,337)

–
–
(87,887)
–
–
(97,335)

–
107,730
–
–
122,042

–
(87,887)
–
–
(99,597)

fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES

Due to other financial institutions
Deposits and other borrowings
Derivative financial instruments
Debt securities issued
Term subordinated debt
Balances with related parties
Other financial liabilities
TOTal fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES

11,564,727
156,245
1,805,680

–

–

–

(8,970)

7,339

(8,970)

7,339

15,221

(12,710)

15,221

(12,710)

(129,377)

105,854

(129,377)

105,854

63,922

–

–

–

–

3,780

–

–

–

–

41,674

–

–

–

–

13,969,959

(123,126)

100,483

(123,126)

100,483
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30. Kiwibank – banking financial instruments (continued)
Interest rate risk
-1%
+1%
Carrying Value Income Statement Income Statement
$'000
$'000
$'000

-1%
Equity
$'000

+1%
Equity
$'000

30 JUNE 2011
fINaNcIal aSSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

296,302

–

–

–

–

Due from other financial institutions

440,483

(1,329)

1,379

(1,329)

1,379

Financial assets held for trading

324,609

4,517

(4,348)

4,517

(4,348)

Available for sale assets
Loans and advances
Derivative financial instruments

1,123,452

–

–

13,109

(12,770)

11,494,796

20,461

(20,133)

20,461

(20,133)

73,545

43,631

(42,210)

45,871

(44,391)

Balances with related parties

3,571

–

–

–

–

Other financial assets

8,086

–

–

–

–

13,764,844

67,280

(65,312)

TOTal fINaNcIal aSSETS

82,629

(80,263)

fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES

Due to other financial institutions
Deposits and other borrowings
Derivative financial instruments
Debt securities issued
Term subordinated debt
Balances with related parties
Other financial liabilities
TOTal fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES

795,964

1,406

(1,324)

1,406

(1,324)

10,586,271

(2,828)

2,797

(2,828)

2,797

182,819

(41,640)

39,893

(71,315)

68,934

1,509,847

(11,479)

11,440

(11,479)

11,440

142,723

(1,185)

1,160

(1,185)

1,160

19

–

–

–

–

25,633
13,243,276

–
(55,726)

–
53,966

–

–

(85,401)

83,007

-10%
Equity
$'000

10%
Equity
$'000

currency risk
-10%
10%
Carrying Value Income Statement Income Statement
$’000
$'000
$'000
30 JUNE 2011
fINaNcIal aSSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

296,302

5,843

(4,781)

5,843

(4,781)

Due from other financial institutions

440,483

6

(5)

6

(5)

324,609

5,535

(4,528)

5,535

(4,528)

1,123,452

–

–

7,436

(6,084)

Financial assets held for trading
Available for sale assets
Loans and advances

11,494,796

–

–

–

–

73,545

12,843

(10,508)

12,843

(10,508)

Balances with related parties

3,571

–

–

–

–

Other financial assets

8,086

–

–

–

–

13,764,844

24,227

795,964

–

–

–

–

10,586,271

(7,051)

5,769

(7,051)

5,769

182,819

61,140

(50,023)

61,140

(50,023)

1,509,847

(85,304)

69,795

(85,304)

69,795

Derivative financial instruments

TOTal fINaNcIal aSSETS

(19,822)

31,663

(25,906)

fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES

Due to other financial institutions
Deposits and other borrowings
Derivative financial instruments
Debt securities issued
Term subordinated debt
Balances with related parties
Other financial liabilities
TOTal fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES

142,723

–

–

–

–

19

–

–

–

–

25,633
13,243,276

–
(31,215)

–
25,541

–
(31,215)

–
25,541
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments
carrying
amount
2012
$'000

Estimated
fair value
2012
$'000

carrying
amount

Estimated
fair value

2011
$'000

2011
$'000

fINaNcIal aSSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

315,061

315,061

296,302

296,302

Due from other financial institutions

171,380

171,380

440,483

440,483

Financial assets held for trading

104,239

104,239

324,609

324,609

1,400,966

1,400,966

1,123,452

1,123,452

12,445,281

12,497,348

11,494,796

11,554,862

138,144

138,144

73,545

73,545

Balances with related parties

57,909

57,909

3,571

3,571

Other financial assets

10,586

10,586

8,086

8,086

14,643,566

14,695,633

13,764,844

13,824,910

333,931

333,931

795,964

795,964

11,564,727

11,579,914

10,586,271

10,604,448

Available for sale assets
Loans and advances
Derivative financial instruments

TOTal fINaNcIal aSSETS
fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES

Due to other banks
Deposits
Derivative financial instruments
Debt securities issued
Term subordinated debt
Balances with related parties
Other financial liabilities
TOTal fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES

156,245

156,245

182,819

182,819

1,805,680

1,806,024

1,509,847

1,512,466

63,922

64,140

142,723

143,586

3,780

3,780

19

19

41,674

41,674

25,633

25,633

13,969,959

13,985,708

13,243,276

13,264,935
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30. Kiwibank – banking financial instruments (continued)
Fair Value Estimation
Quoted market prices, when available, are used as the measure of fair values for financial instruments. However, for some of
Kiwibank’s financial instruments, quoted market prices do not exist. For such financial instruments, fair values presented are
estimates derived using present value or other market accepted valuation techniques. These techniques involve uncertainties
and are affected by the assumptions used and judgements made regarding risk characteristics of various financial instruments,
discount rates, estimates of future cash flows, future expected loss experience and other factors. Changes in assumptions could
significantly affect these estimates and the resulting fair values.
The fair value estimates were determined by application of the methods and assumptions described below.

Cash and cash equivalents
For cash assets, the carrying amount is equivalent to the fair value. For short term liquid assets, estimated fair values are based on
quoted market prices.

Held for trading securities
For held for trading securities, estimated fair values are based on quoted market prices or determined using market accepted
valuation models as appropriate (including discounted cash flow models) based on observable market quotes. These techniques
address factors such as interest rates, credit risk and liquidity.

Available for sale securities
For available for sale securities, estimated fair values are based on quoted market prices or determined using market accepted
valuation models as appropriate (including discounted cash flow models) based on observable market quotes. These techniques
address factors such as interest rates, credit risk and liquidity.

Loans and advances
For variable rate loans and advances, the carrying amount is a reasonable estimate of fair value. For fixed rate loans and advances,
fair values have been estimated using a discounted cash flow model with reference to market interest rates, prepayment rates and
rates of estimated credit losses.

Other financial assets
For other financial assets, the carrying amount is approximately equal to the fair value.

Deposits by customers
For fixed term deposits by customers, fair values have been estimated using a discounted cash flow model with reference to market
interest rates. For other deposits by customers, the carrying amount is a reasonable estimate of fair value.

Other financial liabilities
For other financial liabilities, the carrying amount is equivalent to the fair value.

Impaired and past due assets
For non-accrual and restructured impaired assets as well as past due loans, the fair values are estimated by discounting the
estimated future cash flows using current market interest rates incorporating an appropriate risk factor or, where such loans are
collateralised and have been written down to the current market value of the collateral, the estimated fair value is based on the
written down carrying value.

Interest rate contracts
For interest rate contracts, fair values were obtained from quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models or option-pricing
models as appropriate. Where such techniques are not appropriate, a cash basis has been adopted.

Foreign exchange contracts
For foreign exchange contracts, fair values were obtained from quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models or optionpricing models as appropriate. Where such techniques are not appropriate a cash basis has been adopted.

Fair Value hierarchy
Kiwibank uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technique:
level 1:

Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

level 2:

Other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable,
either directly or indirectly; and

level 3:

Techniques using inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value and which are not based on
observable market data.
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level 1

level 2

level 3

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Interest rate swaps

–

107,275

–

107,275

Currency swaps

–

16,397

–

16,397

Forward foreign exchange contracts

–

14,175

–

14,175

Options purchased

–

83

–

83

206

–

–

206

–

9

–

9

206

137,938

–

138,144

Bank bills

–

2,997

–

2,997

Other securities

–

101,242

–

101,242

TOTal

–

104,239

–

104,239

977,669

47,991

–

1,025,660

Local authority securities

–

64,166

–

64,166

Other debt securities

–

311,140

–

311,140

977,669

423,298

–

1,400,966

Loans and advances

–

–

44,007

44,007

TOTal

–

–

44,007

44,007

977,874

665,475

44,007

1,687,356

Interest rate swaps

–

147,121

–

147,121

Currency swaps

–

2,979

–

2,979

Forward foreign exchange contracts

–

5,953

–

5,953

Options sold

–

83

–

83

–

109

30 JUNE 2012
fINaNcIal aSSETS
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Futures contracts
Forward rate agreements
TOTal
OThEr fINaNcIal aSSETS hEld fOr TradING

avaIlablE‑fOr‑SalE aSSETS

Government stock and multilateral development banks

TOTal
fINaNcIal aSSETS dESIGNaTEd aT fvTPl

TOTal fINaNcIal aSSETS
fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Futures contracts
Forward rate agreements
TOTal

Debt securities issued
TOTal fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES

109
–

–

–

–

109

156,136

–

156,245

–

1,014,539

–

1,014,539

109

1,170,675

–

1,170,784
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30. Kiwibank – banking financial instruments (continued)
level 1

level 2

level 3

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

–

53,742

–

53,742

Currency swaps

–

18,718

–

18,718

Forward foreign exchange contracts

–

1,068

–

1,068

Options purchased

–

2

–

2

Futures contracts

8

–

–

8

Forward rate agreements

–

7

–

7

TOTal

8

73,537

–

73,545

–

179,295

–

179,295

Other securities

14,518

130,796

–

145,314

TOTal

14,518

310,091

–

324,609

629,325

31,454

–

660,779

Local authority securities

–

142,683

–

142,683

Other debt securities

–

319,990

–

319,990

629,325

494,127

–

1,123,452

Loans and advances

–

–

447,853

447,853

TOTal

–

–

447,853

447,853

643,851

877,755

447,853

1,969,459

Interest rate swaps

–

153,357

–

153,357

Currency swaps

–

6,571

–

6,571

Forward foreign exchange contracts

–

22,863

–

22,863

Options sold

–

2

–

2

18

–

–

18

30 JUNE 2011
fINaNcIal aSSETS
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Interest rate swaps

OThEr fINaNcIal aSSETS hEld fOr TradING

Bank bills

avaIlablE‑fOr‑SalE aSSETS

Government stock and multilateral development banks

TOTal
fINaNcIal aSSETS dESIGNaTEd aT fvTPl

TOTal fINaNcIal aSSETS
fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Futures contracts
Forward rate agreements
TOTal

Debt securities issued
TOTal fINaNcIal lIabIlITIES

–

8

–

8

18

182,801

–

182,819

–

758,379

–

758,379

18

941,180

–

941,198
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Loans and advances designated at fair value through profit or loss
For loans and receivables designated at fair value through profit or loss, a discounted cash-flow model is used based on various
assumptions, including current and expected future credit losses, market rates of interest, prepayment rates and assumptions
regarding market liquidity, where relevant. At balance date, a one basis point movement in credit spread or underlying interest rate
would impact the statement of comprehensive income by $2.0k (30 June 2011: $30.0k).
The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the year-ended 30 June 2012:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
30 june
2012

Balance at beginning of the year
Total fair value losses recorded in statement of comprehensive income
Loan repayments
balaNcE aT ENd Of ThE yEar

There were no transfers in or out of level 3, or between levels 1 and 2, during the period.

447,853

30 june
2011
1,235,764

(9,795)

(12,607)

(394,051)

(775,304)

44,007

447,853
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the readers of New Zealand Post Limited and Group’s Financial Statements for the year
ended 30 June 2012
The Auditor-General is the auditor of New Zealand Post Limited (the Company) and Group. The Auditor-General has
appointed me, Paul Clark, using the staff and resources of PricewaterhouseCoopers, to carry out the audit of the financial
statements of the Company and Group, on her behalf.
We have audited the financial statements of the Company and Group on pages 44 to 137, that comprise the
statements of financial position as at 30 June 2012, the statements of comprehensive income, statements of
changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year ended on that date and the notes to the financial
statements that include accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Opinion

Financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements of the Company and Group on pages 44 to 137:
•
comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand;
•
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards; and
•
give a true and fair view of the Company and Group’s:
•
financial position as at 30 June 2012; and
•
financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date.
Other legal requirements
In accordance with the Financial Reporting Act 1993 we report that, in our opinion, proper accounting records
have been kept by the Company and Group as far as appears from an examination of those records.
Our audit was completed on 24 August 2012. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.
The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board of Directors and
our responsibilities, and explain our independence.

Basis of opinion

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the
International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand). Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and carry out our audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would affect a reader’s
overall understanding of the financial statements. If we had found material misstatements that were not
corrected, we would have referred to them in our opinion.
An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including our assessment of risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the preparation of the Company and Group’s financial
statements that give a true and fair view of the matters to which they relate. We consider internal control in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company and Group’s internal control.
An audit also involves evaluating:
•
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and whether they have been consistently applied;
•
the reasonableness of the significant accounting estimates and judgements made by the Board of
Directors;
•
the adequacy of all disclosures in the financial statements; and
•
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers , 113 – 119 The Terrace, PO Box 243, Wellington 6140, New Zealand
T: +64 (4) 462 7000, F: +64 (4) 462 7001, www.pwc.com/nz
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Independent Auditor’s Report
New Zealand Post Limited
We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the financial statements. In
accordance with the Financial Reporting Act 1993, we report that we have obtained all the information and
explanations we have required. We believe we have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide
a basis for our audit opinion.
Responsibilities of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is responsible for preparing financial statements that:
•
comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and
•
give a true and fair view of the Company and Group’s financial position, financial performance and cash
flows.
The Board of Directors is also responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
The Board of Directors’ responsibilities arise from the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986 and the Financial Reporting
Act 1993.

Responsibilities of the Auditor

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and reporting that opinion
to you based on our audit. Our responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and section 19(1) of
the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986.

Independence
When carrying out the audit we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor-General, which incorporate
the independence requirements of the New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants.
In addition to the audit we have carried out assignments in the areas of tax advice, advisory and other assurance
services. These assignments are compatible with the independence requirements of the Auditor-General, which
incorporate the independence requirements of the New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants. Other than
the audit, these assignments, and the relationship described above, we have no relationship with, or interests in,
the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Paul Clark
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Wellington, New Zealand

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited financial statements
This audit report relates to the financial statements of New Zealand Post Limited (the Company) and Group for the
year ended 30 June 2012 included on the Company’s website. The Board of Directors is responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of the
Company’s website. We accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements
since they were initially presented on the website.
The audit report refers only to the financial statements named above. It does not provide an opinion on any other
information which may have been hyperlinked to or from the financial statements. If readers of this report are
inf
concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic data communication they should refer to the published
hard copy of the audited financial statements and the related audit report dated 24 August 2012 to confirm the
information included in the audited financial statements presented on this website.
Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of financial information may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Consolidated earnings statement – information disclosure
for the year ended 30 June 2012
letter
deliveries

Other
Services

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

Operating revenue

344,636

964,737

1,309,373

Operating expenses

342,090

881,436

1,223,526

2,547

83,300

85,847

Operating surplus before income tax

Accounting Policies

Operating expenses

Accounting policies adopted for the
preparation of the Consolidated Earnings
Statement – Information Disclosure are
the same as those applied by the Group.
The policies are set out on pages 49 to 63.

Operating expenses excluding corporate
overhead expenses have been calculated
using the Group’s product costing model
which has calculated the operating
expenditure for letter deliveries using actual
financial data for the 2011/12 year. The costing
model identifies the cost of activities within
the Group based on resource drivers. The cost
of each activity is assigned to letter deliveries
or other services based on the activity drivers.

Statement of Assumptions
Operating revenue has been calculated using
the Group’s product costing model which has
calculated the operating revenue for letter
deliveries using actual financial data for the
2011/12 year. The costing model identifies
the relevant letter products and the revenue
earned by them.
In keeping with the original intention of
the legislation, all fast post standard letter
product for the full financial year has
been included in the calculation of Letter
Deliveries, even though the price of FastPost
letters increased to 90 cents effective from
1 April 2004, to $1.00 effective from 1 June
2007 and to $1.20 effective from 1 October
2010 which is above the amount set out in the
legislation of 80 cents for this calculation.

Corporate overhead has been allocated
based on the proportion that Letter Deliveries
revenue and expenditure make up of the total
for the New Zealand Post Group.
Any exchange gains or losses have not been
included in this calculation.
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Independent Accountants’ Report
To the Directors of New Zealand Post Limited
Report on the Consolidated Earnings Statement
We have reviewed the allocation of revenue and expenses in the Consolidated Earnings Statement –
Information Disclosure (‘Consolidated Earnings Statement’) for New Zealand Post Limited and
subsidiaries (the Group) for the year ended 30 June 2012 as set out on page 140.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Earnings Statement
The Company’s Directors are responsible for the preparation of the allocation model and methodology
and preparation of the Consolidated Earnings Statement in accordance with the Postal Services Act
1998.
Accountants’ Responsibility
We are responsible for reviewing the allocation of revenue and expenses between letter deliveries and
other services in the Consolidated Earnings Statement presented by the Directors in order to report to
you whether, in our opinion and on the basis of the procedures performed by us, anything has come to
our attention that would indicate that the Consolidated Earnings Statement has not been prepared in
accordance with the Statement of Assumptions and is consistent, where relevant, with the financial
information disclosed in the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June
2012.
Our review was conducted in accordance ISAE 3000 Assurance engagements other than audits or
reviews of historical financial information to provide limited assurance as to whether the
Consolidated Earnings Statement has been prepared in accordance with the Statement of
Assumptions. Our procedures consist primarily of enquiry, analytical procedures and discussion and
thus provide less assurance than an audit; in particular, we have performed limited procedures over
the accuracy of the allocation of revenue and expenses between letter deliveries and other services. We
have relied on management to provide the information from the financial records of the Group.
We have no relationship with, or interests in, the Group other than in our capacities as accountants
conducting this engagement and audit services, tax advice, advisory and other assurance services.
These services have not impaired our independence.
Conclusion
Based on our engagement, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the
allocation of revenue and expenses between letter deliveries and other services for the year ended 30
June 2012:
• has not been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Assumptions set out in the
Consolidated Earnings Statement; and
• is not consistent with the financial information disclosed in the audited financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 30 June 2012has not been allocated in line with the assumptions in the
statement and further, that the cost allocation methodology is not unreasonable.
Restriction on Distribution or Use
This report is made solely to the Directors of the Group as a body. Our review work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the Directors those matters which we are required to state to
them in an accountants’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company, and the Directors of the
Company, as a body, for our procedures, for this report or for the opinions we have formed.

Chartered Accountants
24 August 2012
PricewaterhouseCoopers, 113-119 The Terrace, PO Box 243, Wellington 6140, New Zealand
T: +64 4 462 7000, F: +64 4 462 7001, pwc.co.nz

Wellington
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Report of the Human Resources
Committee on Executive
Remuneration

Remuneration band
remuneration band

Donations
Total

During the year, the New Zealand Post
Group made donations of $99,000. No
donations were made to political parties.

1030000 – 1039999

1

690000 – 699999

1

680000 – 689999

1

Auditors

The primary purpose of the Human
Resources Committee is to assist
the Board in fulfilling its oversight of
‘good employer’ and human resources
governance responsibilities relating to the
New Zealand Post Group. The Committee
also has some specific responsibilities
in respect of the remuneration for New
Zealand Post Group’s Chief Executive
and executive leadership team, and for
remuneration policy applicable to New
Zealand Post Limited managers.

650000 – 659999

1

640000 – 649999

1

590000 – 599999

1

520000 – 529999

1

490000 – 499999

1

470000 – 479999

1

460000 – 469999

2

The auditor for the Group is Paul Clark
assisted by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
Wellington on behalf of the AuditorGeneral. The amount payable by the Group
to PricewaterhouseCoopers as audit
fees in respect of the year is $1,751,000
The amount incurred in respect of the
year for other services provided by
PricewaterhouseCoopers is $470,000.

400000 – 409999

2

390000 – 399999

2

The New Zealand Post Group’s
management remuneration structures are
designed to attract, reward and motivate
the best executive talent available. In
setting remuneration for New Zealand
Post executives, market information from
similarly-sized management positions
within a broad range of New Zealand
businesses is assessed.

380000 – 389999

4

360000 – 369999

1

350000 – 359999

1

340000 – 349999

4

330000 – 339999

1

320000 – 329999

1

300000 – 309999

1

Executive remuneration includes salary,
at-risk/incentive payments based on
individual and Company performance, and
benefits such as company contributions to
a workplace savings scheme, and medical
insurance. The structure of remuneration
packages offered to managers and
specialists varies across the Group,
but generally includes a component
dependent on financial and other
measures of business performance, as
well as individual performance measures.
Directors are not covered by this type of
remuneration arrangement.

290000 – 299999

6

280000 – 289999

1

270000 – 279999

5

260000 – 269999

4

250000 – 259999

9

Directors’ Fees and Benefits

240000 – 249999

9

230000 – 239999

6

220000 – 229999

14

The total fees paid to members of the
New Zealand Post Limited Board during
the 2011/2012 financial year were
$461,000*. The total Board fees are within
the amount authorised by shareholding
Ministers.

Employee numbers as at 30 June 2012
totalled 10,650 people, including those
in joint venture businesses. Across the
Group, including jointly-controlled entities,
the total cost of remuneration for our
employees during the year was $515m.
Pay rates vary across the Group depending
on market conditions in relation to each
business sector. Minimum pay rates
range between 100 and 150 percent of the
statutory minimum wage.

The Human Resources Committee
comprises five Directors from the
New Zealand Post Group Board.

Directors’ and employees’
indemnity and insurance
New Zealand Post has insured the
Directors and employees of the Group
against any costs or liabilities of the type
referred to in s162(5) of the Companies
Act 1993. New Zealand Post has also
agreed to indemnify Directors of the
Group and New Zealand Post-appointed
Directors of associate companies against
any costs or liabilities of the type referred
to in s162(4) of the Companies Act 1993
that are incurred in any proceedings
of the type referred to in s162(3) of the
Companies Act 1993.

210000 – 219999

8

200000 – 209999

15

190000 – 199999

20

180000 – 189999

31

Michael Cullen

170000 – 179999

24

Carol Campbell

160000 – 169999

42

Alan Dunn

48,300

150000 – 159999

43

Philippa Dunphy

59,300

140000 – 149999

53

Murray Gribben

57,800

130000 – 139999

74

Temuera Hall

48,300

120000 – 129999

100

110000 – 119999

157

100000 – 109999

171

Name

Richard Leggat

Total fees and benefits **
111,300
8,000

8,000

Jackie Lloyd

48,800

Justine Smyth

55,300

David Willis

48,300

* These fees exclude GST (if any) and relate to the New Zealand Post Limited Board only (including fees for Board committees).
** These fees exclude GST (if any). They also include fees paid by New Zealand Post Limited in respect of appointments to the New Zealand Post Superannuation
Plan Board of Trustees.

141
New Zealand Post Group
Annual Report 2012

Statutory Information

Directors’ Disclosures
No specific disclosures were given by Directors pursuant to s140(1) of the Companies Act 1993.
General disclosures of interest made by the Directors of New Zealand Post Limited and
New Zealand Post Limited subsidiaries pursuant to s140(2) of the Companies Act 1993 as at
30 June 2012 are:

New Zealand Post Limited
director

Interest

Hon Sir Michael
Cullen (Chair)

Chair, Express Couriers Limited
Director (Alternate), Couriers Please Holdings Pty Limited
Chair and Trustee, New Zealand Post Superannuation Plan
Principal Treaty Claims Negotiator, Tuwharetoa
Chief Claims Advisor, Mana Ahuriri Incorporated (to 9 November 2011)
Chair, Tuhoe Investment Committee
Trustee, Toi-EDA (from 29 September 2011)

Carol Campbell
(from 1 May 2012)

Director, The Business Advisory Group Ltd
Director, Hick Bros Holdings Limited
Director, Turners & Growers Limited
Director, CMS Alphatech Limited
Director, Woodford Properties Limited
Director, Bravestar Media Limited
Trustee, Ronald McDonald House Charities
Director, Kingfish Limited (from 23 June 2012)
Director, Marlin Global Limited (from 23 June 2012)
Director, Barramundi Limited (from 23 June 2012)
Director, Key Assets NZ Limited (from 23 June 2012)
Director, Fostering First New Zealand Limited (from 23 June 2012)

Alan Dunn

Director, Burger Fuel Worldwide Limited
Director, DPA Technologies Limited
Director, Aotea Energy Limited
Director, Aotea Energy Holdings Limited
Director, Aotea Energy Holdings No 2 Limited
Director, Z Energy Limited
Director, Greenstone Energy Finance Limited
Director, Greenstone Energy Holdings Limited
Director, Snapstar New Zealand Limited
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director

Interest

Philippa (Pip) Dunphy Trustee, New Zealand Post Superannuation Plan
Chair, Mint Asset Management Limited
Director, Crown Health Financing Agency
Member, Securities Commission Code Committee under the
Investment Advisors Act 2008
Trustee, Motu Economic and Public Policy Research
Chair, New Zealand Clearing and Depository Corporation Limited
Deputy Chair, Auckland Transport
Board Member, Guardians of New Zealand Superannuation
(from 31 May 2012)
Murray Gribben

Trustee, New Zealand Post Superannuation Plan
Director, Ruapehu Alpine Lifts Limited
Director, WBGP (Developments) Limited
Trustee, Karaka Trust (from 16 November 2011)
Trustee, Waipuna Trust (from 16 November 2011)

Temuera Hall

Director, Te Wānanga o Tuwharetoa Limited
Executive Director, Taupo Moana Iwisaver Limited
Managing Director, Taupo Moana Capital Limited
Director, Taupo Moana Investments Limited
Managing Director, Taupo Moana Group Limited
Executive Director, Taupo Moana Funds Limited
Director, Tuwharetoa Nominees Limited
Director, Putake Dairy Limited
Director, Putake Networks Limited
Chair, Unimar Limited
Director, Ranginui Station Limited Partnership
Director, Tem Corp Limited
Trustee, T3000 Charitable Trust
Director, T3000 Financial Services Limited
Director, Tuwharetoa Limited
Trustee, WT and RR Hall Whanau Trust
Director, FX Networks Limited

Richard Leggat
(from 1 May 2012)

Director, Tourism NZ
Chair, BikeNZ
Chair, Eating Disorder Assn. NZ
Director, Trophy Metropolitan Limited
Director, Treasurechest.co.nz Limited
Director, Mortleg Limited
Employee & Shareholder, EstarOnline Limited

Jackie Lloyd

Member, Wellington Regional Strategy Committee
Trustee, Wellington Museums Trust
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director

Interest

Justine Smyth
(until 30 April 2012)

Member, Financial Markets Authority
Executive Director, Lingerie Brands Limited
Chair, New Zealand Breast Cancer Foundation
Member, Pure Advantage (from 8 July 2011)
Director, Telecom Corporation of New Zealand Limited
(from 23 February 2012)

David Willis

Director, Couriers Please Holdings Pty Limited
Director, CBH Grain Pty Limited
Advisor, Bain and Company (Australia)
Advisor, Gen-i (Australia and New Zealand)
Director, Interflour Holdings Limited (Singapore)
Director, Volpaia Services Pty Limited
Director, Bank of Queensland Pty Limited
Director, B.Q.L. Management Pty Ltd
Director, B.Q.L. Nominees Pty Ltd
Director, B.Q.L. Properties Ltd
Director, BOQ Credit Pty Ltd
Director, BOQ Equipment Finance Ltd
Director, BOQ Finance (Aust) Limited
Director, BOQ Finance (NZ) Limited (to 21 March 2012)
Director, BOQ Funding Pty Ltd
Director, BOQ Share Plans Nominee Pty Ltd
Director, Equipment Rental Billing Services Pty Ltd
Director, Hartwood House Pty Ltd
Director, Home Building Society Ltd
Director, Home Credit Management Ltd
Director, Home Financial Planning Pty Ltd
Director, Hunter Leasing Ltd
Director, Newcourt Financial (Australia) Pty Ltd
Director, Pioneer Permanent Building Society Ltd
Director, Queensland Electronic Switching Pty Ltd
Director, St Andrew’s Insurance (Australia ) Pty Limited
Director, St Andrew’s Insurance (Australia) Pty Ltd
Director, St Andrew’s Services Pty Ltd
Director, St Andrew’s Life Insurance Pty Ltd
Director, Statewest Financial Planning Pty Ltd
Director, Statewest Financial Services Ltd
Director, The King’s School Foundation Ltd
Chair, The Horizons Program
Director, Converga Pty Limited (to 21 March 2012)

144
New Zealand Post Group
Annual Report 2012

Statutory Information

Subsidiary Disclosures
director

Interest

Nicholas Astwick

Director and Shareholder, Memorial Investments Limited
Director and Shareholder, Enterprise Investments (NZ) Limited
Director, The New Zealand Home Loan Company Limited
Director (Alternate), Kiwi Capital Securities Limited
Director (Alternate) AMP Home Loans Limited
Director (Alternate), New Zealand Home Lending Limited
Director (Alternate), Kiwibank Nominees Limited
Director (Alternate), Kiwi Asset Finance Limited
Director (Alternate), Kiwi Capital Management Limited
Director (Alternate), KB Custodial Services Limited
Director (Alternate), Kiwibank Investment Management Limited
Director,(Alternate), Payments NZ Limited

Simon Bratt

Trustee, McGregor-Brown Whanau Trust

Stuart Bremner

Director and Shareholder, Bremner Davenport Properties Limited
Director, GMI General Partner Limited
Director, Gareth Morgan Kiwisaver Limited
Director, Portfolio Custodial Nominees Limited

Paul Brock

Director and Shareholder, Hotspur Limited
Director and Shareholder, Stratx Limited
Trustee and beneficiary, Brock Family Trust
Trustee, Eastern Hutt School Board of Trustees
Director, New Zealand Home Lending Limited
Director, Kiwi Capital Securities Limited
Director, Kiwibank Nominees Limited
Director, AMP Home Loans Limited
Director, Kiwi Capital Management Limited
Director, KB Custodial Services Limited
Director (Alternate), Kiwi Asset Finance Limited
Director, The New Zealand Home Loan Company Limited
Director, Kiwibank Investment Management Limited
Director, GMI General Partner Limited
Director, Gareth Morgan Kiwisaver Limited
Director, Kiwi Wealth Management Limited
Sole Shareholder, GMI General Partner Limited
Director and Shareholder, GM Sunrise Trustee Limited
Director, Portfolio Custodial Nominees Limited
Director, Kiwi Insurance Limited

Nick Fox

Jumping Fox Interactive Limited
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director

Interest

Andrew Gawith

Shareholder, Director and Employee, Gareth Morgan KiwiSaver Limited
Shareholder and Director, Gareth Morgan Investments General
Partner Limited
Director, Infometrics Management Services Limited
Director, Gareth Morgan Investments Limited
Director, Portfolio Custodial Nominees Limited
Director and Shareholder, GMI General Partner Limited
Trustee, Gawith-Deans Family Trust
Director and Shareholder, GM Sunrise Trustee Limited
Shareholder and Director, Portfolio Custodial Nominees Limited
Director of Trustee 109 Limited
Trustee, Gareth Morgan Investment Trading Trust
Employee, Gareth Morgan Investments Limited Partnership

Alison Gerry

Director, Lindis Crossing Vineyard Limited
Director, Glendora Holdings Limited
Director, Glendora Avocados Limited
Director, Random Walk (2010) Limited
Director, Queenstown Airport Limited
Director, Television New Zealand Limited
Director, Pioneer Generation Limited
Director, NZX Limited (from 2 February 2012)

Sophie Haslem

Director, Reachmedia New Zealand Limited
Director, Air Post Limited
Director, Transend Worldwide Limited (South Africa)
Director, Omphalos Limited

Gareth Morgan

Shareholder, Director and Employee, Gareth Morgan KiwiSaver
Limited
Director, Infometrics Management Services Limited
Director, Gareth Morgan Investments Limited
Director, Portfolio Custodial Nominees Limited
Director and Shareholder, GMI General Partner Limited
Trustee, Gawith-Deans Family Trust
Director and Shareholder, GM Sunrise Trustee Limited
Director and Shareholder, Portfolio Custodial Nominees Limited
Trustee, Huw Marie Trust
Trustee, Tiger Trust
Director, Trustee 109 Limited
Trustee, Gareth Morgan Investments Trading Trust
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director

Interest

Robert (Rob) Morrison Director, Tamata Horticulture Limited
Director, Tamata Holdings Limited
Director, Acer Export Partnership Limited
Director, Agriculture General Partner Limited
Director, RWB Nominees Limited
Director, Blind Pig Properties Limited
Director, Kotu Farms Limited
Director, Kotu Management Limited
Director, Falkirk Management Limited
Director, Welnix GP Limited (from 14 September 2011)
Director, Investnix Holdings Limited (1 September 2011)
Member, Asian Corporate Governance Association:
Hong Kong based NGO
Chairman, Pure Advantage
Trustee, Rob Morrison Family Trust
Shareholder, Fisher Funds Management Limited
Grant Paterson

Treasurer and Board Member, 116 Central Park South Condominium
Board Member, The Seville Condominium
Trustee, B J Paterson (1995) Trust
Trustee, A M Paterson (1995) Trust

Paul Reid

Director, Software Education Limited
Director, Maven Limited
Director (Alternate), Datacom Limited

Brian Roche

Chief Executive, New Zealand Post Group
Director, Datam Limited
Director, Datacom Group Limited
Director, Kiwi Group Holdings Limited
Director, Express Couriers Limited
Director, The ECN Group Limited
Director, Parcel Direct Group Pty Limited
Director, New Zealand Post Australia Holdings Pty Limited
Director, New Zealand Post Group Finance Limited
Director, Localist Limited
Director, Rugby New Zealand 2011 Limited
Director, Valley Road Forest Limited
Trustee, Victoria University Foundation (from 22 February 2012)
Trustee, St Patrick’s Foundation
Trustee, BJ and ML Roche Family Trust
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director

Interest

Catherine Savage

Managing Director and Shareholder, CMS Capital Limited
Director, Comrad Holdings Limited
Director, Comrad Trustee Limited
Managing Director and Shareholder, Savage Group Limited
Director, Radsoft Holdings Limited
Director, Comrad Medical Systems Limited
Director, Safco Limited
Director, Annuitas Management Limited
Director, Todd Family Office Limited
Director, Pathfinder Asset Management Limited
Director, The Griffin Savage Coy. Limited
Director, Waiwhetu Distributors Limited
Chair – Board of Trustees, National Provident Fund
Board Member, Guardians of the NZ Superannuation Fund
Chair – Management Board, Samuel Marsden Collegiate School

Mark Stephen

Director, Kiwi Asset Finance Limited
Director and Shareholder, Pip Stephen Interior Design Limited
Director (Alternate), Kiwi Capital Management Limited
Director (Alternate), KB Custodial Services Limited
Director (Alternate), Kiwibank Nominees Limited
Director (Alternate), AMP Home Loans Limited
Director (Alternate), Kiwibank Capital Securities Limited
Director (Alternate), The New Zealand Home Loan Company Limited
Director (Alternate), New Zealand Home Lending Limited
Director (Alternate), Kiwibank Investment Management Limited
Trustee and Beneficiary, Homestead Trust

Richard Westlake

Director, Westlake Consulting Limited
Director, Homesick-Kiwi Limited
Chair, Intergen Limited
Chair, GZ2 Holdings
Independent Chair, Telecommunications Carriers’ Forum
Director, Dairy Goats Co-operative (NZ) Limited
Chair, Community Support Services ITO Limited
Board Member, Industry Training Federation Inc.
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director

Interest

Mark Yeoman

Director, Reach Media New Zealand Limited
Director, New Zealand Post Holdings Limited
Director, Air Post Limited
Director, Express Couriers Limited
Director, Converga Pty Limited
Director, New Zealand Post Australia Holdings Pty Limited
Director, Kiwi Group Holdings Limited
Director, New Zealand Post Group Finance Limited
Director, Couriers Please Holdings Pty Limited
Director, Datacom Group Limited
Director, Datam Limited
Director, Localist Limited (until 12 April 2012)
Director, Zomar Investments Limited
Trustee, New Zealand Post Superannuation Plan
(until 30 September 2011)
Trustee, Pencarrow Family Trust
Member, Postal Network Access Committee
Director, Transend Worldwide Limited (South Africa)

Directors of New Zealand Post Subsidiaries
director

Subsidiary

Bryan Ashby

Kiwi Asset Finance Limited
(from 1 July 2011 to 31 May 2012)

Nick Astwick

AMP Home Loans Limited (Alternate Director)

fees and benefits

KB Custodial Services Limited (Alternate Director)
Kiwi Asset Finance Limited (Alternate Director)
Kiwi Investment Management Limited (Alternate Director)
Kiwibank Nominees Limited (Alternate Director)
Kiwi Capital Management Limited (Alternate Director)
Kiwi Capital Securities Limited (Alternate Director)
Kiwi Insurance Limited
(Director; Alternate Director until 31 May 2012)
New Zealand Home Lending Limited (Alternate Director)
The New Zealand Home Loan Company Limited
(Alternate Director)
John Axe

The ECN Group Asia Incorporated (Philippines)

Simon Bratt

Localist Limited (Alternate Director from 26 April 2012)

Stuart Bremner

Kiwi Wealth Management Limited (from 28 March 2012)
GMI General Partner Limited (from 31 March 2012)
Gareth Morgan Kiwisaver Limited (from 31 March 2012)
Portfolio Custodial Nominees Limited
(from 31 March 2012)
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director

Subsidiary

Paul Brock

AMP Home Loans Limited

fees and benefits

GMI General Partner Limited (from 31 March 2012)
Gareth Morgan Kiwisaver Limited (from 31 March 2012)
Portfolio Custodial Nominees Limited (from 31 March 2012)
KB Custodial Services Limited
Kiwi Asset Finance Limited (Alternate Director)
Kiwi Investment Management Limited
Kiwibank Nominees Limited
Kiwi Capital Management Limited
Kiwi Capital Securities Limited
Kiwi Insurance Limited (until 31 May 2012)
Kiwi Wealth Management Limited (from 28 March 2012)
New Zealand Home Lending Limited
The New Zealand Home Loan Company Limited
Brian Butler

The ECN Group Asia Incorporated (Philippines)

Paul Bywater

New Zealand Post Trust Management Services Limited
(until 1 September 2011)

Stephen Cole

Kiwi Asset Finance Limited (from 1 October 2011)

Hon Sir Michael Cullen Express Couriers Limited
Kiwibank Limited

$150,000
$39,000
$36,500

Couriers Please Holdings Pty Limited (Alternate Director)
Michael Davey

ECN Australia Holdings Pty Limited
The ECN Group Pty Limited

Gordon Davidson

AMP Home Loans Limited
Kiwi Insurance Limited (until 31 May 2012)
Kiwi Nominees Limited
Kiwibank Investment Management Limited
New Zealand Home Lending Limited
The New Zealand Home Loan Company Limited
KB Custodial Services Limited
Kiwi Capital Management Limited
Kiwi Capital Securities Limited
Kiwi Asset Finance Limited

Leo Davis

Kiwi Asset Finance Limited (from 01 October 2011)

Tony Dick

Roadstar Transport Limited

Mark Dossor

New Zealand Post Recycle Centre Limited (until 7 July 2011)

John Erkkila

The New Zealand Home Loan Company Limited

Nicholas Fox

Localist Limited (from 26 April 2012)

$99,127.10
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Statutory Information

director

Subsidiary

Andrew Gawith

GMI General Partner Limited (from 31 March 2012)

fees and benefits

Gareth Morgan Kiwisaver Limited (from 31 March 2012)

$25,000

Portfolio Custodial Nominees Limited (from 31 March 2012)
Alison Gerry

Kiwibank Limited

Mark Gibson

Roadstar Transport Limited

Murray Gribben

Kiwibank Limited

Sophie Haslem

Air Post Limited

$42,823

$37,500

ECN NZ Holdings Limited (to 30 September 2011)
The ECN Group Limited
Localist Limited
Reach Media New Zealand Limited
ECN Australia Holdings Pty Limited
The ECN Group Pty Limited
Stephen Henry

The ECN Group Asia Incorporated
(Philippines) (until 16 September 2011)
Transend Worldwide Limited
(South Africa) (until 16 September 2011)

Sam Knowles

Localist Limited (until 5 April 2012)

Mark Lawley

Converga Pty Limited (until 11 September 2011)

Harlis Malkic

Couriers Please Pty Limited (until 30 June 2012)

$48,000

AU$153,000

Parcel Overnight Direct Pty Limited
Hills Parcel Direct Pty Limited
Parcel Express (SA) Pty Limited
Express Couriers Australia (Sub 1) Pty Limited
Couriers Please Australia Pty Limited (until 30 June 2012)
Rhiannon McKinnon

Kiwi Group Holdings Limited
(Alternate Director) (from 22 December 2011)

Peter Meggison

AMP Home Loans Limited (Alternate Director) (until 1 July 2011)
KB Custodial Services Limited (Alternate Director) (until 1 July 2011)
Kiwi Asset Finance Limited (until 1 July 2011)
Kiwi Investment Management Limited
(Alternate Director) (until 1 July 2011)
Kiwibank Nominees Limited (Alternate Director) (until1 July 2011)
Kiwi Capital Management Limited
(Alternate Director) (until 1 July 2011)
Kiwi Capital Securities Limited (Alternate Director) (until1 July 2011)
Kiwi Insurance Limited (Alternate Director) (until 1 July 2011)
New Zealand Home Lending Limited
(Alternate Director) (until 1 July 2011)
The New Zealand Home Loan Company Limited
(Alternate Director) (until 1 July 2011)
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Statutory Information

director

Subsidiary

Gareth Morgan

GMI General Partner Limited (from 31 March 2012)

fees and benefits

Gareth Morgan Kiwisaver Limited (from 31 March 2012)

$21,000

Portfolio Custodial Nominees Limited
(from 31 March 2012)
Rob Morrison

Kiwibank Limited (from 25 February 2011)

Skye Nicholls

Converga Asia (Philippines) (from 9 December 2011)

Kiran Patel

New Zealand Post Recycle Centre Limited
(from 4 August 2011)

Grant Paterson

Kiwibank Limited (from 23 March 2012)

Paul Reid

Localist Limited (from 24 March 2011)

$73,000

$12,167

New Zealand Post Trust Management Services Limited
(from 11 May 2012)
Neil Richardson

The New Zealand Home Loan Company Limited

Brian Roberts

New Zealand Post Australia Holdings Pty Limited

$28,004

Converga (ACT) Pty Limited
Converga Inc (USA) (from 6 December 2011)
Converga Information Management Pty Limited
Print Source Australia Pty Limited
Brian Roche

Converga Inc (USA) (from 6 December 2011)
Datam Limited
Express Couriers Limited
Kiwibank Limited
Kiwi Group Holdings Limited
Localist Limited
New Zealand Post Australia Holdings Pty Limited
New Zealand Post Group Finance Limited
The ECN Group Limited
Couriers Please Holdings Pty Limited
Converga Pty Limited (from 3 October 2011)

Roy Santos

The ECN Group Asia Incorporated (Philippines)
Converga Asia (Philippines) (from 9 December 2011)

Catherine Savage

Kiwibank Limited (from 20 December 2011)

Lee Shaddock

Converga Asia (Philippines) (from 9 December 2011)

Malcolm Shaw

New Zealand Post Trust Management Services Limited
(until 11 May 2012)

Trent Shirkey

Kiwi Asset Finance Limited (from 31 May 2012)

Ashley Smout

New Zealand Post Recycle Centre Limited
(from 7 July 2011)

Justine Smyth

New Zealand Post Group Finance Limited
(until to 30 April 2012)

$21,292
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Statutory Information

director

Subsidiary

Mark Stephen

AMP Home Loans Limited
(Alternate Director) (from 1 July 11)

fees and benefits

KB Custodial Services Limited
(Alternate Director) (from 1 July 2011)
Kiwi Asset Finance Limited (from 1 July 2011)
Kiwi Capital Management Limited
(Alternate Director) (from 1 July 2011)
Kiwi Capital Securities Limited
(Alternate Director) (from 1 July 2011)
Kiwi Insurance Limited (from 1 July 2011)
Kiwibank Investment Management Limited
(Alternate Director) (from 1 July 2011)
Kiwibank Nominees Limited
(Alternate Director) (from 1 July 2011)
New Zealand Home Lending Limited
(Alternate Director) (from 1 July 2011)
The New Zealand Home Loan Company Limited
(Alternate Director) (from 1 July 2011)
Mahendra Thamarajah Couriers Please Pty Limited (until 30 June 2012)

AU$101,833

Parcel Overnight Direct Pty Limited
Hills Parcel Direct Pty Limited
Parcel Express (SA) Pty Limited (until 12 April 2012)
Express Couriers Australia (Sub 1) Pty Limited
Couriers Please Australia Pty Limited (until 30 June 2012)
Mark Tiffen

Kiwi Asset Finance Limited (to 1 July 2011)

Virginia Viray

The ECN Group Asia Incorporated (Philippines)
Converga Asia (Philippines) (from 9 December 2011)

Richard Westlake
David Willis

Kiwibank Limited (to 31 October 2011)
Converga Pty Limited (from 11 September 2011)
Kiwibank Limited
Couriers Please Holdings Pty Limited
Couriers Please Australia Pty Limited (from 30 June 2012)

John Willis

New Zealand Post Trust Management Services Limited
(from 1 September 2011)

Gary Woodham

Converga Information Management Pty Limited
Converga Pty Limited (until 3 October 2011)
Print Source Australia Pty Limited
Converga (ACT) Pty Limited

$14,167
AU$6,540
$36,500
AU$21,255
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Statutory Information

director

Subsidiary

Mark Yeoman

Air Post Limited

fees and benefits

Converga Inc (USA) (from 6 December 2011)
Converga Pty Limited
Converga Asia (Philippines) (from 9 December 2011)
Datam Limited
Express Couriers Limited
Kiwi Group Holdings Limited
New Zealand Post Group Finance Limited
New Zealand Post Holdings Limited
Transend Worldwide Limited (South Africa)
Localist Limited (until 12 April 2012)
New Zealand Post Australia Holdings Limited
Kiwibank Limited (Alternate Director)
Couriers Please Australia Pty Limited (from 30 June 2012)
Couriers Please Holdings Pty Limited
Kiwi Wealth Management Limited (from 28 March 2012)

Directors’ Statement
This Annual Report is for the period 1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012 and is signed on behalf of the
New Zealand Post Board by:

Hon Sir M.J. Cullen
Chairman

Philippa Dunphy
Director
This Annual Report is dated 20 September 2012.

Non-financial
Information
This section of the Annual Report (pages 154
to 175) outlines the activities and approaches
of the New Zealand Post Group and its
subsidiaries across a range of non-financial
areas. It includes information relating to
our disclosures under the Global Reporting
Initiative (GRI) – a voluntary set of sustainability
guidelines which the Group adheres to.

where can I find more information?
p. 156 Corporate Sustainability
p. 158 Environmental Sustainability
p. 160 In the Workplace
p. 166 Our performance in the Community
p. 168 In the Marketplace
p. 170 Global Reporting Initiative
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Corporate
Sustainability
Our Approach
Sustainability is an integral part of
New Zealand Post Group’s overall
business strategy, and as such it is
being incorporated into everything we
do. This commitment is built into our
Statement of Corporate Intent, and is
further reflected in the Group’s business
plan and strategic framework.
Our approach to sustainability supports
the Group’s underlying values: One Team,
Do What’s Right, Make it Easy and Raise the
Bar. We recognise that how we do business
affects not just our own future, but that of
our customers, suppliers and communities.
Our approach has progressed from – in the
past – simply ensuring compliance, to the
current state where sustainability is being
embedded into day-to-day operations.
We are working to make it a natural part
of our daily business by putting in place
strong governance, hard targets and open
reporting on what we’re doing. We’re also
working with leading organisations in the
corporate sustainability field to ensure we
are delivering best practice.

Governance
The importance of Corporate
Sustainability to our business is reflected
in the fact that the Group Leadership
Team (GLT) – which is chaired by the
CEO of New Zealand Post Group – has
overall responsibility for the sustainability
programme’s strategy and performance.
That programme focuses on four core
workstreams – each of which is chaired
by a GLT member who reports to GLT on
progress. These four workstreams, which
are separate but aligned, are:
• Community (Chaired by the CEO
of Kiwibank)
• Workplace (Chaired by the General
Manager of Human Resources)
• Environment (Chaired by the Group
General Manager of Operations)
• Marketplace (Chaired by the Group
General Manager of Customer
Solutions & Services).

High

Economic performance & viability
Environmental impacts
(waste, emissions)

Customer focus & trust
(including privacy and competition)

Diversity & equality

Community engagement

Moderate

Employment practices
Legislative Compliance

Low

Assessed relevance to and impact on New Zealand Post

Materiality Assessment (see page 157)

Looking forward we consider sustainability
as a key business strategy which will
create value for the business and drive
business decision-making.

Environmental enhancement
Low

Supply chain responsibility

Market presence

Moderate
Assessed relevance to and impact on Stakeholders of New Zealand Post

High

Within each of these groups strategies are
developed and implemented to address
new and known issues which affect the
sustainable performance of the Group.
The status of the programme is reported
to the Board of New Zealand Post
Group as part of the Chief Executive’s
regular reporting. It is expected that
the organisation conducts itself in a
sustainable manner, but there is no
specific evaluation of the Board in terms
of sustainability performance.

Risk
The four workstreams work to ensure that
activities are delivered in a sustainable
manner, and that environmental and
social risks are identified and managed
in an ongoing manner. To support
this, risk assessments are conducted
across our workstreams to ensure that
environmental and social risks and
impacts are captured and appropriately
assessed – and that caution is exercised
where deemed appropriate. In 2012, risk
assessments across the workstreams
were refined and helped focus efforts in
the respective areas.

Stakeholders and Materiality
We define our stakeholders as people
who are affected by our business, or who
can have an effect on our business. This
includes central government, regulators,
local government, shareholders, staff,
customers, the postal sector, business
stakeholder groups, suppliers, unions and
communities.
We maintain regular dialogue and
ongoing engagement with these groups
through a variety of means relevant
to each stakeholder group. We also
engage as required and as issues arise.
This includes participation in relevant
forums, stakeholder briefings on specific
issues, customer surveys, feedback and
customer reviews.
Stakeholder groups have noted that
they have been pleased with the efforts
New Zealand Post Group has made to
engage with them in advance of significant
strategic announcements – especially in
recent years. The main concern raised
has been whether the company will
continue those efforts over the next
3-to-5 years as it seeks to implement its

operational changes – and that concern
was largely allayed by the Group’s
commitment to continue this high level
of engagement. It is important that there
is an ongoing avenue for stakeholders to
provide feedback on proposed changes.
Although annual reports are primarily
prepared for shareholding Ministers, this
report also seeks to provide a general
summary of the Group’s activities for all
interested stakeholders.
Information received through our regular
stakeholder engagement processes (both
internal and external) helps us to identify
the key issues which are important to, or
impactful on, stakeholders.
These are the ‘material issues’ which are
further assessed in terms of their degree
of priority for a given reporting period.
This approach follows the GRI reporting
principles for determining materiality, by
assessing and grouping issues.
The material issues for this reporting
period were evaluated as shown in the
diagram opposite.
The work required to assess materiality for
this Annual Report reaffirmed the previous
materiality assessment conducted
by the Group in 2007 – and identified
emerging issues which have not previously
been reported. This includes a specific
disclosure on privacy (identified as a trust
issue). While the review has identified new
issues, our overall approach to sustainable
development remains consistent.

External initiatives
The Group continues its commitment
to work with other postal organisations
through the Universal Postal Union (UPU)
and the Brussels-based International

Postal Corporation (IPC), to understand
and reduce adverse environmental and
social impacts and explore opportunities
within postal services worldwide. We
participate annually in the environmental
measurement and monitoring system
(EMMS) which helps us benchmark the
performance of the New Zealand Post
Group against other postal organisations.
The Group has also committed to the
pilot programme of the International
Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC), to
continue to improve the approach to
fully disclosing non-financial impacts
of the business.

Memberships
New Zealand Post Group’s CEO is
a member of Business NZ’s Major
Companies Group (top 50 companies in
NZ). The CEO is also an Advisory Trustee
of Leadership NZ. The company is a
member of the American Chamber of
Commerce in NZ and NZ-US Council.
Other memberships include:
• Sustainable Business Network
• New Zealand Sustainable
Business Council
• International Post Corporation
• Universal Postal Union
• New Zealand Packaging Council.

Charters
The Group does not subscribe to any
specific external charters at this time,
as our commitment to carrying out our
activities responsibly and with integrity
are described in our Statement of
Commitment to Corporate Responsibility,
and Deed of Understanding.
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Environmental
Sustainability
Approach
Our environmental programme is focused
around the reduction of carbon emissions
created through transportation, energy
use, waste generation and disposal.
We take the approach of aiming to
be as efficient as we can, and also
understanding and mitigating the future
impacts of a carbon-constrained economy
on our business.
This year the Group met its five-year
target of a 12% reduction in Greenhouse
Gas (GHG) emissions, achieving reductions
of 16.1% against our 2007/08 baseline.
This is a milestone achievement for the
Group, effectively removing 13,820 tonnes
of carbon from our business over the
five years.
This target was met through a continued
focus on our long-standing energy, waste
and transportation efficiency programmes,
which are implemented by each of the
business units and overseen by the Group
General Manager of Operations as Chair of
the Environmental Steering Group.
Key achievements in the 2011/12 year
include:
• Replacement of an aircraft leading to a
22% reduction in aviation fuel use
• Reductions in energy use of 308MwH
against previous year
• Continued employee engagement
around energy use behaviours
• Continued implementation of a driver
training programme aiming for a 10%
saving in fuel use across our fleet
Our success in achieving this carbon
reduction was recognised in the 2012
EECA Awards, where the Group won
awards for our energy management
programme, was highly commended
for our transport efficiency programme,
and also won an overall public sector
excellence award.

To guide our approach to carbon reduction
we have implemented a three-year carbon
strategy; this includes a re-evaluation
of our baseline for the 2011/12 year to
begin reporting on emissions related to
our value chain in the 2012/13 year, and
an overall expansion in our reporting of
scope 3 emissions.
Greenhouse Gas Emissions for the
group are compiled in accordance with
ISO 14064-1 and the Greenhouse Gas
Protocol. Joint venture companies
(Express Couriers Limited, Reachmedia)
are accounted for at 50% as per the
financial control methodology. The
boundary encompasses emissions from
the Group’s domestic postal, banking, data
(Converga NZ and Converga Australia)
and express and logistic businesses in
New Zealand. Emissions from leased
facilities are included in scopes 1 and
2. Our baseline has been restated since
the 2010/11 report due to a change in
the emissions factor used to calculate
emissions from the international transport
of air freight. There have been no other
changes to the boundary or methodology.

Energy
The Group energy use was 43,451 MwH
this year. This is a 19% reduction in energy
consumption from our 2007/08 baseline
year.
Having already addressed the most
inefficient sites, it is now becoming more
challenging to make the gains seen at the
start of the programme. As a consequence
reduction efficiencies are slowing.
Full year energy costs are $6.2m which is
10% lower than our base year.

16.1

%

rEducTION IN GrEENhOuSE GaS
EmISSIONS SINcE 2007/08
– SurPaSSING Our 12% TarGET.

Key initiatives contributing to reductions
in energy use this year are:
• Focusing on low-performance sites
and taking steps such as introducing
time clocks, sensors and adopting new
technology to reduce wastage
• Continuation of our energy audit
programme to give us intelligence on
where we can improve energy use
• Developing closer working
relationships with our facilities
management provider to ensure that
regular change-outs and ongoing
maintenance are used to find
opportunities to improve efficiency
• Working with architects and designers
to ensure new sites are set up
efficiently.
During the year we have rolled out some
new technology, installing T8 reflectors
allowing de-lamping while boosting
lighting performance, and trialling and
implementing LED lighting.

Waste
The Group reduced its waste to landfill
volumes in 2011/12 by 10.9% to 993
tonnes. This is a 49% reduction in waste to
landfill from our 2007/08 baseline year.
The continued decrease has been driven
by the improved waste and recycling
methodologies adopted across our
network together with the introduction
of new recycling categories (e.g. metals
and wooden pallets) into our waste
minimisation programme. This has
assisted in the Group achieving a target
of 70% total waste recycled.
A programme to address hazardous waste
in an environmentally responsible manner
was also implemented at major facilities
during 2011/12. Reporting on this waste
stream will begin in 2012/13.
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Carbon Emissions Inventory
Indicator: Carbon Emissions CO2, Tonnes – tCO2e
Emission Source

Change

Actual

Base Year

2011/12 vs
2007/08

tCO2e
2011/12

YOY Change

tCO2e
2010/11

tCO2e
2009/10

tCO2e
2008/09

tCO2e

Aviation

(22.4%)

14,676

(13.3%)

16,928

16,762

12,633

18,911

Operational Vehicles

(50.8%)

827

(2.5%)

1,196

1,521

1,733

1,680

Heating

(38.8%)

952

(5.0%)

945

1,254

1,252

1,556

(37.8%)

5,007

(5.0%)

6,471

6,509

7,511

8,054

54.1%

1,145

(3.0%)

530

690

787

743

(2.1%)

30,558

(2.5%)

30,586

30,763

34,576

31,222

– Domestic

(18.9%)

1,346

(3.0%)

1,405

1,184

1,504

1,660

– International

(11.4%)

568

(3.0%)

428

368

461

641

– Taxis

(42.4%)

78

(3.0%)

64

99

118

135

International Freight

(16.2%)

15,032

(3.0%)

16,837

15,667

18,068

17,928

Distribution Line Losses

(35.9%)

543

(5.0%)

898

1,081

756

846

Scope 1

Scope 2
Electricity
Scope 3
Company Cars (Leased)
Aviation (Leased Aircraft)

3,570

Transport (Contractors)
Business Travel

Waste to Landfill

(50.0%)

1,172

(9.0%)

1,287

1,597

2,347

2,345

All scopes

(16.1%)

71,901

(7.3%)

77,575

77,495

85,316

85,721

We currently measure the volumes of
waste recycled, and the volume sent to
landfill. In 2011/12 a total of 2,180 tonnes
was recycled, while 993 tonnes was sent
to landfill.

Transport
Fuel used in transportation represents
87% of our carbon footprint and is also
a volatile cost, therefore it continues to
be a significant focus for transportation
initiatives.
Our transport initiatives were recognised
through winning a “Highly Commended”
achievement in the Transport category of
this year’s EECA Awards.
This award is further recognition of
the ongoing effort that is placed on our
sustainable transport initiatives, and
is a great outcome against formidable
competition in the finalists at the awards.
This year’s highlights have been:
• A successful trial of rail as an
alternative transport mode

• An evaluation of the impact of ‘lowrolling-resistant’ (LRR) tyres in heavy
commercial operations on fuel and
emission reductions
• The development of a fuel-efficient
driver training programme for heavy
commercial drivers, and
• The roll-out of High-ProductivityMotor-Vehicles (HPMVs) in our line
haul operations that will enable
more freight to be carried over fewer
vehicles and services.
The 737-300 aircraft upgrade that
commenced operations in April 2011 is
achieving the fuel savings expected, with
a fuel burn rate that is approximately 22%
less than its 737-200 predecessor.
The carbon impact of moving our
workforce has been estimated to be as
much as 5,000 tonnes of carbon. This
is based on national data, therefore a
programme of work to better understand
the impacts of moving our workforce will
commence in 2012/13.

Paul Reid (Group General Manager –
Innovation & Strategy for New Zealand Post)
at left, is presented with an EECA Award by
Hon Phil Heatley, Minister of Energy
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In the Workplace
The New Zealand Post Group is a major employer, and at 30 june
2012 employed a total of 10,650 people (the equivalent of 8,638
full-timers), on permanent, fixed term and casual employment
agreements. This total includes those employed in our australian
and joint venture businesses. In addition, the Group engages
many other people on contracts for services, to help us deliver
services to our customers.

78%
Of Our PErmaNENT EmPlOyEES
wOrk full‑TImE hOurS, wITh ThE
rEmaINdEr wOrkING ParT‑TImE.

Most of our permanent employees (78%)
work full-time hours, with the remainder
of our permanent workforce (22%)
working on a part-time basis.

Location
Most employees (92%) are located in
New Zealand, with most of the remainder
based in Australia.

New Zealand
Australia
Other

2010/11
89.1%
10.8%
0.1%

2011/12
91.9%
8.0%
0.1%

Status of Employees
A significant majority (87%) of
New Zealand Post Group employees are
on ongoing (permanent) employment
agreements, although businesses across
the Group also employ on-call or casual
staff (10%) and fixed term staff (3%) to
meet variable resourcing needs.

Permanent
Fixed term
Casual

2010/11
87%
2.4%
10.6%

2011/12
87%
3.2%
9.8%

Gender
The company continues to employ a
slightly higher proportion (57%) of women
than men across its workforce (see table
on page 164).

Key areas of focus during 2011/12
Our key programmes of work, within
the Human Capital Strategy framework,
are aimed at enhancing the value of the
human capital of the Group through:
• Creating a values-based culture
• Building workforce and leadership
capabilities
• Attracting and managing our talent
• Driving engagement and commitment
• Aligning performance to strategy
• Recognising and rewarding our people
appropriately
• Embracing diversity, and
• Supporting the safety and wellbeing of
our people.
During 2011/12 much of our focus centred
on building the capability in our workforce
to enable us to execute our Group
Strategy (‘Plan on a Page’) and on creating
the culture to support our success.
A values-based culture that enables and
encourages our people to collaboratively
deliver successful and sustainable
business performance is critical to
delivering on our strategy. During the year,
significant work has been targeted on
transforming our culture and embedding
our Group-wide values, including:
• Values engagement and endorsement
by focus groups representing many
employee groups, leading to the rollout
of new Group-wide values across the
business, accompanied by supporting
collateral, information and kits. Values
have been embedded into all core
people processes
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• WWW (The Way We Work) Team
(Values champions) and Values Groups
(regional frontline employee culture
advocacy groups) established and
meeting regularly to identify ways to
support and progress culture change
and to provide front-line feedback on
initiatives implemented
• Around 700 of our leaders attended
‘Our Future @ Post’ leaders’
workshops aimed at creating a shared
understanding of the challenges
facing the Group and of our leaders’
roles in helping us achieve our goals.
The workshops also centred on the
information Post’s leaders need, and
the behaviours and attitudes they
need to adopt, to be effective leaders
of change; and how leaders can help
their people understand, and manage,
the changes that we’ll face.
The second area of focus has been
on building capability. Building the
capability of our employees and leaders
is fundamental to driving organisational
performance. To build capability, we first
needed to understand the current and
future workforce requirements of our
business, assess our critical capability
gaps, and develop a workforce strategy to
develop or acquire those capabilities we
need. Considerable progress has been
made over the last financial year, with
some significant initiatives having been
delivered, including:
• 165 Tier 3 and 4 leaders completed
one of 22 Leadership Development
Centres, resulting in targeted individual
development plans as well as a Groupwide capability report, which have
been used as the basis for developing
targeted leadership programmes
for Frontline, Mid-Level Leaders and
Senior Leaders (Navigate).

Employee Engagement
Each year the New Zealand Post Group
undertakes a survey of all employees to
assess their level of engagement with
the business. The survey is provided by
Kenexa. For the latest survey conducted in
May 2012, 83% of employees participated.
This was a slight drop on last year’s
participation (which was 86%) but still
compares favourably with the average
response rate of 78.2% in the JRA Best
Workplaces survey.
The 2012 engagement score for the
New Zealand Post Group was 72.8%.
This compared favourably to the Kenexa
Total Database Benchmark of 71.9%, and
was higher than last year’s comparable
Post Group result of 71.9%. It was
just 0.1% short of Post Group’s 2012
engagement target of 72.9%.
It is pleasing to see the reversal of a
downward trend in engagement that
was seen over the last two surveys. This
upturn in engagement result was despite
continued organisational change and
a difficult economic environment. This
year’s survey again showed that Post
Group people feel that it is the people they
work with that they value most highly, and
who make this a great place to work.
Post Group’s engagement target for 2013
is 73.9%.
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Employee Benefits
Employment arrangements across the
Group differ depending on the employing
company. In general most Post Group
companies offer employment provisions
that are above the legislated minimum.
Benefits offered to permanent employees
that are not offered to temporary employees
(except where required by law) include:
For all New Zealand-based Post Group
companies:

10

%

rEducTION IN TImE lOST duE TO
INjurIES acrOSS ThE GrOuP

• Employer contributions to workplace
savings schemes, discounted or
company-funded medical insurance
cover, access to Marram Trust and
New Zealand Post holiday homes,
reduced fee banking arrangements
with Kiwibank, paid parental leave
as per legislation, redundancy
compensation, Employee Assistance
Programme, flu injections.
New Zealand Post, Express Couriers
Limited, Kiwibank:
• Higher annual leave entitlement after
period of service, and for management
and senior special employees, service
leave, parental leave lump sum (Post
and ECL only).
Converga Australia only:
• Novated leasing, superannuation, paid
parental leave as per legislation.

Collective Bargaining Agreements
and Freedom of Association
New Zealand Post’s Employment Relations
policy states that ‘the New Zealand Post
Group is committed to being a good
employer, and providing great places to
work. It respects the right of employees to be
represented by whomever they choose’.
In accordance with the Employment
Relations Act, New Zealand Post
recognises an employee’s right to be
represented by whomever they choose
in matters to do with their employment.
New Zealand Post companies are
party to several collective employment
agreements negotiated with unions on
behalf of employees. New Zealand Post
is not aware of any alleged breaches of
these rights.

A total of 52% of all permanent employees
across the Group are covered by one
of several collective employment
agreements that apply within different
parts of the business. The remaining 48%
of the workforce are employed in individual
employment agreements, including all
Managers and Specialists, as well as
other employees who are not covered by a
Collective Employment agreement.

Changes to operational terms
and conditions
Across the Group, minimum notice
periods regarding operational changes
are included under individual employment
agreements or collective employment
agreements. Generally, one month’s
notice of operational changes applies.

Safety and wellbeing in the
workplace
The New Zealand Post Group maintained
‘tertiary’ status under its independentlyaudited ACC Partnership programme.
Approximately 48 Safety and Wellbeing
Action Groups (SWAGs) of employeerepresentatives operate throughout
the Group.
During the year, the Group maintained
its strong focus on safety and wellbeing
across all businesses and achieved
significant reductions in our Lost Time
Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) and
Total Recordable Injury Frequency Rate
(TRIFR). At a Group level the LTIFR (Lost
Time Injuries per 1,000,000 hours worked)
was reduced by 10% from 6.27 to 5.64.
At a Group level, our Total Recordable
Injury Frequency Rate (the number of
injuries recorded per 1,000,000 hours
worked) was reduced by 15% from 59.08
to 50.44. There were no work-related
fatalities during the year.
For the 2012/13 year, our target is to have
a further 10% reduction on the LTIFR
and TRIFR performance of the 2011/12
financial year.
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Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate

Operations
Store Network
ECL
Kiwibank
New Zealand Post Group Total Group (NZ)

2011–12
Result
8.18
9.19
2.61
0
5.64

2011–12
Decrease
Target from 2010–11
8.14
10%
7.58
-21%
4.25
39%
0.95
100%
5.64
10%

Total Recordable Injury Frequency Rate

Operations
Store Network
ECL
Kiwibank
New Zealand Post Group Total Group (NZ)

Employee Health & Wellbeing
New Zealand Post Group has identified
the following areas of health and
wellbeing focus for its employees:
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2011–12
Result
77.3
37.3
55.75
4.9
50.44

2011–12
Decrease
Target from 2010–11
86.02
19%
29.55
-14%
49.71
-1%
4.73
7%
53.17
15%

New Zealand Post Group has a range of
programmes run on a targeted basis for
employees, that address illnesses/serious
diseases of key focus, such as skin cancer,
heart disease, obesity and influenza.
Influenza is also specifically targeted
through the organisation’s annual
programme of free influenza vaccinations
for employees.
The organisation’s intranet also has
a ’wellness portal’, which provides
employees with access to external
information about the above conditions.
Support for employees’ emotional
wellbeing is also provided through the
organisation’s Employee Assistance
Programme, run by EAP Services.

Average hours of Training per
Employee
New Zealand Post does not keep a record
of training hours per employee. Most
training occurs ‘on the job’. However, over
the course of the 2011/12 year, significant
investment in leadership and employee
development was made as follows:

164
New Zealand Post Group
Annual Report 2012

Workplace

• 165 leaders attended one of 22
leadership development centres.
This initiative was attended by 98%
of New Zealand Post’s Tier 3 and 4
leaders. For each attendee, this involved
18 hours of learning valuable for their
development and roles as leaders –
a total of 2,970 hours of development.
• 670 employees attended one of the
nine half-day ‘Our Future @ Post’
sessions held in Auckland, Wellington
and Christchurch. These sessions
aimed to inform and involve employees
in the changes that will need to be
made to the organisation in the future,
and amounted to a total of 2,010 hours
of employee development.
Both of the above programmes have
allowed us to make significant progress in
our important strategic focus on building
workforce and leadership capabilities, and
driving engagement and commitment.
Building the capability and commitment
of our employees and leaders is
fundamental to driving organisational
performance.

Performance Reviews
The New Zealand Post Group is reliant
on our people performing to their best.
Individual performance reviews are
required to be undertaken for all Manager,
Specialist and Team Leader employees,
regardless of gender. Each employee at
this level is also encouraged to work with
their manager to formulate a development
plan to acquire skills, knowledge,
competence and experience that will both
assist them in their current role, and may
also help position them for new roles in
the future.
In total across the Group, 46% of all
permanent employees receive individual
performance reviews, and many participate
in performance pay arrangements that are
linked to a combination of individual, team,
business or organisational performance.
Temporary and casual employees do not
receive performance reviews.

Our focus on performance management,
including individual performance reviews,
has specifically contributed toward
some of our areas of strategic Human
Resources focus – e.g. creating a valuesbased culture, aligning performance to
strategy, and recognising and rewarding
our people appropriately. This, in turn
contributes to the organisation’s success.

Diversity
New Zealand Post is a member of
the Equal Employment Opportunities
Trust, and has both an EEO policy and a
Diversity policy.

Diversity of Governance Bodies
During the 2011/12 year, the
New Zealand Post Board of Directors
had 8 members initially, which later
increased to 9. Three of these Directors
(30%) are females. The majority (90%) of
the New Zealand Post Directors are in the
50+ age range, with one in the 30-50 age
range. One Director identifies as Maori.
The New Zealand Post Group Leadership
Team in 2011/12 had 9 members – 88% (8)
of whom are male, with 1 female. In terms
of age diversity, 44% (4) are in the 30-50
age group and 55% (5) are in the 50+ age
group.

Diversity of Employees
Gender
There continues to be a slightly higher
proportion of females across the Group.
Total Post Group workforce
Female
Male

2010/11

2011/12

57%
43%

57%
43%

Ethnicity
Data from our annual engagement
survey indicates that the ethnic diversity
of our New Zealand workforce is largely
reflective of the latest New Zealand
Census data.

NZ-based Post Group
Workforce
New Zealander and
NZ European
Maori
Pacific islands
Asian
Other
*

New Zealand
Census 2006
64.9%

New Zealand Post
employee ethnicity
2011*
61.78%

New Zealand Post
employee ethnicity
2012*
62.71%

13.04%
6.65%
5.63%
7.39%

12.55%
11.67%
7.71%
6.29%

12.48%
12.28%
7.41%
5.12%

Data from 2011 and 2012 engagement surveys
(Includes NZ-based Post Group companies only)

age
The permanent workforce of
New Zealand Post spans the following age
brackets, with a large proportion (31%)
over age 50. However, in some parts of the
business e.g. Kiwibank, Localist, the age
demographic is younger.
New Zealand Post Employees
Age range
Under 30
30-50
Over 50

2012
18%
51%
31%

(Comparative data for the 2010/11 year
is not available).

Initiatives to Support Diversity
New Zealand Post Group is a foundation
member of OMEGA programme
(Opportunities for Migrant Employment
in Greater Auckland). In addition, in the
Wellington area, New Zealand Post has
previously assisted skilled migrants
by offering 6-week work experience
placements through the Victoria
University Skilled Migrant Programme.

For the 2011/12 year, New Zealand Post
Group provided four scholarships
through the Maori Education Trust
(two of which were continuing students
granted Post MET scholarships in
2010/11). These scholarships are
open to applicants of Maori descent
undertaking an undergraduate tertiary
business qualification. The aim of these
scholarships is to encourage and support
Maori students into achieving a tertiary
qualification, given that having such a
qualification is a requirement for most
higher-level leadership roles.
New Zealand Post Group is a foundation
member of the Employers Disability
Network, which aims to promote
employer acceptance of, and support for,
people with disabilities in the workplace.

Human Rights compliance
New Zealand Post is an equal opportunity
employer, and complies with the Human
Rights Act 1993. Approximately 12.48%
of the New Zealand Post’s NZ-based
workforce identify themselves as being
of indigenous (Maori) ethnicity.
New Zealand Post is not aware of any
issues raised by employees regarding
alleged breaches of indigenous rights.
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Our performance
in the Community
Approach
In addition to requiring State-Owned
Enterprises (SOEs) to operate profitable
businesses and to be good employers,
the State-Owned Enterprises Act (1986)
calls for them to “exhibit a sense of
social responsibility by having regard to
the communities in which they operate
and by endeavouring to accommodate
or encourage these where they are able
to do so”.
The New Zealand Post Group further
extends its formal obligations, articulating
this through its Corporate Sustainability
Statement of Commitment. The Group
has a long history and a strong presence
in New Zealand communities, recognising
the value of working in communities to
assist in the social and economic growth
of New Zealand.
While we have to address some real
challenges facing a number of areas of
the Group, and over time this will mean
changes to the way we do business, we
are committed to building and maintaining
a sustainable business and as part of this
it is important that we continue to support
our employees and their communities. We
are in this for the long haul.

Community Investment
New Zealand Post Group invests in
communities as a socially responsible
corporate member of the community, as
well as to build stakeholder relationships,
achieve business outcomes and support
and strengthen our brand values and
reputation. This helps to create a positive
business environment and constructive
interactions with stakeholders which
contribute to the Group’s future
sustainability and the progress of
New Zealand as a whole.
We continue to be active in our
communities and implement our
community development strategy,

which was set in 2009/10. Our focus
is on initiatives that build towards our
community investment goals of:
• supporting active participation to
improve health and wellness
• increasing education levels
• supporting business clusters to
improve productivity
Key achievements this year include:
• The launch of our new Group-wide
volunteering initiative – a day off a year
to work in our communities – for all
New Zealand Post Group employees
• Development of strong long-term
partnerships through our community
and sponsorship programmes
• Adoption of better tools to measure
the value, impact and outcomes for our
business and our communities.
We track the impact of our community
investments using the London
Benchmarking Group (LBG) framework.
Results for this year show that:
• New Zealand Post Group contributed
over $3.6 million to New Zealand
communities
• Significant progress has been made
towards our goal of shifting from high
levels of investment in commercial
initiatives to community initiatives, with
87% of our contribution focused on our
communities.
Further information on our community
investment and sponsorship programmes
are in the Community Involvement section
of this Annual Report.

Community Engagement
The Group continues to engage with
communities across our physical
networks, such as our postal and
banking outlets, nationwide delivery
points (including Rural Post) and our box
lobby network. We continually assess
our relevance to, and impact on, all

communities – particularly those which
are reliant on our services.
When issues are identified through the call
centre, online or directly via our stores,
business units endeavour to engage
with those affected and accommodate
community needs when we are able to
do so. Our programme of community
engagement complements our community
investments and sponsorships.
In the lead up to a public announcement
of significant strategic initiatives, the
Corporate Affairs Team ensures key
external community stakeholders and risks
are identified – and, if necessary, advanced
briefings are provided. Our overall
stakeholder engagement is based around a
‘no surprises’ approach. This has occurred
during parcel and stamp price increases,
the Retail Transformation Programme
(RTP) pilot on the Kapiti Coast, Single
Delivery Agent Programme in Tauranga,
and recent acquisitions (e.g. 50% of DHL
shareholding in Express Couriers Ltd) and
divestments. This engagement adheres to
all NZX and legislated commitments.
When we closed and changed services
at 17 PostShop Kiwibank stores in 2011,
we responded to community petitions,
fronted at public and council meetings,
and responded to media requests and
letters/emails to the CEO/Chair.
Community groups with which we have
regular dialogue and engagement include
Grey Power, Rural Women NZ, Federated
Farmers, Iwi, local councils, and local
chambers of commerce.
Community engagement is also a
two-way process where we value an
opportunity to discuss the challenges
facing the Group and communicate to the
public that the solutions we will provide
will make a positive contribution to both
the business and the communities we
serve. Our regular engagement with
Federated Farmers and Rural Women NZ
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has provided our Rural Post managers
an opportunity to test concepts and
ideas with their membership. During the
rollout of RTP in Kapiti we met with key
demographic groups such as Grey Power
and the Elders Council around their
experience with the new concepts and
services at the pilot stores.

Kiwibank New Zealander
of the Year
The third annual Kiwibank New Zealander
of the Year Awards were held in February
with top honours going to Sir Richard Taylor
– founder of Weta Workshop. Sir Richard
has helped to create a world-leading and
prosperous film industry in Wellington,
providing work for over 1,000 people.
The 2012 Kiwibank Local Hero Award
went to Henare O’Keefe for his extensive
community work to prevent violence in his
local town of Flaxmere and create positive
outcomes for his community.
The nation was saddened in March 2012
when 2011 New Zealander of the Year,
Sir Paul Callaghan, passed away after a
courageous battle with cancer. Sir Paul
was an extraordinary and passionate
New Zealander – an internationallyrecognised scientist and a passionate
campaigner to keep New Zealand’s best
and brightest here in New Zealand.
Kiwibank paid tribute to Sir Paul’s legacy
recently by supporting the Transit of
Venus Forum, bringing together leaders
from across science, business, Iwi and
government sectors to discuss how
science and innovation can help to create a
more prosperous future for New Zealand.

Deed of Understanding
The Group continues to outperform its
formal obligations to communities, as set
out in the Deed of Understanding with the
Crown (the Deed), signed in 1998.
The Deed sets out a number of operating
parameters, which include:
• Maintaining a minimum number of
delivery points.
• Providing six day delivery to more than
95 percent of delivery points.
• Maintaining a network of 880 postal
outlets, including at least 240
PostShop stores.

During 2011/12 we achieved six day postal
delivery in 97.24 percent of New Zealand
addresses, against an obligation of over
95 percent, and at 30 June 2012 our retail
network consisted of 894 outlets, of which
280 were PostShop stores.

Frequency of Delivery Services
Summary as at June 30th 2012
SERVICE
Residential
Business
Private Box Farmers
Private Box/Bag, Individual and Business
Counter, Community Mailbox
Rural
TOTAL
PERCENT

Delivery
Points
6/7 Day
1,390,745 1,388,710
73,825
73,419
5,298
4,297
182,384
171,732
30,293
18,872
227,465
200,338
1,910,010 1,857,368
100.00%
97.24%

5 Day
2,035
406
1,001
10,652
11,115
25,507
50,716
2.66%

1–4 Day
0
0
0
0
306
1,620
1,926
0.10%

Six day delivery to 97.24% (required minimum = 95.00%)
Five or six day delivery to 99.90% (required minimum = 99.88%)
Counter, Community Mailbox percentage 1.44% (allowed maximum = 1.5%)
Notes
1. 2,820 points in the Counter, community mailbox category are excluded from the calculation of the percentage of
delivery points as these are where people have elected to take this service over another that is available, as per
clause 5 of the Deed. The number of people using temporary counter services (for up to 3 months) is excluded
from the category.
2. The number of counter and community mail box users has been established by a survey and may differ slightly
from practice.
3. As in 2011 we have changed the basis of reporting community mail boxes/counter services by including
instances where people are provided with a free PO Box or Private Bag by NZ Post rather than a community
mail box.

PostShop stores (corporate and franchise)
PostCentre outlets
Total retail outlets

Our performance
280
614
894

Our commitment*
240
880

* Commitment as specified in 1998 Deed of
Understanding

The 2012 New Zealander of the
Year winners with Awards Patron
Jim Bolger, Governor General
Sir Jerry Mateparae and Kiwibank
CEO Paul Brock
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In the
Marketplace
Product responsibility

Public Policy positions

New Zealand Post Group aims to ensure
that we are ethical and sustainable in the
delivery of products and services, and
that we proactively manage risks, aiming
to develop new product and service
opportunities to address the sustainable
requirements of the future.

Advocacy on all public policy and
regulatory change is made at the Group
level, with support from relevant parts of
the business.

The role of the Marketplace Steering
Group, chaired by the Group General
Manager of Customer Solutions &
Services, is to deliver a sustainable
business through our products,
services and supply chain.
A programme of work exploring major
insights into customer segments was
undertaken during the year to improve
our understanding of the needs and
expectations of our diverse customer
groups. This included understanding
the sustainability requirements and
expectations of customers. The
understanding gained will enhance
our work in the marketplace over the
next year.

Procurement
As a responsible business managing
our supply chain, we continue to remain
focused on sustainable procurement.
Not only do we work with our suppliers
to reduce environmental impacts
but also to look for opportunities to
partner with them to develop positive
initiatives. We have continued our
supplier assessment programme in the
2011/12 year, assessing the sustainability
practices of 127 suppliers.

The Group made submissions to
Government during consultation on a
number of relevant issues. Specifically:
• Kiwibank has been involved in a
significant number of public policy
matters. Over the last year, this has
included bank switching (advocated
for bank switching to occur, and at
a low cost to the consumer), credit
contracts and the Consumer Finance
Amendment Bill (advocating to ensure
banks are not caught up in regulations
designed to tackle loan sharks), and
the framework for covered bonds.
• The Courier and Postal parts of the
business have over recent months
advocated strongly to officials and
Ministers on the Consumer Law
Reform Bill (CLRB) and new road
user charges regulations. In regards
to the CLRB, we advocated against
changes to the Carriage of Goods Act
which proposed, among other things,
‘consequential loss’ of an item will
be the responsibility of the courier
company. On road user charges we
were unsuccessful in advocating
for the status quo given the cost of
implementing new increased user
charges would be passed on to the
consumer.

• Led by the Corporate Affairs Team,
the Post Group business has been
involved with the Trans-Pacific
Partnership Agreement trade
negotiations. Although stated positions
are commercial-in-confidence,
our interest has been advocating
on the express delivery, financial
services and supply chain chapters.
• The Group was also successful in
gaining recognition of the service of
Coastwatchers who served in the
Pacific theatre during the Second
World War and commemorating those
who did not return.

Legal Requirements
Ensuring adherence to all legal
requirements is overseen by the Group
General Counsel.
The Group continues to ensure that it
acts in accordance with legislation.
In accordance with New Zealand and
Australian consumer law, information
provided to customers about products
and services must not be misleading or
deceptive. A legal compliance and
sign-off process applies to customer
communications and marketing material.

During the year there were no
substantiated issues of breaches of
customer privacy. To ensure accordance
with New Zealand law, Privacy Officers
work across the Group.

Anti-Competitive Behaviour
Under the Deed of Understanding with
the Government, New Zealand Post Group
provides competing postal operators
with access to our postal network for the
delivery of letters on terms at least as
favourable as those offered to equivalent
customers. The Postal Network Access
Committee was established in 2010 to
oversee access, and continues to provide
transparency to the decision-making
process around network access. No legal
actions are outstanding in relation to
competition.
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Global Reporting
Initiative
This Annual Report applies the Global
Reporting Initiative (GRI) 3.1 framework
to a B+ level and has been assured by an
external provider. There are no specific
limitations on the scope of this report
unless otherwise stated. The Report
applies to all of the Group’s operations
in New Zealand and Australia, including
joint ventures. There are no significant
changes to the boundary or methodology,
with the exception of the changes to our
carbon reporting baseline.
GRI Reporting element

Report Section

The Group has ceased reporting against
the Corporate Responsibility Index
framework in favour of the Global
Reporting Initiative (GRI) framework, as
per our previously reported commitment.
Issues assessed under the GRI are
located throughout this document –
with the following table identifying where
this information can be found.

GRI indicators covered

Strategy & Analysis

1.1

Organisational Profile

1.2
2.1–2.7

Non-financial Information

8, 10, 17, 18, 22, 84, 164

2.9

5, 6

Governance Statement
Corporate Sustainability

171
2, 170, 171

3.4

175

3.5

156

3.7

158, 170

3.12
2.10
3.8–3.11

Governance, Commitments
& Engagement

1, 5, 6
1, 5, 6, 8, 9, 15, 32, 33, 156, 157
2, 3, 12–28, 84

2.8
2.10
3.1–3.3, 3.6

Report Parameters

Page

3.13
4.1–4.7, 4.9–4.10
3.7, 4.8, 4.11–4.17

170
171
158, 166, 170
170, 172–173
4, 7, 19, 37–39, 140–153, 156–157, 164
38, 39, 156, 157, 166, 167, 170

management approach & Performance indicators
Economic
Environment

Financial Statements

Social

Community

DMA EC, EC1
DMA EN

170–170, 44, 45, 68, 166
158, 159

EN3, 4, 5, 6, 16, 17, 18, 22, 29
DMA SO

166–167

SO1

166–168

SO5

168

SO6
DMA LA

140
160–165

Human Rights

LA 1, 3, 4, 5, 8, 10, 12, 13
DMA HR

164–165

Product Responsibility

HR 5, 9
DMA PR, PR8, SO7

162, 165
168–169

Labour Practices and
Decent Work

NOTE: Partial disclosure for LA 1 and 10

Workforce

Marketplace
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GRI variation
The following indicators differ from GRI
reporting guidelines for the stated reasons:
Indicator Divergence
LA1
Gender by employee type not
recorded

LA10

LA13

Reporting on training is only
at leadership and specialist
levels
Minority by gender not
recorded

Additional information, relevant to
GRI categories:
Awards received in the reporting period:
• Energy Efficiency and Conservation
Authority Awards 2012: Winner
(Public Sector Excellence and Energy
Management categories), Highly
Commended (Transportation Category)
• HP Indigo Digital Print Awards:
Asia-Pacific Direct Mail and
Transpromo category
• Bank of the Year: Sunday Star-Times
• NZ 2011 Customer Satisfaction
Awards: – Roy Morgan – Major Bank
of the Year
• Best Prepaid Travel Program Loaded
for Travel: Global Prepaid Awards, 2011

Rationale
Data for casual and temporary employees
by gender not available. Data for permanent
employees suggests the distribution reflects
national averages
Key strategic issue for New Zealand Post

Minority data for casual and temporary
employees by gender not available.
Data for permanent employees suggests
the distribution reflects national averages
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KPMG assurance statement letter

Independent Limited Assurance Report to the Directors of New Zealand
Post Limited
We were engaged by the Board of Directors of New Zealand Post Limited (“NZ Post”) to provide
limited assurance on selected sustainability indicators and claims included on pages 156 to 171 of the
New Zealand Post Group annual report for the period 1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012 (the “Report”). Our
assurance engagement involves providing limited assurance on:


The “Selected Sustainability Information”, as defined below, included on pages 156 to 169 of the
Report that has been prepared in accordance with the Global Reporting Initiative (“GRI”) G3.1
reporting principles and guidelines.



The self
self-declared GRI application level assertion included on pages 170 to 171 of the Report.

Selected Sustainability Information
The Selected Sustainability Information covered by our limited assurance engagement is:








Governance, stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment details included on pages 156 to
157 of the Report;
Environmental performance claims and indicators included on pages 158 to 159 of the Report;
Current year greenhouse gas emissions reported on page 159 of the Report;
Workforce details, employee engagement survey statistics, employee health and wellbeing
performance and employee training figures included on pages 160 to 164 of the Report;
Workforce diversity details and human rights performance claims included on pages 164 to 165 of
the Report;
Community investment and engagement claims and indicators on pages 166 to 167 of the Report;
Public policy positions, legal adherence and anti-competitive behaviour claims included on pages
168 to 169 of the Report.

We have not been engaged to provide assurance over any comparative indicators outside of the
reporting period.

Management Responsibility
Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Report in accordance with the
criteria set out in the GRI G3.1 guidelines, for each of the principles of materiality, stakeholder
inclusiveness, sustainability context and completeness. Management is also responsible for
determining NZ Post’s objectives in respect of sustainability reporting; and for establishing and
maintaining appropriate performance management and internal control systems from which the
reported information is derived.

Our Responsibility
Our responsibility is to carry out a limited assurance engagement and to express a conclusion based
on the work performed. We conducted our engagement in accordance with the International Standard
on Assurance Engagements ISAE (NZ) 3000: Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information, issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards
Board. ISAE (NZ) 3000 requires that we comply with applicable ethical requirements, including
independence requirements.

Assurance Approach
We planned and performed our work to obtain all the evidence, information and explanations we
considered necessary in relation to the above scope. A limited assurance engagement on a
sustainability report consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for the preparation
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of information presented in the sustainability report, and applying analytical and other evidence
gathering procedures, as appropriate.
Our procedures included:


Interviews with management and functional employees of NZ Post to understand the process for
deriving the “Selected Sustainability Information”;



Analytical review procedures to assess the reasonableness of the information presented;



Sample testing of the underlying data to supporting documentation;



Checking the indicators included in the Report against the requirements of the GRI guidelines;



Overall sense check of the Report against our findings and understanding of NZ Post.

The extent of evidence gathering procedures performed in a limited assurance engagement is less than
for a reasonable assurance engagement, and therefore a lower level of assurance is provided.
Our assurance report is made solely to the Directors of NZ Post in accordance with the terms of our
engagement. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to NZ Post those matters we have
been engaged to state in this assurance report and for no other purpose. We do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Directors of NZ Post for our work, for this assurance report, or
for the conclusions we have reached.

Independence
When carrying out the engagement we followed the independence requirements of the New Zealand
Institute of Chartered Accountants Code of Ethics and the Code of Ethics: Independence in Assurance
Engagements relevant to the circumstances of the assurance engagement.
KPMG provides tax advisory services to NZ Post and advisory services to Kiwibank Limited. The
Partners and employees of our firm may also deal with NZ Post and subsidiaries on normal terms
within the ordinary course of trading activities. This has not impaired our independence in respect of
this engagement. The firm has no other relationship with, or interests in, NZ Post.

Conclusion
Based on the procedures performed, as described above, nothing has come to our attention that causes
us to believe that:


The Selected Sustainability information has not, in all material respects, been prepared in
accordance with the GRI G3.1 reporting principles and guidelines;



The GRI application level assertion of B+ is not fairly presented.

Our assurance engagement was completed as at 19 September 2012 and our conclusion is expressed
as at that date.

KPMG
Auckland
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Bankers

Hon Sir Michael Cullen

Bank of New Zealand Limited

Deputy Chair

Auditor

Murray Gribben

Paul Clark assisted by
PricewaterhouseCoopers, Wellington,

Members

on behalf of the Auditor-General

Carol Campbell
Alan Dunn

Solicitors

Philippa Dunphy

Buddle Findlay

Temuera Hall

Russell McVeagh

Richard Leggat
Jackie Lloyd
David Willis

Registered Office
12th Floor
New Zealand Post House

Group Leadership Team

7 Waterloo Quay

Group Chief Executive: Brian Roche

Wellington

Chief Executive, Kiwibank Ltd.: Paul Brock
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Jacqui Cleland
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Mark Gibson
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Strategy: Paul Reid
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Counsel: Malcolm Shaw
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For further information
about the contents of this
report, please contact:
New Zealand Post Group Corporate
Affairs Team
Private Bag 39990
Wellington Mail Centre
Lower Hutt 5045
New Zealand
Telephone: +64-4-496 4999
Facsimile: +64-4-496 4479
Email: post.communications@nzpost.
co.nz

For more information about
New Zealand Post’s products
and services, please contact:
New Zealand Post Customer Services
Centre
Telephone tollfree: 0800 501 501
Email: enquiry@nzpost.co.nz
Website: www.nzpost.co.nz

For information about our
collectable stamps and
coins, please contact:
Collectables and Solutions Centre
Private Bag 3001
Whanganui 4540
New Zealand
Telephone: +64-6-349 1234
Facsimile: +64-6-345 7120
Website: www.stamps.co.nz

